On attractors, spectra and bifurcations of random dynamical systems

A thesis presented for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy of Imperial College London

by

Mark Justin Callaway

Department of Mathematics Imperial College London 180 Queen's Gate London SW7 2AZ United Kingdom

NOVEMBER 2014

Declaration

I certify that this thesis, and the research to which it refers, are the product of my own work, and that any ideas or quotations from the work of other people, published or otherwise, are fully acknowledged in accordance with the standard referencing practices of the discipline.

Mark Callaway

Copyright

The copyright of this thesis rests with the author and is made available under a Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial No Derivatives licence. Researchers are free to copy, distribute or transmit the thesis on the condition that they attribute it, that they do not use it for commercial purposes and that they do not alter, transform or build upon it. For any reuse or redistribution, researchers must make clear to others the licence terms of this work.

Abstract

In this thesis a number of related topics in random dynamical systems theory are studied: local attractors and attractor-repeller pairs, the exponential dichotomy spectrum and bifurcation theory.

We review two existing theories in the literature on local attractors for random dynamical systems on compact metric spaces and associated attractor-repeller pairs and Morse decompositions, namely, local weak attractors and local pullback attractors. We extend the theory of past and future attractor-repeller pairs for nonautonomous systems to the setting of random dynamical systems, and define local strong attractors, which both pullback and forward attract a random neighbourhood. Some examples are given to illustrate the nature of these different attractor concepts. For linear systems considered on the projective space, it is shown that a local strong attractor that attracts a uniform neighbourhood is an object with sufficient properties to prove an analogue of Selgrade's Theorem on the existence of a unique finest Morse decomposition.

We develop the dichotomy spectrum for random dynamical systems and investigate its relationship to the Lyapunov spectrum. We demonstrate the utility of the dichotomy spectrum for random bifurcation theory in the following example. Crauel and Flandoli [CF98] studied the stochastic differential equation formed from the deterministic pitchfork normal form with additive noise. It was shown that for all parameter values this system possesses a unique invariant measure given by a globally attracting random fixed point with negative Lyapunov exponent, and hence the deterministic bifurcation scenario is destroyed by additive noise. Here, however, we show that one may still observe qualitative changes in the dynamics at the underlying deterministic bifurcation point, in terms of: a loss of hyperbolicity of the dichotomy spectrum; a loss of uniform attractivity; a qualitative change in the

distribution of finite-time Lyapunov exponents; and that whilst for small parameter values the systems are topologically equivalent, there is a loss of uniform topological equivalence.

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my gratitude to the following people who made it possible for me to write this thesis.

First of all I would like to thank my supervisors Jeroen Lamb and Martin Rasmussen. I have learned a lot from them and I am extremely grateful for all their guidance and support in every aspect of my time as a PhD student.

I would like to thank Doan Thai Son and Joan-Andreu Lázaro-Camí for helping to develop my understanding in many aspects of random dynamical systems theory. I also thank everyone in the dynamical systems group for providing an enriching environment. My thanks go to my fellow students for all the good laughs, and I also thank Will Giles for all his good advice.

I thank Paulo Ruffino for interesting discussions and for being so welcoming during my time visiting UNICAMP. A big thanks also to all the guys at república Nerv, and all the others, who helped in setting me up there and making my time there so great.

Finally, I give my warmest thanks to my parents Ann and Paul, my brother Andrew and also Megan, for all their support, love and encouragement, and to Claire, also for her loving patience.

Publications

The material in Sections 3.1 and 3.2, and in Chapter 4 of this thesis is joint work with Doan Thai Son, Jeroen Lamb and Martin Rasmussen, and has been submitted for publication in the paper [CDLR13].

Table of contents

Declaration					
C	Copyright				
A١	Abstract				
Acknowledgements			pyright 3 pstract 4 cknowledgements 6 ablications 7 Introduction 10 1.1 Mathematical set-up, notation and assumptions 16 Random attractor-repeller pairs 26 2.1 Attractors for autonomous and nonautonomous dynamical systems 30 2.3 Weak attractor-repeller pairs 30 2.3 Weak attractor-repeller pairs 32 2.4 Pullback limit sets 37 2.5 Pullback attractor-repeller pairs 31 2.6 Examples of attractor-repeller pairs 51 2.7 Past and future attractor-repeller pairs 58 2.8 Local strong attractors 64	6	
Publications					
1	Intr	oduction	10		
	1.1	Mathematical set-up, notation and assumptions	16		
2	Ran	dom attractor-repeller pairs	26		
	2.1	Attractors for autonomous and nonautonomous dynamical systems	27		
	2.2	Attraction concepts for random dynamical systems	30		
	2.3	Weak attractor-repeller pairs	32		
	2.4	Pullback limit sets	37		
	2.5	Pullback attractor-repeller pairs	41		
	2.6	Examples of attractor-repeller pairs	51		
	2.7	Past and future attractor-repeller pairs	58		
	2.8	Local strong attractors	64		
	2.9	Discussion	66		

3	Line	ear random dynamical systems	68	
	3.1	Exponential dichotomies	70	
	3.2	The dichotomy spectrum	76	
	3.3	Morse decompositions for linear systems	85	
		3.3.1 Past attractor-repeller pairs for linear systems	86	
		3.3.2 Strong attractor-repeller pairs for linear systems	90	
	3.4	Discussion	96	
4	Pitc	hfork bifurcation with additive noise	99	
	4.1	Existence of a unique random attracting fixed point	02	
	4.2	Qualitative changes in uniform attractivity	05	
	4.3	The dichotomy spectrum at the bifurcation point	11	
	4.4	Topological equivalence	16	
	4.5	Discussion	24	
A	Ran	idom Sets 1	25	
Re	References			

Chapter 1

Introduction

The theory of random dynamical systems seeks to model physical systems which are under the influence of random perturbations. The mathematical framework incorporates ideas from the well developed fields of dynamical systems, probability and stochastic analysis. The qualitative theory of random dynamical systems is still in its relatively early stages, and much of current research is involved in translating concepts from classical dynamical systems theory into the context of random dynamical systems. There are fundamental questions as to what the 'correct' corresponding concepts and definitions are in the setting of random dynamical systems, which requires exploration of definitions and direct exploration of case studies. In this thesis we explore three important and related concepts in dynamical systems theory: local attractors and attractor-repeller pairs, dynamical spectral theory and bifurcation theory. Our focus throughout this thesis is on linear theory. One of the inherent properties of random and nonautonomous systems is the nonuniformity of the dynamics, and many of the results in the thesis are a qualification of this aspect. We shall now give an overview of the thesis topics.

The fundamental theory of local attractors, attractor-repeller pairs and Morse decompositions for autonomous dynamical systems was established by Conley in his monograph [Con78]. There are many nonequivalent definitions of local attractors for autonomous dynamical systems, and for random dynamical systems there are additional degrees of freedom on the choice of the type of convergence to the attractor, given by the facts that they are nonautonomous systems and are equipped with a probability measure. A comparison

Chapter 1. Introduction

of a number of different attraction concepts for random dynamical systems has been carried out by Ashwin and Ochs [AO03]. To date, two theories of attractor-repeller pairs for random dynamical systems can be found in the literature: Ochs [Och99] demonstrated the existence of attractor-repeller pairs corresponding to so-called local weak attractors, which use the notion of convergence in probability; Liu [Liu06, Liu07a, Liu07b] demonstrated the existence of attractor-repeller pairs corresponding to so-called local pullback attractors, which use the notion of almost sure pullback convergence. For general nonautonomous systems, in particular not necessarily possessing a compact base, Rasmussen [Ras06] has demonstrated that by restricting one's attention to only the past or the future time domain of the system and using suitable attraction and repulsion concepts, one can obtain so-called past and future attractor-repeller pairs. In this thesis we shall review the results on weak and pullback attractor-repeller pairs, and extend the concept of past and future attractor-repeller pairs to the setting of random dynamical systems (Theorem 2.7.5). We shall also define strong attraction, in which both forward and pullback convergence are required. Our main aim with this survey of different types of local attractors is to find a type of attractor-repeller pair with sufficient properties to be able to prove an analogue of Selgrade's Theorem (see below).

Linear theory is important in the study of nonlinear dynamical systems, since the stability of solutions of nonlinear systems can often be derived from the stability of their linearization. There are a number of dynamical spectral concepts available to study linear dynamical systems. For random dynamical systems, the Multiplicative Ergodic Theorem of Oseledets [Ose68] guarantees the existence of Lyapunov exponents for almost all initial conditions, and if the system is ergodic there are finitely many — the Lyapunov spectrum. This strong result has formed the basis of much important research in random dynamical systems thus far [Arn98]. An important concept in linear nonautonomous dynamical systems is that of an exponential dichotomy (see [Cop78]), and the associated dichotomy, or Sacker-Sell, spectrum [SS78]. We shall define the concept of an exponential dichotomy for linear random dynamical systems and demonstrate the associated spectral theorem, namely that the dichotomy spectrum consists of a finite union of closed intervals (Theorem 3.2.4), and that each of these spectral intervals is associated with an invariant linear subspace (Theorem 3.2.5). We note that the concept of the dichotomy spectrum for random dynamical systems has also recently been investigated by Wang and Cao [WC14] with a different set-up to ours (which we discuss in Section 3.4).

An alternative approach to studying linear systems is to consider the induced system on the projective space. For a linear flow on a vector bundle with compact base for which the base flow is chain transitive, Selgrade's Theorem [Sel75] demonstrates the existence of a unique so-called finest Morse decomposition of the projective bundle. Analogous results have been shown for nonautonomous systems with a noncompact base using the theory of past and future attractor-repeller pairs [Ras07, Ras08], and we shall use similar techniques to demonstrate an analogue of Selgrade's Theorem for linear random dynamical systems using local strong attractors (Theorem 3.3.6).

The theory of bifurcations in random dynamical systems is still in its developmental stages (see [Arn98, Chapter 9] for a detailed description and historical account). A bifurcation in a parameterized family of random dynamical systems is considered to be a qualitative change in the set of invariant measures of the system. There are two notions of 'invariant measure' available for random dynamical systems: if the system admits a Markov semi-group, one may consider the so-called stationary measures of the semi-group; the notion of an invariant measure, on the other hand, is a random measure that is invariant (in a nonautonomous sense) under the random flow. There are then two associated notions of bifurcation: the concept of a phenomenological bifurcation relates to a qualitative change in the density of a stationary measure, whilst the concept of a dynamical bifurcation relates to a qualitative change in the set of invariant measures of the system and is associated to a loss of hyperbolicity of the Lyapunov spectrum [Arn98, Theorem 9.2.3]. The two concepts are independent, with one type of bifurcation able to occur without the other [Arn98, p. 473, 476]. The phenomenological bifurcation concept has a number of significant disadvantages: it is restricted to the Markovian case; stationary measures provide only the time averaged position of each trajectory, and qualitative changes are not related, in general, to a change in stability (i.e. a change in the Lyapunov spectrum); the concept is not coordinate independent; and stationary measures are in a one-to-one correspondence with invariant measures that only depend on the past of the system, but additional invariant measures are often present. For these reasons, the more recent dynamical bifurcation concept is now favoured in the literature.

Chapter 1. Introduction

Initial studies have sought to find analogues of elementary deterministic bifurcation scenarios — the saddle-node, transcritical, pitchfork and Hopf bifurcations [AB92, CF98, ASNSH96, SH96, ABSH99]. In particular, in [AB92] the authors consider stochastic differential equations formed from the transcritical, pitchfork and saddle-node normal forms, with noise added to the parameter. For the transcritical and pitchfork cases one obtains dynamical bifurcation patterns similar to the deterministic cases: the trivial equilibria of the corresponding deterministic systems persist, and the other equilibria are replaced by invariant random Dirac measures (also known as random fixed points), with the stability of these invariant measures being the same as the corresponding deterministic equilibria. In [CIS99] the authors find necessary and sufficient conditions for a certain class of parameterized one-dimensional stochastic differential equations, with zero as a fixed point, to undergo similar transcritical and pitchfork dynamical bifurcations of random fixed points. Crauel and Flandoli in [CF98] consider the normal form of the deterministic pitchfork bifurcation with additive noise, that is, the one-dimensional stochastic differential equation driven by a Wiener process $\{W_t\}_{t \in \mathbb{R}}$ given by

$$dx_t = (\alpha x_t - x_t^3)dt + \sigma dW_t, \qquad (1.0.1)$$

with real parameters α (the bifurcation parameter) and σ (the noise intensity). The associated random dynamical system undergoes a phenomenological bifurcation at the parameter value $\alpha = 0$, where the stationary distribution transitions from a one-peak to a two-peak form. However, the authors demonstrate that for arbitrary nonzero noise intensity there is no dynamical bifurcation: for all values of the parameter α there exists a unique ergodic invariant measure given by a random fixed point, for which the associated Lyapunov exponent is negative, and the random fixed point is globally attractive. Hence one may say that the deterministic pitchfork bifurcation at $\alpha = 0$ is destroyed by additive noise. Here we take a different approach to the bifurcation theory of random dynamical systems and we make further investigations to the random dynamical system generated by (1.0.1). We argue that in some sense the bifurcation at $\alpha = 0$ is not destroyed, as one can still observe qualitative changes in the dynamics:

(i) The random fixed point is uniformly attractive only if $\alpha < 0$ (Theorem 4.2.3).

- (ii) There is a change in the practical observability of the Lyapunov exponent (by finitetime Lyapunov exponents, Theorem 4.2.5).
- (iii) There is a qualitative change in the dichotomy spectrum associated to the random fixed point (Theorem 4.3.1).
- (iv) Whilst for $|\alpha|$ sufficiently small, the resulting dynamics are topologically equivalent (Theorem 4.4.1), there does not exist a uniformly continuous topological conjugacy between the dynamics of cases with positive and negative parameter α (Theorem 4.4.4).

It is our opinion that additive noise is a natural scenario to consider, and the bifurcation theory of such systems is of interest for applications.

We now give an overview of the thesis contents and state its main contributions. In the remainder of Chapter 1 (Section 1.1) we give formal definitions and introduce some basic concepts for random dynamical systems, and establish notation and basic assumptions held throughout the thesis.

In Chapter 2 we make a survey of different types of attractor-repeller pairs for random dynamical systems defined with respect to three different concepts of attraction. First we review some ideas on attractors and attractor-repeller pairs for deterministic systems in Section 2.1, and discuss the three different attraction concepts for random dynamical systems that we will consider in Section 2.2. Then in Section 2.3 we recall results on local weak set attractors from [Och99, CDS04]. We prepare for the theories of local pullback, past and future attractors with some results on pullback limit sets, which are well studied in the literature in terms of global attractors. The theory of pullback attractor-repeller pairs was first demonstrated in the papers [Liu06, Liu07a, Liu07b, LSZ08]; here we aim to give a clear and concise exposition of the construction of the pullback attractor-repeller pair in Section 2.5, the defining result being Theorem 2.5.11. In Section 2.6 we give some (linear) examples to demonstrate that the three local attraction concepts are not equivalent, and demonstrate that pullback attractor-repeller pairs may have some undesirable properties (see Remark 2.5.13). We then proceed to extend the theory of past and future attractor-repeller pairs to the setting of random dynamical systems in Section 2.7, the main result

being Theorem 2.7.5. We define the notion of a local strong attractor in Section 2.8, and finish the chapter with a discussion in Section 2.9, principally on the nature of pullback attractor-repeller pairs.

Chapter 3 is on linear theory. In Section 3.1 the notion of an exponential dichotomy for a linear random dynamical system is defined and some basic properties are given. Then in Section 3.2 the dichotomy spectrum is defined and the spectral theorem (Theorem 3.2.4) and existence of the spectral manifolds (Theorem 3.2.5) are demonstrated. We also demonstrate a necessary and sufficient condition to obtain a bounded spectrum (Proposition 3.2.7), and investigate the relationship of the dichotomy spectrum to the Lyapunov spectrum (Remark 3.2.9). In Section 3.3 we study past attractor-repeller pairs and strong attractor-repeller pairs in the projective space of linear systems, and prove an analogue of Selgrade's Theorem (Theorem 3.3.6) using strong attractor-repeller pairs. Our reasons for using local strong attractors are discussed in the introduction to Section 3.3 and Remark 3.3.4. In Section 3.4 we discuss our results on the dichotomy spectrum in relation to those obtained in [WC14], the possibility of obtaining a version of Selgrade's Theorem for weak attractor-repeller pairs, and also introduce the concept of the Morse spectrum for random dynamical systems.

In Chapter 4 we contribute to the bifurcation theory of random dynamical systems by a case study of the random dynamical system generated by (1.0.1). In Section 4.1 we review the key results obtained by Crauel and Flandoli [CF98]. Then in Section 4.2 we show the transition to nonuniform attractivity of the random fixed point (Theorem 4.2.3), and the existence of a positive measure set of positive finite-time Lyapunov exponents for $\alpha > 0$ (Theorem 4.2.5). The loss of hyperbolicity of the dichotomy spectrum associated to the random fixed point for $\alpha > 0$ (Theorem 4.3.1) is demonstrated in Section 4.3, and we also show that limits of the set of finite-time Lyapunov exponents are contained in the dichotomy spectrum (Theorem 4.3.2). The results on topological equivalence (Theorem 4.4.1) and uniform topological equivalence (Theorem 4.4.4) are given in Section 4.4, and we finish with a discussion on future work in Section 4.5.

1.1 Mathematical set-up, notation and assumptions

Here we give formal definitions and basic facts regarding the theory of random dynamical systems, and establish the notation used in the thesis. Also note that we will hold Assumption 1.1.4 throughout the thesis. For a comprehensive introduction to the theory of random dynamical systems, we refer the reader to the monograph of Ludwig Arnold [Arn98].

Time

The time set \mathbb{T} is equal to one of the following: \mathbb{R} or \mathbb{Z} , in which case we speak of *con*tinuous or discrete, respectively, two-sided time; $\mathbb{R}_0^+ := \{t \in \mathbb{R} : t \ge 0\}$ or $\mathbb{N}_0 := \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$, in which case we speak of *continuous* or discrete, respectively, one-sided time. We also take the time set to be equipped with its Borel σ -algebra, $\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{T})$. Given a one-sided time set \mathbb{T} , we denote the corresponding two-sided time set by $\overline{\mathbb{T}}$, i.e. if $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}_0^+$ then $\overline{\mathbb{T}} = \mathbb{R}$, and if $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{N}_0$ then $\overline{\mathbb{T}} = \mathbb{Z}$. We also define $\mathbb{T}_0^+ := \mathbb{T} \cap \mathbb{R}_0^+$ and $\mathbb{T}_0^- := \overline{\mathbb{T}} \cap \mathbb{R}_0^-$ where $\mathbb{R}_0^- := \{t \in \mathbb{R} : t \le 0\}$.

Dynamical system, metric dynamical system, random dynamical system

Definition 1.1.1. A *dynamical system* (DS) on a *state space* X with time set \mathbb{T} is a mapping

$$\phi \colon \mathbb{T} \times X \to X, \qquad (t, x) \mapsto \phi(t, x),$$

where the mappings $\phi_t := \phi(t, \cdot) \colon X \to X$ satisfy

- (i) $\phi_0 = \mathrm{id}_X$
- (ii) $\phi_{t+s} = \phi_t \circ \phi_s$ for all $t, s \in \mathbb{T}$

The noise in a random dynamical system is modelled by a *metric dynamical system* (see e.g. [Arn98, Appendix A]).

Definition 1.1.2. A *metric dynamical system* (metric DS) consists of a probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mu)$, and a dynamical system $\theta \colon \mathbb{T} \times \Omega \to \Omega$ which is a $(\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{T}) \otimes \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{F})$ -measurable mapping and is measure preserving, i.e. μ is a θ -invariant measure: $\theta_t \mu(\cdot) := \mu(\theta_t^{-1} \cdot) = \mu(\cdot)$ for all $t \in \mathbb{T}$.

A metric DS shall often be written as the quadruple $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mu, \theta)$, where the time set \mathbb{T} for θ should be clear from the context. The measure preserving property essentially means that the metric DS is modelling a stationary stochastic process. Given a metric DS $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mu, \theta)$ a measurable set $F \in \mathcal{F}$ is called θ -invariant if $\theta_t^{-1}F = F$ for all $t \in \mathbb{T}$, and a measurable function $f: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ is called θ -invariant if $f(\theta_t \omega) = f(\omega)$ for all $t \in \mathbb{T}$ and μ almost all $\omega \in \Omega$; the metric DS is called *ergodic* if every θ -invariant set has either measure one or measure zero.

The formal definition of a random dynamical system is as follows.

Definition 1.1.3. A random dynamical system (RDS) on the measurable state space (X, \mathcal{B}) over a metric DS $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mu, \theta)$ with time set \mathbb{T} is a mapping

$$\varphi \colon \mathbb{T} \times \Omega \times X \to X, \qquad (t, \omega, x) \mapsto \varphi(t, \omega, x),$$

which is $(\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{T}) \otimes \mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{B}, \mathcal{B})$ -measurable, and which forms a *cocycle* over θ , that is, the mappings $\varphi(t, \omega) := \varphi(t, \omega, \cdot) \colon X \to X$ satisfy

- (i) $\varphi(0,\omega) = \operatorname{id}_X$ for all $\omega \in \Omega$, and
- (ii) $\varphi(t+s,\omega) = \varphi(t,\theta_s\omega) \circ \varphi(s,\omega)$ for all $\omega \in \Omega$ and $t,s \in \mathbb{T}$.

For simplicity we will normally just speak of an RDS φ without mentioning the underlying metric DS. An RDS φ may equivalently be described as a *skew product* of the metric DS θ and cocycle φ , that is, the mapping

$$\Theta \colon \mathbb{T} \times \Omega \times X \to \Omega \times X, \qquad (t, \omega, x) \mapsto \Theta_t(\omega, x) := (\theta_t \omega, \varphi(t, \omega) x).$$

The skew product Θ is $(\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{T}) \otimes \mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{B}, \mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{B})$ -measurable and is a dynamical system with state space $\Omega \times X$.

Assumption 1.1.4. We shall always hold the following assumptions on an RDS φ throughout the thesis.

(i) The metric DS θ associated to φ is invertible, i.e. even if φ is only defined with a one-sided time set \mathbb{T} , the underlying metric DS is defined for the corresponding two-

sided time set $\overline{\mathbb{T}}$ (this is justified by the procedure of 'natural extension', see [Arn98, Appendix A.1]).

- (ii) The metric DS θ associated to φ is ergodic.
- (iii) The probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mu)$ is complete.
- (iv) The state space X is a complete separable metric space (hence a Polish space) equipped with its Borel σ -algebra $\mathcal{B}(X)$.
- (v) The RDS φ is continuous, i.e. for each fixed $\omega \in \Omega$ the mapping

$$\varphi \colon \mathbb{T} \times X \to X, \qquad (t, x) \mapsto \varphi(t, \omega) x$$

is continuous.

If φ is an RDS defined for two-sided time then we have that (see [Arn98, Theorem 1.1.6]) for all $(t, \omega) \in \mathbb{T} \times \Omega$

$$\varphi(t,\omega)^{-1} = \varphi(-t,\theta_t\omega)$$

and with Assumption 1.1.4 (v), $\varphi(t, \omega) \colon X \to X$ is a homeomorphism.

Products of random mappings

In discrete time an RDS is generated by a so-called *product of random mappings*. Let $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mu, \theta)$ be a metric dynamical system with discrete time \mathbb{T} , and $f: \Omega \times X \to X$ be measurable. Then the mappings $\varphi(n, \omega): X \to X$ given by

$$\varphi(n,\omega) := \begin{cases} f(\theta^{n-1}\omega) \circ \cdots \circ f(\omega), & n \ge 1, \\ \mathrm{id}_X, & n = 0 \end{cases}$$

define a one-sided time random dynamical system. The RDS is two-sided iff the mappings $f(\omega): X \to X$ are measurably invertible for all $\omega \in \Omega$, and then one additionally has

$$\varphi(n,\omega) := f(\theta^n \omega)^{-1} \circ \cdots \circ f(\theta^{-1} \omega)^{-1}, \qquad n \le -1.$$

Stochastic differential equations

When dealing with RDS generated by (one-dimensional) stochastic differential equations (SDE) driven by the Wiener process, the following metric dynamical system is used. Let $\Omega := C_0(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}) := \{\omega \in C(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}) : \omega(0) = 0\}$, and let Ω be equipped with the compact-open topology and the Borel σ -algebra $\mathcal{F} := \mathcal{B}(C_0(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}))$. Let μ denote the Wiener probability measure on (Ω, \mathcal{F}) . The metric dynamical system is then given by the Wiener shift $\theta : \mathbb{R} \times \Omega \to \Omega$, defined by $\theta(t, \omega(\cdot)) := \omega(\cdot + t) - \omega(t)$, and it is well-known that θ is ergodic [Arn98, Appendix A.3]. On (Ω, \mathcal{F}) , we have the natural filtration

$$\mathcal{F}_s^t := \sigma\{\omega(u) - \omega(v) : s \le u, v \le t\} \quad \text{for all } s \le t \,,$$

with $\theta_u^{-1} \mathcal{F}_s^t = \mathcal{F}_{s+u}^{t+u}$. The independent increments property of the Wiener process means that the filtrations \mathcal{F}_s^t and \mathcal{F}_u^v for $s < t \le u < v$ are independent.

Set-valued functions, invariant sets

Since RDS are nonautonomous systems one would not, in general, expect there to exist a set $D \subset X$ which is invariant under the cocyle φ for all $t \in \mathbb{T}$ and all $\omega \in \Omega$, i.e. such that $\varphi(t,\omega)^{-1}D = D$. Instead one considers set valued functions $D: \Omega \to 2^X$, $\omega \mapsto D(\omega)$, that transform in a 'stationary' way under the cocycle, which means that $\varphi(t,\omega)^{-1}D(\theta_t\omega) = D(\omega)$, and call this property invariance. One may identify a set valued mapping with its graph,

$$graph(D) := \{(\omega, x) \in \Omega \times X \colon x \in D(\omega)\}.$$

In the other direction, for a subset $D \subset \Omega \times X$ we call the set valued mapping $D(\omega) := \{x \in X : (\omega, x) \in D\}$ the ω -sections or ω -fibers of D. In general we shall say that D has some topological property if $D(\omega)$ has that property for all $\omega \in \Omega$. The formal definitions of invariant sets for an RDS are as follows.

Definition 1.1.5. Let φ be an RDS and consider a set $D \subset \Omega \times X$.

(i) D is called *forward invariant* if for all $\omega \in \Omega$ and $t \ge 0$

$$\varphi(t,\omega)D(\omega)\subset D(\theta_t\omega).$$

(ii) D is called *backward invariant* if for all $\omega \in \Omega$ and $t \ge 0$

$$\varphi(t,\omega)^{-1}D(\theta_t\omega) \subset D(\omega),$$

or equivalently for two sided time, if for all $\omega \in \Omega$ and $t \leq 0$

$$\varphi(t,\omega)D(\omega)\subset D(\theta_t\omega).$$

(iii) D is called *invariant* if for all $\omega \in \Omega$ and $t \in \mathbb{T}$

$$D(\omega) = \varphi(t, \omega)^{-1} D(\theta_t \omega),$$

or equivalently for two-sided time,

$$\varphi(t,\omega)D(\omega) = D(\theta_t\omega).$$

The above notions of invariance of $D \subset \Omega \times X$ for an RDS φ equate to the usual notions of invariance of the set D under the skew product Θ , for example D is invariant under φ iff $\Theta_t^{-1}D = D$ for all $t \in \mathbb{T}$. The following lemma gives an elementary property of forward invariant sets.

Lemma 1.1.6 ([CDS04] Lemma 4.1). Let $D \in \Omega \times X$ be a forward invariant set for an *RDS* φ , then for every $s \leq t$ we have

$$\varphi(t,\theta_{-t}\omega)D(\theta_{-t}\omega) \subset \varphi(s,\theta_{-s}\omega)D(\theta_{-s}\omega).$$

Proof. Using the cocycle property and forward invariance we have

$$\begin{split} \varphi(s+t-s,\theta_{-t}\omega)D(\theta_{-t}\omega) &= \varphi(s,\theta_{-s}\omega)\varphi(t-s,\theta_{-t}\omega)D(\theta_{-t}\omega) \\ &\subset \varphi(s,\theta_{-s}\omega)D(\theta_{t-s}\theta_{-t}\omega) \\ &= \varphi(s,\theta_{-s}\omega)D(\theta_{-s}\omega). \end{split}$$

Random sets

Let (Y, d) be an arbitrary metric space. The *Hausdorff semi-distance* between two subsets of Y, dist: $2^Y \times 2^Y \to \mathbb{R}^+_0 \cup \{\infty\}$, is defined as follows: for two nonempty subsets $A, B \subset Y$,

$$\operatorname{dist}(A,B) := \sup_{a \in A} \inf_{b \in B} d(a,b),$$

 $\operatorname{dist}(\emptyset, \emptyset) := 0$, $\operatorname{dist}(\emptyset, A) := 0$ and $\operatorname{dist}(A, \emptyset) := \infty$. For a singleton set $A = \{a\}$ we write $\operatorname{dist}(a, B) := \operatorname{dist}(A, B)$ etc. We also define the function $\tilde{d} : 2^Y \times 2^Y \to \mathbb{R}^+_0$ by

$$\tilde{d}(A,B) := \inf_{a \in A, b \in B} d(a,b),$$

with $\tilde{d}(A, \emptyset) = \tilde{d}(\emptyset, A) := 0$ and $\tilde{d}(\emptyset, \emptyset) := 0$.

In order to talk about convergence to invariant sets under the flow of a random dynamical system in a well defined probabilistic way, we require the notion of a *random set*. Such a notion is also known as a *measurable multifunction*, and the classic reference for the analytical theory of such set-valued functions is Castaing and Valadier [CV77]; here and in Appendix A we mainly follow the exposition by Crauel [Cra02b, Chapters 1 & 2].

Definition 1.1.7. Let $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mu)$ be a probability space. A set valued map $D : \Omega \to 2^X$ taking values in the subsets of a Polish space X is said to be a *random set* if the mapping $\omega \mapsto \operatorname{dist}(x, D(\omega))$ is measurable for each $x \in X$, where dist is defined with respect to some complete metric on X. If C is a random set such that $C(\omega)$ is a closed set for each $\omega \in \Omega$, then C is called a *closed random set*. A random set U is called an *open random set* if its complement, i.e. the mapping $\omega \mapsto U^c(\omega) := (U(\omega))^c$, is a closed random set. A

random set K for which $K(\omega)$ is compact for each $\omega \in \Omega$ will be called a *compact random* set.

Remark 1.1.8. An open random set U is indeed also a random set, i.e. the distance mapping $\omega \mapsto \operatorname{dist}(x, U(\omega))$ is measurable for each $x \in X$ (Proposition A.0.7 (xi)). However, a set valued map V for which $V(\omega)$ is open for all $\omega \in \Omega$ and the mapping $\omega \mapsto \operatorname{dist}(x, V(\omega))$ is measurable for each $x \in X$ is not necessarily an open random set; see [Cra02b, Remark 2.11 (i)] for an example.

The notion of measurability in the definition of a closed random set is slightly stronger than that of a set D being a product measurable set, i.e. $D \in \mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{B}$, such that the ω -sections are closed for all $\omega \in \Omega$; in that case $\omega \mapsto \operatorname{dist}(x, D(\omega))$ is generally not \mathcal{F} -measurable, but is measurable with respect to a larger σ -algebra, the *universal completion* of \mathcal{F} , which we label \mathcal{F}^u (Definition A.0.1). In the case that $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mu)$ is a complete probability space then \mathcal{F}^u coincides with \mathcal{F} (see Remark A.0.2). We list some basic theorems and facts relating to random sets in Appendix A, which are largely from [Cra02b, Chapters 1 & 2] and [Chu02, Section 1.3]. A useful theorem to note is the Projection Theorem A.0.6 which will be used in proving measurability of certain objects; this theorem only guarantees \mathcal{F}^u -measurability. Here we will assume that the probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mu)$ is complete (Assumption 1.1.4), but will make the distinction of \mathcal{F}^u -measurability clear in proofs. In the non-complete case Lemmas A.0.8 and A.0.9 may be used to replace \mathcal{F}^u -measurable objects with almost equal \mathcal{F} -measurable ones. Another useful theorem to note is the Representation Theorem A.0.4, which gives a convenient way of representing a closed random set.

We will use the following definitions of closed and open balls with a random radius, which are closed and open, respectively, random sets that are measurable with respect to \mathcal{F}^u (see Remark A.0.3):

Definition 1.1.9. Given a nonnegative random variable $\eta: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^+_0$ we define the *closed* random ball around a random set D of radius η , using the Hausdorff semi-distance, by

$$\bar{B}_{\eta(\omega)}(D(\omega)) := \{ x \in X : \operatorname{dist}(x, D(\omega)) \le \eta(\omega) \},\$$

and the open random ball by

$$B_{\eta(\omega)}(D(\omega)) := \{ x \in X : \operatorname{dist}(x, D(\omega)) < \eta(\omega) \}.$$

Stationary measures, invariant measures, disintegration, random fixed point

For an RDS φ one would not, in general, expect there to exist a probability measure ρ on the state space (X, \mathcal{B}) which is invariant under φ in the sense that $\varphi(t, \omega)\rho(B) := \rho(\varphi(t, \omega)^{-1}B) = \rho(B)$ for all $(t, \omega, B) \in \mathbb{T} \times \Omega \times \mathcal{B}$. There are two notions of an 'invariant' measure for RDS. If the RDS induces a Markov semigroup (as is the case for RDS generated by products of independent and identically distributed random maps or time-homogeneous stochastic differential equations driven by a Wiener process, see [Arn98, Chapter 2]) with transition probabilities $\mathcal{P} \colon X \times \mathcal{B} \to [0, 1]$, then a probability measure ρ on the state space (X, \mathcal{B}) is called *stationary* if

$$\rho(B) = \int_X \mathcal{P}(x, B) \mathrm{d}\rho(x) \quad \text{for all } B \in \mathcal{B}.$$

On the other hand, the following definition is a natural extension of the notion of an invariant measure to random dynamical systems.

Definition 1.1.10. Given an RDS φ with state space (X, \mathcal{B}) , time set \mathbb{T} , over a metric DS $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mu, \theta)$, and with associated skew product Θ , a probability measure ν on $(\Omega \times X, \mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{B})$ is called *invariant* if

- (i) $\Theta_t \nu = \nu$ for all $t \in \mathbb{T}$
- (ii) $\Pi_{\Omega}\nu = \mu$

where Π_{Ω} denotes the projection onto Ω .

Condition (ii) in the above definition is imposed because the marginal measure $\Pi_{\Omega}\nu$ on (Ω, \mathcal{F}) is necessarily a θ -invariant measure, and the noise system is considered to be an external influence on the dynamics, which is already equipped with the invariant measure μ .

Given a probability measure ν on $(\Omega \times X, \mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{B})$ there exists (by [Arn98, Proposition 1.4.3], and in consideration of Assumption 1.1.4) a μ -almost surely unique *disintegration* of ν with respect to μ , that is, a function ν .(·): $\Omega \times \mathcal{B} \rightarrow [0, 1]$ such that

- (i) $\omega \mapsto \nu_{\omega}(B)$ is \mathcal{F} -measurable,
- (ii) ν_{ω} is μ -almost surely a probability measure on (X, \mathcal{B}) ,
- (iii) for all $A \in \mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{B}$ one has

$$\nu(A) = \int_{\Omega} \nu_{\omega}(A(\omega)) \mathrm{d}\mu(\omega).$$

Then Definition 1.1.10 (i) may be equivalently characterised by the relation (see [Arn98, Theorem 1.4.5])

$$\varphi(t,\omega)\nu_{\omega} = \nu_{\theta_t\omega} \qquad \text{for all } t \in \mathbb{T}, \mu\text{-a.s.}$$
(1.1.1)

If an invariant measure ν is supported by a random variable $a: \Omega \to X$ then ν is called a *random Dirac measure* and we write $\nu_{\omega} = \delta_{a(\omega)}$. By (1.1.1), one has $\varphi(t, \omega)a(\omega) = a(\theta_t\omega)$, and hence the graph of a is invariant under φ , and one also refers to $\{a(\omega)\}_{\omega\in\Omega}$ as a *random fixed point*.

Topological equivalence

The following notion of topological equivalence for RDS extends that for classical dynamical systems; here one considers a conjugacy that depends on the noise.

Definition 1.1.11. Let $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mu)$ be a probability space, $\theta : \mathbb{T} \times \Omega \to \Omega$ a metric dynamical system and (X_1, d_1) , (X_2, d_2) be metric spaces. Then two random dynamical systems $\varphi_1 : \mathbb{T} \times \Omega \times X_1 \to X_1$ and $\varphi_2 : \mathbb{T} \times \Omega \times X_2 \to X_2$, both over θ , are called *topologically* equivalent if there exists a random conjugacy (or random coordinate transformation) $h : \Omega \times X_1 \to X_2$ fulfilling the following properties:

- (i) For almost all $\omega \in \Omega$, the mapping $x \mapsto h(\omega, x)$ is a homeomorphism from X_1 to X_2 .
- (ii) The mappings $(\omega, x_1) \mapsto h(\omega, x_1)$ and $(\omega, x_2) \mapsto h^{-1}(\omega, x_2)$ are measurable.

(iii) The random dynamical systems φ_1 and φ_2 are *cohomologous*, i.e.

$$\varphi_2(t,\omega,h(\omega,x)) = h(\theta_t\omega,\varphi_1(t,\omega,x))$$
 for all $x \in X_1$ and almost all $\omega \in \Omega$.

Linear RDS, projected linear RDS

Definition 1.1.12. An RDS $\varphi \colon \mathbb{T} \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$ is called *linear* if for all vectors $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and all scalars $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$, one has $\varphi(t, \omega)(\alpha x + \beta y) = \alpha \varphi(t, \omega)x + \beta \varphi(t, \omega)y$ for all $(t, \omega) \in \mathbb{T} \times \Omega$. For such a linear RDS φ there exists a corresponding matrix valued function $\Phi \colon \mathbb{T} \times \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$ such that $\Phi(t, \omega)x = \varphi(t, \omega)x$ for all $(t, \omega, x) \in \mathbb{T} \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d$, and we identify the RDS φ with Φ .

We always take \mathbb{R}^d to be equipped with the Euclidean norm $\|\cdot\|$, and the associated metric $d(\cdot, \cdot)$ and Borel σ -algebra $\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. The real projective space of \mathbb{R}^d is the quotient space $\mathbb{P}^{d-1} := (\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\}) / \sim$, where $x \sim y$ if $x = \alpha y$ for some $\alpha \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$. We denote by $\mathbb{P}(x)$ the equivalence class of $x \in \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\}$, and for $A \subset \mathbb{P}^{d-1}$, denote $\mathbb{P}^{-1}A := \{x \in \mathbb{R}^d : \mathbb{P}(x) \in A\}$. We equip \mathbb{P}^{d-1} with the metric $d_{\mathbb{P}} : \mathbb{P}^{d-1} \times \mathbb{P}^{d-1} \to [0, \sqrt{2}]$, defined by

$$d_{\mathbb{P}}(\hat{x}, \hat{y}) := \min\left\{ \left| \frac{x}{\|x\|} - \frac{y}{\|y\|} \right|, \left| \frac{x}{\|x\|} + \frac{y}{\|y\|} \right| \right\}$$

for $\hat{x}, \hat{y} \in \mathbb{P}^{d-1}$, and where $x \in \mathbb{P}^{-1}\{\hat{x}\}$ and $y \in \mathbb{P}^{-1}\{\hat{y}\}$ are arbitrary nonzero vectors. Then $(\mathbb{P}^{d-1}, d_{\mathbb{P}})$ is a compact metric space. The notation $\operatorname{dist}_{\mathbb{P}}$ denotes the Hausdorff semidistance on \mathbb{P}^{d-1} with respect to the metric $d_{\mathbb{P}}$.

A linear RDS $\Phi: \mathbb{T} \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$ induces an RDS $\mathbb{P}\Phi: \mathbb{T} \times \Omega \times \mathbb{P}^{d-1} \to \mathbb{P}^{d-1}$ on the real projective space called the *projected linear RDS*, given by

$$\mathbb{P}\Phi(t,\omega)\mathbb{P}(x) := \mathbb{P}(\Phi(t,\omega)x)$$
(1.1.2)

for every $(t, \omega, x) \in \mathbb{T} \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\}$ (for further details see [Arn98, Section 6.2]).

Chapter 2

Random attractor-repeller pairs

This chapter is concerned with attractor-repeller pairs of random dynamical systems on compact metric spaces. We survey different types of attractor-repeller pairs from the literature that arise from three different concepts of attraction for random dynamical systems. The main goal of this chapter is to find an attractor-repeller pair with suitable properties in order to prove an analogue of Selgrade's Theorem, which will be achieved in the next chapter.

We begin in Section 2.1 with a brief overview of attractors and attractor-repeller pairs in autonomous and nonautonomous systems. Then in Section 2.2 we define the three concepts of attraction for RDS that we will consider here: *forward*, *pullback* and *weak*. In Section 2.3 we recall definitions and results on so-called weak attractor-repeller pairs from Ochs [Och99] and Crauel et al. [CDS04]; this is the most basic type of attractorrepeller pair in the sense that the other types considered here are also weak attractorrepeller pairs. The other types of attractor-repeller pairs involve local pullback attractors, and we prepare for them in Section 2.4 with some results on pullback Ω -limit sets, which are the nonautonomous analogues of ω -limit sets and may be used to characterize local pullback attractors. In Section 2.5 we present the construction of so-called pullback attractor-repeller pairs, which was first demonstrated by Liu in the collection of papers [Liu06, Liu07a, Liu07b]. We then give a series of examples in Section 2.6 to illustrate the nature of the different types of attractor-repeller pairs. The first of these examples is a counter-example to [LJS08, Lemma 4.3] on the pullback dynamics of a local pullback attractor; but a weaker statement still holds [LSZ08, Remark 3.3 (ii)] (see Remark 2.5.13 (i)). The other examples demonstrate the nonequivalence of the three local attractor concepts, and show that pullback attractor-repeller pairs may have some undesirable properties (see Remark 2.5.13 (ii)). In Section 2.7 we extend the idea of so-called past and future attractor-repeller pairs for nonautonomous systems [Ras06] to the setting of random dynamical systems. We then define *strong attraction* which combines pullback and forward attraction; in Subsection 3.3.2 it will be shown that the properties of a local strong attractor are sufficient to obtain an analogue of Selgrade's Theorem using similar techniques used for so-called all-time attractor repeller pairs in nonautonomous systems [Ras08]. Finally, in Section 2.9 we discuss the results of this chapter and future work.

2.1 Attractors for autonomous and nonautonomous dynamical systems

Here we give an informal overview of the concept of an attractor. We begin with the case of autonomous dynamical systems and discuss fundamental results on attractor-repeller pairs. Broadly speaking, an attractor is an invariant compact subset of the state space of a dynamical system, which is in some sense stable, so that it 'attracts' other points in the state space. An attractor may be thought of as a generalization of a stable fixed point or limit cycle. There have been many different definitions of attractors proposed in the literature, and a brief historical account may be found in [Mil85]. One of the main differences noted there is the notion of stability associated to the attractor, for example asymptotic stability versus Lyapunov stability. Another distinction is whether there is attraction of individual points from some subset of the state space, which gives the notion of a *point attractor*, or attraction of a family of bounded (or compact) sets, which gives the notion of a set attractor (of course, a set attractor is also a point attractor). In [Mil85], the author considers a point attractor for which the set of points that converge to the attractor are required to have positive Lebesgue measure, and this object is known as a Milnor or measure attractor. If the attractor attracts all points or all compact sets in the entire state space then one speaks of a global point attractor or global set attractor, respectively, whereas if attraction only holds within some open neighbourhood of the attractor, one speaks of a *local point attractor* or local set attractor, respectively.

Charles Conley, in the monograph [Con78], proved a number of fundamental results relating to local attractors of dynamical systems on compact metric spaces. In what follows let $\phi : \mathbb{R} \times X \to X$ denote a continuous dynamical system on a compact metric space (X, d), and let $\omega(D)$ and $\alpha(D)$ denote the ω -limit set and α -limit set of $D \subset X$, respectively. Conley's definition of a *local attractor* of ϕ is a compact invariant set A such that there is an open neighbourhood $U \supset A$ with $\omega(U) = A$ (such an attractor is both Lyapunov and asymptotically stable). The dual of ϕ is the DS $\phi^-(t, x) := \phi(-t, x)$, for all $t \in \mathbb{R}$ and $x \in X$, called the *reverse time system*. A *local repeller* is the dual concept of a local attractor, that is, it is a local attractor of the DS ϕ^- . The existence of a local attractor A implies the existence of a corresponding local repeller, given by $R := \{x \in X : \omega(x) \cap A = \emptyset\}$; also $A = \{x \in X : \alpha(x) \cap R = \emptyset\}$, and hence A and R are dual.

The pair (A, R), called an *attractor-repeller pair*, gives a coarse but simple description of the dynamics: the ω -limit set of any point in $X \setminus R$ is contained in A, and the α -limit set of any point in $X \setminus A$ is contained in R. Conley also showed that there exists a Lyapunov function on X that takes the value 1 on R, 0 on A, and is decreasing along trajectories of points in $X \setminus (A \cup R)$. In particular, if a dynamical system on a noncompact space has a global attractor, then the asymptotic dynamics can be further analysed by attractor-repeller pair decomposition on the global attractor. Furthermore, Conley demonstrated that by taking the intersection $\cap_i (A_i \cup R_i)$ over all the attractor-repeller pairs (A_i, R_i) for ϕ gives the chain recurrent set of ϕ , and there exists a so-called complete Lyapunov function, which is constant on each of the connected components of the chain recurrent set, and decreases along trajectories of all other points. Hence, the state space is decomposed into points which are chain recurrent and points for which trajectories are gradient-like; this decomposition result has been called the fundamental theorem of dynamical systems [Nor95]. Another important concept is that of a Morse decomposition: for a finite nested sequence of attractors, $\emptyset =: A_0 \subsetneq A_1 \subsetneq \cdots \subsetneq A_n := X$ (which implies that the corresponding local repellers satisfy $X = R_0 \supseteq R_1 \supseteq \cdots \supseteq R_n = \emptyset$), the (nonempty) sets $M_i := A_i \cap R_{i-1}$, $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ are called *Morse sets* and the collection $\{M_1, \ldots, M_n\}$ a *Morse decomposi*tion. Precisely when the chain recurrent set has a finite number of connected components, these components are given by the Morse sets of a so-called finest Morse decomposition.

An important result in the theory of Morse decompositions is Selgrade's Theorem ([Sel75], see also [CK00] Chapter 5), which establishes the existence of a unique finest Morse decomposition for the projected flow of a linear flow on a vector bundle for which the base flow is chain transitive.

There is also the important notion of the Conley index, for which we refer the reader to the introductory article [Mis99]. This article also discusses the notion of continuation of attractor-repeller pairs, which is a result on the stability of attractor-repeller pairs under perturbations of the dynamical system. Conley's results were adapted to discrete time dynamical systems by Franks ([Fra88]) and extended to the case of noncompact metric spaces and semi-dynamical systems by Rybakowski [Ryb87] and Hurley [Hur91, Hur92, Hur95, Hur98]. For articles giving a more detailed introduction to the topics mentioned here, we refer the reader to [ACMC⁺06] and [Mis99].

Conley's definition of a local attractor given above is equivalent to the one below, which serves as the basis for the definitions of local attractors for RDS that we will consider here.

Definition 2.1.1. Let $\phi \colon \mathbb{R} \times X \to X$ be a dynamical system on a compact metric space (X, d). A closed invariant set A is called a *local attractor* of ϕ if there exists an open neighbourhood $U \supset A$ such that

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \operatorname{dist}(\phi_t U, A) = 0.$$

The concept of an attractor-repeller pair has also been extended to nonautonomous dynamical systems. In the case of a skew product flow with a compact base space and compact state space, the methods for the autonomous case may be applied on the product space. In the general nonautonomous case the base space is the time axis and hence noncompact, and so one cannot directly apply the methods used for autonomous systems. Rasmussen [Ras06] has demonstrated that by restricting to only the past or the future time domain of a nonautonomous system with suitable notions of local attraction and repulsion, one can obtain so-called past attractor-repeller pairs or future attractor-repeller pairs. Furthermore, in the case of linear nonautonomous dynamical systems, if there exists a so-called uniform attractor then there exists also a corresponding uniform repeller, and the pair is called an all-time attractor-repeller pair. It is then possible to prove analogues of

Selgrade's theorem using past, future and all-time attractor-repeller pairs [Ras07, Ras08]. (For a comprehensive exposition on past, future and all-time attractor-repeller pairs and Morse decompositions see [KR11, Chapters 3,4].)

2.2 Attraction concepts for random dynamical systems

An RDS is a nonautonomous system, which gives an additional degree of freedom and leads to separate attraction concepts for different time domains of the system. Moreover, the RDS comes equipped with a probability measure and so we may consider convergence with respect to the different notions of probabilistic convergence (here we only consider almost sure convergence and convergence in probability).

The most natural definition of set attraction for an RDS φ is the following:

Definition 2.2.1. A random set A is said to forward attract a random set D if

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \operatorname{dist}(\varphi(t, \omega) D(\omega), A(\theta_t \omega)) = 0 \qquad \mu\text{-a.s.}$$
(2.2.1)

The notion of *pullback attraction* is a more abstract concept.

Definition 2.2.2. For given $(t, \omega) \in \mathbb{T} \times \Omega$, the *pullback mapping* corresponding to an RDS φ is the mapping

$$\varphi(t, \theta_{-t}\omega) \colon X \to X.$$

The pullback mapping describes the dynamics starting from a past value of the noise, $\theta_{-t}\omega$, up to the present time (recall that if \mathbb{T} is one-sided, we still assume that θ is defined on the corresponding two-sided time set $\overline{\mathbb{T}}$).

Definition 2.2.3. A random set A is said to *pullback attract* a random set D if

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \operatorname{dist}(\varphi(t, \theta_{-t}\omega) D(\theta_{-t}\omega), A(\omega)) = 0 \qquad \mu\text{-a.s.}$$
(2.2.2)

The mathematical advantage of starting from earlier times and evolving up to the present time is that one is converging to a fixed set. The disadvantage is that pullback attraction does not generally imply forward attraction (and vice versa), and hence may not truly describe the asymptotic dynamics of the RDS, although it does imply forward attraction in the weaker sense described below.

Weak attraction uses the weaker notion of convergence in probability as opposed to almost sure convergence.

Definition 2.2.4. A random set A is said to *weakly attract* a random set D if

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \mu\{\omega \colon \operatorname{dist}(\varphi(t,\omega)D(\omega), A(\theta_t\omega)) > \varepsilon\} = 0 \quad \text{for every } \varepsilon > 0.$$
 (2.2.3)

Remark 2.2.5. (i) Let A and D be random sets. Since θ preserves μ , one has

$$\mu\{\operatorname{dist}(\varphi(t,\omega)D(\omega), A(\theta_t\omega)) > \varepsilon\} = \mu\{\operatorname{dist}(\varphi(t,\theta_{-t}\omega)D(\theta_{-t}\omega), A(\omega)) > \varepsilon\},$$
(2.2.4)

and so if A weakly attracts D, then

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \mu\{\omega \colon \operatorname{dist}(\varphi(t, \theta_{-t}\omega)D(\theta_{-t}\omega), A(\omega)) > \varepsilon\} = 0 \qquad \text{for every } \varepsilon > 0, \quad (2.2.5)$$

hence, one may say that A both 'forward attracts D in probability' and 'pullback attracts D in probability'.

- (ii) Note that since almost sure convergence implies convergence in probability, forward and pullback attraction both imply weak attraction, and in particular pullback attraction implies weak forward attraction (recall also that convergence in probability implies almost sure convergence of a subsequence).
- (iii) Forward, pullback, and weak *repulsion* are all defined similarly with lim_{t→-∞}; forward repulsion requires T to be two-sided, whilst in the case of weak repulsion for one-sided time, one may consider weak repulsion in the pullback sense as described in (i).

We make the following distinctions relating to the time set \mathbb{T} of an RDS φ :

(i) The *past* of φ corresponds to the time domain \mathbb{T}_0^- ,

- (ii) the *future* of φ corresponds to the time domain \mathbb{T}_0^+ ,
- (iii) the *entire time* of φ corresponds to the time domain \mathbb{T} .

Pullback attraction and forward repulsion are then considered to be attraction concepts for the past of the RDS, as they only involve the dynamics of φ on \mathbb{T}_0^- . Similarly, forward attraction and pullback repulsion are considered to be attraction concepts for the future of the RDS. Weak attraction and repulsion are considered attraction concepts for the entire time, since by Remark 2.2.5 (i) we may take a forward or a pullback limit.

Examples using these three attraction concepts are compared in the papers [Sch02] (for SDEs) and [AO03] (for discrete time RDS), where it is shown that only the relationships of forward attraction and pullback attraction implying weak attraction hold in general (see also [Cra02a]). In Section 2.6 we also demonstrate this fact with some examples of projected linear discrete time random dynamical systems. We also note that a wider range of attraction concepts for RDS are studied and compared in the paper [AO03], including Milnor-type random attractors.

Global attractors for RDS have mainly been studied in the sense of pullback attraction, and were first considered in the works [Sch92] and [CF94]. Global attractors in the sense of weak attraction were first studied in [Och99]. In [AS01a] the authors show that there exists a certain weakly attracting global attractor if and only if there exists a random Lyapunov function whose zero set is equal to the attractor. The notions of chain recurrence, Lyapunov functions and the Conley index have been studied in the context of pullback attraction in [Liu06, Liu07a, Liu07b, LJS08, Liu08]. Here we study constructions and properties of attractor-repeller pairs on compact metric spaces corresponding to local random attractors defined with respect to the three attraction concepts given above.

2.3 Weak attractor-repeller pairs

Weak attractors were first considered in [Och99], with many fundamental results proved for global, local, and so-called relative weak attractors in terms of both set and point attraction, and in particular Morse decompositions by local weak set attractors are demonstrated. Further analysis of Morse decomposition by local weak set attractors is carried out in the paper [CDS04]. In this section we recall basic definitions and results on local weak set attractors from these two papers, which here shall be referred to as just local weak attractors. All of the types of attractor-repeller pairs we shall consider in this thesis are also weak attractor-repeller pairs, and hence all of the results in this section are applicable to these other attractor-repeller pair types as well. We hold the following assumptions in this section.

Assumption 2.3.1. Let (X, d) be a compact metric space (hence a Polish space), and φ a continuous RDS with two-sided time ($\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}$ or \mathbb{R}).

Definition 2.3.2. An invariant compact random set A is called a *local weak attractor* if there exists a forward invariant open random set U with $U(\omega) \supset A(\omega) \mu$ -a.s. such that each closed random set $C \subset U$ is weakly attracted to A, i.e.

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \mu\{\operatorname{dist}(\varphi(t,\omega)C(\omega), A(\theta_t \omega)) > \varepsilon\} = 0 \quad \text{for every } \varepsilon > 0.$$
 (2.3.1)

The neighbourhood U is said to be a *weak attracting neighbourhood of A*. The set

$$B(A)(\omega) := \{ x \in X : \varphi(t, \omega) x \in U(\theta_t \omega) \text{ for some } t \ge 0 \}$$

is called the *basin of attraction of A*.

Definition 2.3.3. An invariant compact random set R is called a *local weak repeller* if there exists a backward invariant open random set U with $U(\omega) \supset R(\omega) \mu$ -a.s. such that each closed random set $C \subset U$ is weakly repelled to R, i.e.

$$\lim_{t \to -\infty} \mu \{ \operatorname{dist}(\varphi(t, \omega) C(\omega), R(\theta_t \omega)) > \varepsilon \} = 0 \qquad \text{ for every } \varepsilon > 0.$$

The neighbourhood U is said to be a *weak repelling neighbourhood of* R. The set

$$B(R)(\omega) := \{ x \in X \colon \varphi(t, \omega) x \in U(\theta_t \omega) \text{ for some } t \le 0 \}$$

is called the basin of repulsion of R.

We generally only state results pertaining to attractors, with analogous results holding for repellers. The first results here describe important properties of the basin of attraction.

Lemma 2.3.4 ([CDS04, Lemma 4.2]). *The basin of attraction of a local weak attractor* A *is an invariant open random set and* A *weakly attracts all closed random sets* C *such that* $C(\omega) \subset B(A)(\omega) \mu$ *-a.s., i.e. (2.3.1) holds.*

Theorem 2.3.5 ([Och99, Theorem 1]). Let A be a local weak attractor, then any invariant closed random set $C \subset B(A)$ is contained in A μ -a.s. In particular, A is (up to a set of measure zero) the maximal local weak attractor in B(A).

The following important result demonstrates that the existence of a weak attractor implies the existence of a weak repeller.

Proposition 2.3.6 ([CDS04, Proposition 5.1]). Let A be a local weak attractor. Then

$$R := X \backslash B(A)$$

is a local weak repeller with basin of repulsion $B(R) = X \setminus A$.

Note that by applying the repeller version of Theorem 2.3.5 to R in the above proposition, R is the maximal local weak repeller in $X \setminus A$. Since $R = X \setminus B(A)$, this implies the following corollary.

Corollary 2.3.7 ([CDS04, Corollary 5.1]). Let A be a local weak attractor with weak attracting neighbourhood U. Then the basin of attraction B(A) is independent of U up to a set of zero measure.

To summarize the above results, given a local weak attractor A, $R := X \setminus B(A)$ is the almost surely unique, maximal local weak repeller in $X \setminus A$, and similarly, $A = X \setminus B(R)$ and is the almost surely unique, maximal local weak attractor in $X \setminus R$.

Definition 2.3.8. Let A be a local weak attractor, then the local weak repeller $R = X \setminus B(A)$ is called the *repeller corresponding to* A, and A the *attractor corresponding to* R, and (A, R) is called a *weak attractor-repeller pair*.

The following theorem shows that local weak attractors (and repellers) are invariant under random coordinate transformations.

Theorem 2.3.9 ([Och99, Theorem 4]). Let φ be an RDS on X, and let Y be another compact metric space. Let $h: \Omega \times X \to Y$ be a random conjugacy from X to Y. Then if A is a local weak attractor for φ in X with basin of attraction B(A), h(A) is a local weak attractor for $\psi(t, \omega) := h_{\theta_t \omega} \varphi(t, \omega) h_{\omega}$ in Y with basin of attraction h(B(A)).

The following theorem is important in obtaining Morse decompositions for RDS, and demonstrates that a nested sequence of local weak attractors leads to an oppositely nested sequence of corresponding weak repellers.

Theorem 2.3.10 ([CDS04, Theorem 5.1]). Suppose that A_1 and A_2 are local weak attractors such that $A_1(\omega) \subsetneq A_2(\omega) \mu$ -a.s., and with corresponding repellers R_1 and R_2 , then $R_1(\omega) \supseteq R_2(\omega) \mu$ -a.s.

The following definition of a *Morse decomposition* holds for all types of attractorrepeller pairs we will consider in this thesis, that is, weak, pullback, past, future or strong attractor-repeller pairs.

Definition 2.3.11. Suppose that (A_i, R_i) , $i \in \{0, ..., n\}$, are weak, pullback, past, future, or strong attractor-repeller pairs almost surely satisfying

$$\emptyset = A_0(\omega) \subsetneq A_1(\omega) \subsetneq \cdots \subsetneq A_n(\omega) = X,$$

(equivalently, $X = R_0(\omega) \supseteq R_1(\omega) \supseteq \cdots \supseteq R_n(\omega) = \emptyset$). Then the family of compact random sets $\mathcal{M} := \{M_1, \ldots, M_n\}$ defined by

$$M_i := A_i \cap R_{i-1}, \qquad i \in \{1, \dots, n\}$$

is called a *weak*, *pullback*, *past*, *future*, or *strong*, respectively, *Morse decomposition* of X, and the sets M_i are called *Morse sets*.

One can introduce a partial ordering on the equivalence class of Morse decompositions for an RDS that differ only on a set of measure zero.

Definition 2.3.12. The Morse decomposition $\mathcal{M} = \{M_1, \ldots, M_n\}$ is said to be *finer* than the Morse decomposition $\tilde{\mathcal{M}} = \{\tilde{M}_1, \ldots, \tilde{M}_m\}$, if for each $i \in \{1, \ldots, m\}$ there exists a $j \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ such that $M_j(\omega) \subset \tilde{M}_i(\omega) \mu$ -a.s. A minimal element of this partial ordering is called a *finest* Morse decomposition.

The next set of results give some basic properties of weak Morse decompositions and show that the weak Morse sets describe the asymptotic dynamics of an RDS, in terms of weak convergence, and in that they support all invariant measures.

Definition 2.3.13 ([CDS04, Definition 3.3]). An invariant random set M is called *isolated* if there exists an open random set U with $U(\omega) \supset M(\omega) \mu$ -a.s. such that for each random variable x satisfying

$$\varphi(t,\omega)x(\omega)\in U(\theta_t\omega)\qquad\text{ for all }t\in\mathbb{T},\mu\text{-a.s.},$$

then $x(\omega) \in M(\omega)$ μ -a.s.

Lemma 2.3.14 ([CDS04, Lemma 5.1]). *Morse sets are invariant compact random sets, which are almost surely nonempty and pairwise disjoint, and are isolated.*

Theorem 2.3.15 ([CDS04, Theorem 5.2]). Suppose that $\{M_1, \ldots, M_n\}$ is a weak Morse decomposition given by weak attractor-repeller pairs (A_i, R_i) , $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, and let $M := \bigcup_{i=1}^n M_i$. Then,

- *(i)* Every X-valued random variable x is both weakly attracted and repelled to the set M.
- (ii) If a random variable x is weakly attracted by M_i and weakly repelled by M_j , then $i \leq j$, and i = j if and only if $x(\omega) \in M_i(\omega)$ μ -a.s.
- (iii) If x_1, \ldots, x_k are X-valued random variables such that for some $j_0, \ldots, j_k \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, x_i is weakly repealed by $M_{j_{i-1}}$ and weakly attracted by M_{j_i} , then $j_0 \leq j_k$. Furthermore $j_0 < j_k$ if and only if $\mu(x_i \notin M) > 0$ for some i, otherwise $j_0 = \cdots = j_k$.

Theorem 2.3.16 ([Och99, Theorem 2 & Remark 11]). Every φ -invariant measure is supported by the Morse sets of a weak Morse decomposition, i.e. let $\{M_1, \ldots, M_n\}$ be a weak

Morse decomposition, $M := \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} M_i$, and ν be a φ -invariant measure, then $\nu_{\omega}(M(\omega)) = 1$ μ -a.s.

2.4 Pullback limit sets

In autonomous systems local attractors and repellers may be characterized in terms of ω limit sets and α -limit sets, respectively. For nonautonomous dynamical systems there exist analogous notions of limit sets which are invariant sets in the sense of Definition 1.1.5, and in the next section they will be used as an alternative characterization of *local pullback attractors* and *local pullback repellers*. These are called *pullback* Ω -*limit sets* and *pullback ac-limit sets* (it should be clear when the use of a capital omega refers to a pullback limit set, and when it refers to the probability space), and in this section we give some fundamental results; these results may be found in the literature in some close form, but we include them here with their proofs both for completeness and since similar techniques used in the proofs are called for later.

The material presented in this section is in a more general setting than is required for the remainder of the chapter.

Assumption 2.4.1. Let (X, d) be a complete separable metric space, and φ a continuous RDS with one- or two-sided time \mathbb{T} .

Definition 2.4.2. Given a set $D \subset \Omega \times X$, the (*pullback*) Ω -*limit set* of D is defined as

$$\Omega_D(\omega) := \bigcap_{\tau \ge 0} \overline{\bigcup_{t \ge \tau} \varphi(t, \theta_{-t}\omega) D(\theta_{-t}\omega)},$$

and if the time set \mathbb{T} is two-sided, the (*pullback*) α -limit set of D is defined as

$$\alpha_D(\omega) := \bigcap_{\tau \ge 0} \overline{\bigcup_{t \ge \tau} \varphi(-t, \theta_t \omega) D(\theta_t \omega)}.$$

(Equivalently,

 $\Omega_D(\omega) = \{x \in X : \text{ there exists a sequence of times } \{t_i\}_{i \in \mathbb{N}} \text{ with } t_i \to \infty \text{ for } i \to \infty,$ and a sequence of points $x_i \in D(\theta_{-t_i}\omega)$ such that $\lim_{i \to \infty} \varphi(t_i, \theta_{-t_i}\omega)x_i = x\},$ and similarly for α_D .)

The following lemma gives a measurability result for pullback images of random sets (the proof follows the proof of Proposition 1.5.1 in [Chu02], which in turn takes the idea from [CF94]).

Lemma 2.4.3. Let D be a random set. Then for each $x \in X$ the mapping

$$(t,\omega) \mapsto \operatorname{dist}(x,\varphi(t,\theta_{-t}\omega)D(\theta_{-t}\omega))$$

is $(\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{T}) \otimes \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}_0^+))$ -measurable, and hence for each fixed $t \in \mathbb{T}$, $\varphi(t, \theta_{-t}\omega)D(\theta_{-t}\omega)$ is also a random set.

Proof. From Proposition A.0.7 (ii), \overline{D} is a closed random set. Then by the Representation Theorem A.0.4, we have that $\overline{D(\omega)} = g(\omega, Y)$ for $\omega \in \Omega \setminus E$ where $E := \{\omega : D(\omega) = \emptyset\}$, Y is a Polish space, and $g : \Omega \times Y \to X$ is a mapping such that for all $\omega \in \Omega$, $g(\omega, \cdot)$ is continuous and for all $y \in Y$, $g(\cdot, y)$ is measurable. Then for each $x \in X$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}$ we define

$$\rho_n(t,\omega) := d(x,\varphi(t,\theta_{-t}\omega)g(\theta_{-t}\omega,y_n))$$

where $\{y_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is a countable dense set of points in Y, and let

$$\rho(t,\omega) := \inf_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \rho_n(t,\omega).$$

By definition, the mapping $(t, \omega) \mapsto \theta_t \omega$ is $(\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{T}) \otimes \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{F})$ -measurable, and then so is the mapping $(t, \omega) \mapsto \theta_{-t}(\omega) =: \theta_{-}(t, \omega)$. Then we have $\theta_{-}^{-1}E \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{T}) \otimes \mathcal{F}$ and

$$\operatorname{dist}(x,\varphi(t,\theta_{-t}\omega)D(\theta_{-t}\omega)) = \operatorname{dist}(x,\varphi(t,\theta_{-t}\omega)D(\theta_{-t}\omega))$$
$$= \begin{cases} \rho(t,\omega), & (t,\omega) \in (\mathbb{T} \times \Omega) \setminus \theta_{-}^{-1}E, \\ \infty, & (t,\omega) \in \theta_{-}^{-1}E. \end{cases}$$

We now demonstrate that ρ_n is a $(\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{T}) \otimes \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}_0^+))$ -measurable function, which then also implies that ρ is measurable, and this proves the result. It is straightforward to show that the mapping $\psi(t, \omega) := (t, \theta_-(t, \omega))$ is $(\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{T}) \otimes \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{T}) \otimes \mathcal{F})$ -measurable and that the mapping $G_n(t,\omega) := (t,\omega,g(\omega,y_n)) \text{ is } (\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{T}) \otimes \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{T}) \otimes \mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{B}) \text{-measurable, and by definition}$ $(t,\omega,x) \mapsto \varphi(t,\omega)x \text{ is } (\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{T}) \otimes \mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{B}, \mathcal{B}) \text{-measurable. Therefore the composition } \varphi \circ G_n \circ \psi$ is $(\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{T}) \otimes \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{B})$ -measurable, and it follows that ρ_n is a $(\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{T}) \otimes \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}_0^+))$ -measurable function. \Box

The following two results are based on the results [CF94, Lemma 3.2, Proposition 3.6 & Theorem 3.11], [Cra99, Lemma 3.5] and [Liu06, Theorem 3.1]. The following lemma asserts the invariance of pullback limit sets, and measurability of pullback limit sets of random sets.

Lemma 2.4.4. Let $D \subset \Omega \times X$, then Ω_D is a closed, forward invariant set, and is also invariant if \mathbb{T} is two-sided. If D is a random set then Ω_D is a closed random set.

Proof. The fact that $\Omega_D(\omega)$ is closed for each $\omega \in \Omega$ follows from its definition as an intersection of closed sets. To show forward invariance, let $x \in \Omega_D(\omega)$, then there exist sequences $t_i \to \infty$ and $x_i \in D(\theta_{-t_i}\omega)$ such that $\lim_{i\to\infty} \varphi(t_i, \theta_{-t_i}\omega)x_i = x$. Then for $t \ge 0$, using the continuity of φ ,

$$\varphi(t,\omega)x = \varphi(t,\omega)\lim_{i\to\infty}\varphi(t_i,\theta_{-t_i}\omega)x_i$$
$$= \lim_{i\to\infty}\varphi(t+t_i,\theta_{-t_i}\omega)x_i$$
$$= \lim_{i\to\infty}\varphi(\tilde{t}_i,\theta_{-\tilde{t}_i}\theta_t\omega)x_i$$

with $\tilde{t}_i = t + t_i$, and since $\tilde{t}_i \to \infty$ with $x_i \in D(\theta_{-\tilde{t}_i}\theta_t\omega)$ we have $\varphi(t,\omega)x \in \Omega_D(\theta_t\omega)$. Then the invariance of Ω_D for two-sided time follows from the fact that $\varphi(t,\omega)$ is then a homeomorphism on X for all $(t,\omega) \in \mathbb{T} \times \Omega$.

We now show the measurability of $\omega \mapsto \operatorname{dist}(x, \Omega_D(\omega))$ for any $x \in X$. Since,

$$\bigcup_{t \ge s} \varphi(t, \theta_{-t}\omega) D(\theta_{-t}\omega) \supset \bigcup_{t \ge u} \varphi(t, \theta_{-t}\omega) D(\theta_{-t}\omega) \quad \text{for } u \ge s \ge 0,$$

the Ω -limit set may be formed by taking a countable intersection, i.e.

$$\Omega_D(\omega) = \bigcap_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \overline{\bigcup_{t \ge n} \varphi(t, \theta_{-t}\omega) D(\theta_{-t}\omega)}.$$
(2.4.1)

We also have the following:

$$\operatorname{dist}\left(x,\bigcup_{t\geq\tau}\varphi(t,\theta_{-t}\omega)D(\theta_{-t}\omega)\right) = \inf_{t\geq\tau}\operatorname{dist}(x,\varphi(t,\theta_{-t}\omega)D(\theta_{-t}\omega))$$
(2.4.2)

for $\tau \geq 0$. Lemma 2.4.3 gives that $(t, \omega) \mapsto \operatorname{dist}(x, \varphi(t, \theta_{-t}\omega)D(\theta_{-t}\omega))$ is a $(\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{T}) \otimes \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}_0^+))$ -measurable function. Then in the discrete time case the infimum in (2.4.2) is over a countable set, and hence $\cup_{t\geq\tau}\varphi(t, \theta_{-t}\omega)D(\theta_{-t}\omega)$ is an \mathcal{F} -measurable random set. Then taking a countable intersection as in (2.4.1) and using Proposition A.0.7 (ii), Ω_D is an \mathcal{F} -measurable closed random set. We now deal with the continuous time case. For arbitrary $a \in \mathbb{R}_0^+$ we have

$$\begin{aligned} \{\omega \colon \inf_{t \ge \tau} \operatorname{dist}(x, \varphi(t, \theta_{-t}\omega)D(\theta_{-t}\omega)) < a\} \\ &= \Pi_{\Omega}\{(t, \omega) \colon \operatorname{dist}(x, \varphi(t, \theta_{-t}\omega)D(\theta_{-t}\omega)) < a, t \ge \tau\}, \end{aligned}$$

and so by the Projection Theorem A.0.6, we have that (2.4.2) is \mathcal{F}^u -measurable. Then once again taking a countable intersection as in (2.4.1), gives us that $\Omega_D(\omega)$ is an \mathcal{F}^u -measurable closed random set.

The following theorem gives sufficient conditions for pullback limit sets to be random sets that are nonempty and compact μ -a.s.

Theorem 2.4.5. Let D be a random set that is nonempty μ -a.s., and such that

$$\bigcup_{t \ge T(\omega)} \varphi(t, \theta_{-t}\omega) D(\theta_{-t}\omega)$$

is pre-compact μ -a.s. for some random variable $T: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^+_0$. Then the following statements hold:

- (i) Ω_D is a closed random set that is both nonempty and compact μ -a.s.
- (ii) If \mathbb{T} is one-sided, $\Omega_D(\omega)$ is forward invariant and

$$\varphi(t,\omega)\Omega_D(\omega) = \Omega_D(\theta_t\omega) \quad \text{for all } t \in \mathbb{T}, \ \mu\text{-a.s.},$$

whilst if \mathbb{T} is two-sided then Ω_D is invariant (cf. Definition 1.1.5).

(iii) Ω_D pullback attracts D.

Proof. (i) The fact that Ω_D is a closed random set is given by Lemma 2.4.4. By the nonempty condition and ergodicity of θ , for μ almost all $\omega \in \Omega$ there exists a sequence of times $t_i \to \infty$ such that $D(\theta_{-t_i}\omega) \neq \emptyset$, and so combining this with the pre-compactness condition, $\Omega_D(\omega)$ is almost surely the intersection of nonempty centred compact sets, and hence is itself nonempty and compact μ -a.s.

(ii) We show that $\Omega_D(\theta_t \omega) \subset \varphi(t, \omega)\Omega_D(\omega)$ for all $t \in \mathbb{T}$, μ -a.s., which combined with the forward invariance given by Lemma 2.4.4, gives that $\varphi(t, \omega)\Omega_D(\omega) = \Omega_D(\theta_t\omega)$ μ -a.s. Let $y \in \Omega_D(\theta_t\omega)$, then $y = \lim_{i\to\infty} \varphi(t_i, \theta_{-t_i+t}\omega)y_i$ for some sequences $t_i \to \infty$ and $y_i \in D(\theta_{-t_i+t}\omega)$, and we have $y = \lim_{i\to\infty} \varphi(t, \omega)\varphi(t_i - t, \theta_{-t_i+t}\omega)y_i$. Define $\tilde{y}_i := \varphi(\tilde{t}_i, \theta_{-\tilde{t}_i}\omega)y_i$, with $\tilde{t}_i := t_i - t$, so that $\tilde{y}_i \in \varphi(\tilde{t}_i, \theta_{-\tilde{t}_i}\omega)D(\theta_{-\tilde{t}_i}\omega)$. For μ -a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$, $\overline{\bigcup_{s\geq T(\omega)}\varphi(s, \theta_{-s}\omega)D(\theta_{-s}\omega)}$ is compact, and so there exists a convergent subsequence $\tilde{y}_{i_j} \to \tilde{y} \in \Omega_D(\omega)$. By the continuity of φ we have that $y = \varphi(t, \omega)\tilde{y}$, and hence the assertion is proved. The invariance of Ω_D for the case of two-sided time is given by Lemma 2.4.4.

(iii) To show that $\lim_{t\to\infty} \operatorname{dist}(\varphi(t,\theta_{-t}\omega)D(\theta_{-t}\omega),\Omega_D(\omega)) = 0 \ \mu$ -a.s., let $F \in \mathcal{F}$ be the full measure set where the pre-compactness condition holds, and assume there is an $\omega \in F$ such that the pullback attraction does not hold. Then there is a sequence of times $t_i \to \infty$ and points $x_i \in D(\theta_{-t_i}\omega)$ with $\operatorname{dist}(\varphi(t_i,\theta_{-t_i}\omega)x_i,\Omega_D(\omega)) \ge \varepsilon$ for all $i \in \mathbb{N}$ and some $\varepsilon > 0$. Since $\overline{\bigcup_{t\ge T(\omega)}\varphi(t,\theta_{-t}\omega)D(\theta_{-t}\omega)}$ is compact there is then a convergent subsequence of the points $\varphi(t_i,\theta_{-t_i}\omega)x_i$, converging to a point $x \in \overline{\bigcup_{t\ge T(\omega)}\varphi(t,\theta_{-t}\omega)D(\theta_{-t}\omega)} \setminus B_{\varepsilon}(\Omega_D(\omega))$, which is a contradiction.

2.5 Pullback attractor-repeller pairs

The material in this section is an exposition on the construction of pullback attractorrepeller pairs due to Liu [Liu06, Liu07a, Liu07b]. Here we review the key results from those papers, and try to give a clear and concise account of the construction of pullback attractor-repeller pairs. We first give some basic definitions, then show how local pullback attractors may be alternatively described in terms of pullback Ω -limit sets. We then establish the independence of the basin of attraction of a local pullback attractor with respect to different pullback attracting neighbourhoods. The main result is Theorem 2.5.11 which shows that the existence of a local pullback attractor implies the existence of a corresponding local pullback repeller. Finally, we discuss some undesirable properties of these objects, which will be demonstrated by examples in the next section.

Assumption 2.5.1. Let (X, d) be a compact metric space (hence a Polish space), and φ a continuous RDS with two-sided time ($\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}$ or \mathbb{R}).

Definition 2.5.2. An invariant compact random set A is called a *local pullback attractor* if there is an open random set U with $U(\omega) \supset A(\omega) \mu$ -a.s. such that

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \operatorname{dist}(\varphi(t, \theta_{-t}\omega)U(\theta_{-t}\omega), A(\omega)) = 0 \quad \mu\text{-a.s.}$$

The random set U is called a *pullback attracting neighbourhood of* A. The set

$$B(A)(\omega) := \{ x \in X : \varphi(t, \omega) x \in U(\theta_t \omega) \text{ for some } t \ge 0 \}$$

is called the *basin of attraction of* A. A local pullback attractor is called *trivial* if $\mu(A(\omega) \in \{\emptyset, X\}) = 1$.

Definition 2.5.3. An invariant compact random set R is called a *local pullback repeller* if there is an open random set U with $U(\omega) \supset R(\omega) \mu$ -a.s. such that

$$\lim_{t \to -\infty} \operatorname{dist}(\varphi(t, \theta_{-t}\omega)U(\theta_{-t}\omega), R(\omega)) = 0 \quad \mu\text{-a.s.}$$

The random set U is called a *pullback repelling neighbourhood of* R. The set

$$B(R)(\omega) := \{ x \in X \colon \varphi(t,\omega) x \in U(\theta_t \omega) \text{ for some } t \leq 0 \}$$

is called the *basin of repulsion of* R. A local pullback repeller is called *trivial* if $\mu(R(\omega) \in \{\emptyset, X\}) = 1$.

Definition 2.5.4. Let U be an open random set. If there exists a random variable $T: \Omega \rightarrow \Omega$

 \mathbb{R}^+_0 such that

$$\overline{\bigcup_{t\geq T(\omega)}\varphi(t,\theta_{-t}\omega)U(\theta_{-t}\omega)}\subset U(\omega)\quad\mu\text{-a.s.},$$

then U is called a *pullback absorbing set*, and T is called the *absorbtion time*.

Definition 2.5.5. Let U be an open random set. If there exists a random variable $T: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^+_0$ such that

$$\bigcup_{t \ge T(\omega)} \varphi(-t, \theta_t \omega) U(\theta_t \omega) \subset U(\omega) \quad \mu\text{-a.s.},$$

then U is called a *pullback expelling set*, and T is called the *expulsion time*.

All of the results in this section are stated for attractors only; analogous results also hold for repellers. Under Assumption 2.5.1 we may make the following modification of Theorem 2.4.5.

Theorem 2.5.6. Let D be a random set, then $\Omega_D(\omega)$ is an invariant compact random set which pullback attracts D.

The existence of a local pullback attractor may be guaranteed by the existence of a pullback absorbing set.

Proposition 2.5.7. The Ω -limit set of a pullback absorbing set U is a local pullback attractor with pullback attracting neighbourhood U.

Proof. Since U is a pullback absorbing set $\Omega_U(\omega) \subset U(\omega)$ almost surely, and by Theorem 2.5.6 Ω_U pullback attracts U.

This demonstrates a mathematical advantage of pullback attractors over forward attractors, that one can show the existence of a pullback attractor when one has a pullback absorbing set and construct it in a fiber-wise fashion (by taking the pullback Ω -limit set), whilst there is no analogous method for forward attractors of nonautonomous systems. The following result shows that the pullback attracting neighbourhood of a local pullback attractor is a pullback absorbing set, and hence local pullback attractors may also be characterized by Ω -limit sets of pullback absorbing sets. **Proposition 2.5.8.** Let A be a local pullback attractor with pullback attracting neighbourhood U, then

- (i) $\Omega_U(\omega) = A(\omega) \mu$ -a.s., and
- (ii) U is a pullback absorbing set.

Proof. (i). Let $F \in \mathcal{F}$ be the set of full measure where A pullback attracts U and $U(\omega) \supset A(\omega)$, and assume that $\Omega_U(\omega) \neq A(\omega)$ for some $\omega \in F$. Then since $A(\omega) \subset \Omega_U(\omega)$ (because of the invariance of $A(\omega)$), there exists an $x \in \Omega_U(\omega) \setminus A(\omega)$, and there exist sequences $t_i \to \infty$ and $x_i \in U(\theta_{-t_i}\omega)$ such that $x = \lim_{i\to\infty} \varphi(t_i, \theta_{-t_i}\omega)x_i$. Since $A(\omega)$ is compact there is an $\varepsilon > 0$ such that $x \notin B_{\varepsilon}(A(\omega))$, and hence for some $N \in \mathbb{N}$, $\varphi(t_i, \theta_{-t_i}\omega)x_i \notin B_{\varepsilon}(A(\omega))$ for all $i \ge N$. This contradicts pullback attraction of U to A for $\omega \in F$.

(ii). Define $\eta(\omega) := \tilde{d}(A(\omega), U^c(\omega))$ which is measurable by similar arguments to the proof of Lemma A.0.10. For μ almost all $\omega \in \Omega$ there exists a time T such that $\operatorname{dist}(\varphi(t, \theta_{-t}\omega)U(\theta_{-t}\omega), A(\omega)) \leq \frac{\eta(\omega)}{2}$ for all $t \geq T$, and hence $\overline{\bigcup_{t \geq T} \varphi(t, \theta_{-t}\omega)U(\theta_{-t}\omega)} \subset U(\omega)$. It remains to show that there exists a measurable such T. Define

$$T(\omega) := \inf \left\{ \tau \in \mathbb{R}_0^+ : \overline{\bigcup_{t \ge \tau} \varphi(t, \theta_{-t}\omega) U(\theta_{-t}\omega)} \subset \bar{B}_{\eta(\omega)/2}(A(\omega)) \right\}$$
$$= \inf \left\{ \tau \in \mathbb{R}_0^+ : \operatorname{dist} \left(\overline{\bigcup_{t \ge \tau} \varphi(t, \theta_{-t}\omega) U(\theta_{-t}\omega)}, \bar{B}_{\eta(\omega)/2}(A(\omega)) \right) = 0 \right\}.$$

One can show that

$$\varrho(t,\omega) := \operatorname{dist} \left(\varphi(t,\theta_{-t}\omega) U(\theta_{-t}\omega), \bar{B}_{\eta(\omega)/2}(A(\omega)) \right)$$

is $(\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{T}) \otimes \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}_0^+))$ -measurable by using similar arguments to the proofs of Lemmas A.0.10 and 2.4.3. We have

dist
$$\left(\overline{\bigcup_{t \ge \tau} \varphi(t, \theta_{-t}\omega) U(\theta_{-t}\omega)}, \bar{B}_{\eta(\omega)/2}(A(\omega))\right) = \sup_{t \ge \tau} \varrho(t, \omega) =: \varrho_{\tau}(\omega),$$

and then for $a \in \mathbb{R}_0^+ \cup \{\infty\}$,

$$\{\omega \colon \varrho_{\tau}(\omega) > a\} = \Pi_{\Omega}\{(t,\omega) \colon \varrho(t,\omega) > a, t \ge \tau\},\$$

which is an \mathcal{F}^u measurable set by the Projection Theorem A.0.6. Let $F_\tau := \{\omega : \varrho_\tau(\omega) = 0\}$. Note that $F_{\tau_1} \subset F_{\tau_2}$ for $\tau_1 \leq \tau_2$, and hence

$$\{\omega \colon T(\omega) < a\} = \bigcup_{\tau \in \mathbb{Q}_0^+, \tau < a} F_{\tau}$$

so that T is \mathcal{F}^u measurable.

The following lemma, which shows that there exists a forward invariant pullback attracting neighbourhood for any given local pullback attractor, is needed to demonstrate that a local pullback attractor is also a local weak attractor (note that the definition of a local weak attractor, Definition 2.3.2, requires a forward invariant neighbourhood), and is also required for the proof of Theorem 2.5.11.

Lemma 2.5.9 ([Liu07b, Lemma 3.1]). Let A be a local pullback attractor with pullback attracting neighbourhood U. Then there exists a forward invariant pullback attracting neighbourhood of A.

Proof. Define

$$\tilde{U}(\omega) := \operatorname{int}\left(\overline{\bigcup_{t\geq 0}\varphi(t,\theta_{-t}\omega)U(\theta_{-t}\omega)}\right).$$
(2.5.1)

By Proposition 1.5.1 of [Chu02] and Proposition A.0.7 (xii), \tilde{U} is an \mathcal{F}^u -measurable forward invariant open random set. We will show that $\Omega_{\tilde{U}}(\omega) = \Omega_U(\omega)$ for all $\omega \in \Omega$, and then by Proposition 2.5.8 and Theorem 2.5.6, we obtain that A pullback attracts \tilde{U} . We first note the fact that for a continuous function f and an arbitrary collection of sets $\{B_i\}$ one has

$$\overline{\bigcup_i f(B_i)} = \overline{\bigcup_i f(\overline{B_i})}.$$
(2.5.2)

Then using (2.5.2), we obtain

$$\begin{split} \Omega_{\tilde{U}}(\omega) &= \bigcap_{\tau \ge 0} \overline{\bigcup_{s \ge \tau} \varphi(s, \theta_{-s}\omega) \tilde{U}(\theta_{-s}\omega)} \\ &= \bigcap_{\tau \ge 0} \overline{\bigcup_{s \ge \tau} \varphi(s, \theta_{-s}\omega)} \overline{\operatorname{int} \left(\overline{\bigcup_{t \ge 0} \varphi(t, \theta_{-t}\theta_{-s}\omega) U(\theta_{-t}\theta_{-s}\omega)} \right)} \end{split}$$

Since $U(\omega)$ is open and $\varphi(t,\omega)$ is a homeomorphism it follows that the latter expression is equal to

$$\bigcap_{\tau \ge 0} \bigcup_{s \ge \tau} \varphi(s, \theta_{-s}\omega) \overline{\bigcup_{t \ge 0} \varphi(t, \theta_{-t}\theta_{-s}\omega) U(\theta_{-t}\theta_{-s}\omega)}$$

and using (2.5.2) again, this is equal to

$$\bigcap_{\tau \ge 0} \bigcup_{s \ge \tau} \varphi(s, \theta_{-s}\omega) \bigcup_{t \ge 0} \varphi(t, \theta_{-t}\theta_{-s}\omega) U(\theta_{-t}\theta_{-s}\omega).$$

Finally, the last expression is easily simplified to give

$$\bigcap_{\tau \ge 0} \overline{\bigcup_{s \ge \tau} \bigcup_{t \ge 0} \varphi(s+t, \theta_{-s-t}\omega) U(\theta_{-s-t}\omega)} = \bigcap_{\tau \ge 0} \overline{\bigcup_{s \ge \tau} \varphi(s, \theta_{-s}\omega) U(\theta_{-s}\omega)} = \Omega_U(\omega).$$

Lemma 2.5.10. The basin of attraction B(A) of a local pullback attractor A is independent, up to a zero measure set, of the pullback attracting neighbourhood. If one chooses a forward invariant pullback attracting neighbourhood of A (the existence of which is guaranteed by Lemma 2.5.9) then B(A) is an invariant open random set. Furthermore, A is a local weak attractor with basin of attraction B(A).

Proof. Let B(A, U) denote the basin of attraction of the local pullback attractor A defined with respect to the pullback attracting neighbourhood U of A. Given a forward invariant pullback attracting neighbourhood \tilde{U} of A, since A pullback attracts \tilde{U} it also weakly attracts all closed random sets in \tilde{U} , and so is a local weak attractor with (forward invariant) weak attracting neighbourhood \tilde{U} and basin of attraction $B(A, \tilde{U})$. Lemma 2.3.4 asserts that $B(A, \tilde{U})$ is an invariant open random set.

Now consider two arbitrary pullback attracting neighbourhoods U_1 and U_2 of A. We now show that $B(A, U_1) \subset B(A, U_2)$ almost surely. Since U_1 is pullback attracted to A, by similar arguments to the proof of Proposition 2.5.8 (ii), there exists a measurable $T: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^+_0$ such that

$$\bigcup_{t \ge T(\omega)} \varphi(t, \theta_{-t}\omega) U_1(\theta_{-t}\omega) \subset U_2(\omega) \quad \mu\text{-a.s.}$$
(2.5.3)

Let $E \subset \Omega$ be the exceptional set in (2.5.3), and choose $N \in \mathbb{N}$ such that the set $F_N := \{\omega \in \Omega : T(\omega) \leq N\} \setminus E$ has $\mu(F_N) > 0$. Then by Birkhoff's ergodic theorem, there exists a full measure set $G \subset \Omega$ such that for all $\omega \in G$ there exists a sequence of times $\{t_i\}_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$ with $t_i \to \infty$ and such that $\theta_{t_i} \omega \in F_N$ for each *i*. By (2.5.3), for each $i \in \mathbb{N}$

$$\bigcup_{t\geq N}\varphi(t,\theta_{-t}\theta_{t_i}\omega)U_1(\theta_{-t}\theta_{t_i}\omega)\subset U_2(\theta_{t_i}\omega).$$

Let $x \in B(A, U_1)(\omega)$, which means that there exists an $s \in \mathbb{T}_0^+$ such that $\varphi(s, \omega)x \in U_1(\theta_s\omega)$, and choose $i \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $t_i \ge N + s$. Then $\varphi(t_i - s, \theta_s\omega)U_1(\theta_s\omega) \subset U_2(\theta_{t_i}\omega)$, and hence $x \in B(A, U_2)(\omega)$, and therefore $B(A, U_1)(\omega) \subset B(A, U_2)(\omega)$ μ -a.s. Reversing the roles of U_1 and U_2 then gives the almost sure opposite inclusion, and so $B(A, U_1) = B(A, U_2)$ almost surely, and this completes the proof. \Box

The following result from [Liu07a] says that the existence of a local pullback attractor implies the existence of a μ -a.s. uniquely determined local pullback repeller (in the proof given here we also explicitly prove the fact that the complement of a forward invariant pullback absorbing set is a pullback expelling set).

Theorem 2.5.11 ([Liu07a] Lemma 5.1). Let A be a local pullback attractor, then $R := X \setminus B(A)$ is a local pullback repeller with basin of repulsion $X \setminus A$. Furthermore, (A, R) is also a weak attractor-repeller pair.

Proof. Let U be the forward invariant pullback attracting neighbourhood of A given by

Lemma 2.5.9. By Proposition 2.5.8 U is a pullback absorbing set, i.e. there exists a nonnegative random variable T such that

$$\overline{\bigcup_{t \ge T(\omega)} \varphi(t, \theta_{-t}\omega) U(\theta_{-t}\omega)} \subset U(\omega) \qquad \mu\text{-a.s.}$$
(2.5.4)

Since U is a forward invariant open random set, $V := \overline{U}^c$ is a backward invariant open random set (see [Arn98, Exercise 1.6.10] and Proposition A.0.7 (xi)). The proof is divided into four parts.

Part 1. We show that V is a pullback expelling set, and hence α_V is a local pullback repeller. Lemma 1.1.6 implies that

$$\bigcup_{t \ge T(\omega)} \varphi(t, \theta_{-t}\omega) U(\theta_{-t}\omega) = \varphi(T(\omega), \theta_{-T(\omega)}\omega) U(\theta_{-T(\omega)}\omega).$$
(2.5.5)

Since $\varphi(t, \omega)$ is a homeomorphism for all $(t, \omega) \in \mathbb{T} \times \Omega$, we have

$$\overline{\varphi(T(\omega), \theta_{-T(\omega)}\omega)U(\theta_{-T(\omega)}\omega)} = \varphi(T(\omega), \theta_{-T(\omega)}\omega)\overline{U(\theta_{-T(\omega)}\omega)}$$

and hence using (2.5.5) and (2.5.4),

$$\overline{U(\theta_{-T(\omega)}\omega)} \subset \varphi(-T(\omega),\omega)U(\omega).$$

Then,

$$\overline{U(\theta_{-T(\omega)}\omega)}^c \supset \varphi(-T(\omega),\omega)U(\omega)^c \supset \varphi(-T(\omega),\omega)\overline{U(\omega)}^c$$

and so,

$$V(\theta_{-T(\omega)}\omega) \supset \overline{\varphi(-T(\omega),\omega)V(\omega)}.$$

Since V is backward invariant one can apply a backward invariance version of Lemma 1.1.6 to obtain

$$\overline{\bigcup_{t \ge T(\omega)} \varphi(-t, \theta_{t-T(\omega)}\omega) V(\theta_{t-T(\omega)}\omega)} = \overline{\varphi(-T(\omega), \omega) V(\omega)} \subset V(\theta_{-T(\omega)}\omega), \quad (2.5.6)$$

that is, V is expelling for $\theta_{-T(\omega)}\omega$. Now the idea is to show that the ergodicity of θ and measurability of T imply there is also a time in the future when V is expelling, and combining this with the backward invariance of V then means that it is truly an expelling set. Let $E \in \mathcal{F}$ be the null set in (2.5.4), and choose $N \in \mathbb{N}$ such that the set $F_N := \{\omega \in \Omega : T(\omega) \leq N\} \setminus E$ has $\mu(F_N) > 0$. Then by Birkhoff's ergodic theorem, there exists a full measure set $G \in \mathcal{F}$ such that for each $\omega \in G$ there exists a sequence of times $\{t_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{N}}$ with $t_i \to \infty$ such that $\theta_{t_i}\omega \in F_N$ for each i. Choose $i \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $t_i \geq N$, then using (2.5.6) we have

$$\bigcup_{t \ge T(\theta_{t_i}\omega)} \varphi(-t, \theta_{t-T(\theta_{t_i}\omega)+t_i}\omega) V(\theta_{t-T(\theta_{t_i}\omega)+t_i}\omega) = \overline{\varphi(-T(\theta_{t_i}\omega), \theta_{t_i}\omega) V(\theta_{t_i}\omega)} \subset V(\theta_{-T(\theta_{t_i}\omega)+t_i}\omega), \quad (2.5.7)$$

Now we have,

$$\overline{\varphi(-t_i,\theta_{t_i}\omega)V(\theta_{t_i}\omega)} = \varphi(T(\theta_{t_i}\omega) - t_i, \theta_{-T(\theta_{t_i}\omega)+t_i}\omega)\overline{\varphi(-T(\theta_{t_i}\omega), \theta_{t_i}\omega)V(\theta_{t_i}\omega)}$$
$$\subset \varphi(T(\theta_{t_i}\omega) - t_i, \theta_{-T(\theta_{t_i}\omega)+t_i}\omega)V(\theta_{-T(\theta_{t_i}\omega)+t_i}\omega)$$
$$\subset V(\omega)$$

with the first line above using the cocycle property and that $\varphi(t, \omega)$ is a homeomorphism, the second line using (2.5.7), and the last inclusion using the backward invariance of V. Hence we have, again using the backward invariance of V, that

$$\overline{\bigcup_{t \ge t_i} \varphi(-t, \theta_t \omega) V(\theta_t \omega)} \subset V(\omega),$$

that is, almost surely there exists a time t_i such that $V(\omega)$ is expelling. Now the t_i must be replaced by a measurable function $\tilde{T}: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}_0^+$. We do not need a measurable \tilde{T} to take the pullback α -limit set, and so first we may define $R(\omega) := \alpha_V(\omega)$ which by the expelling property and the reverse time version of Theorem 2.5.6 is a local pullback repeller with repelling neighbourhood $V(\omega)$. Then the reverse time version of Proposition 2.5.8 (ii) demonstrates that there exists a measurable \tilde{T} , and V is a pullback expelling set. Part 2. In this step we show that $R = X \setminus B(A) \ \mu$ -a.s. Since $R(\omega) \subset V(\omega) \ \mu$ -a.s., we must have that $R(\omega) \subset X \setminus B(A)(\omega) \ \mu$ -a.s., since otherwise there is an $x \in R(\omega) \cap B(A)(\omega)$, and by the definition of the basin of attraction there exists a $t \ge 0$ such that $\varphi(t,\omega)x \in U(\theta_t\omega)$, but by the invariance of R one also has $\varphi(t,\omega)x \in R(\theta_t\omega)$, which contradicts that $V(\theta_t\omega) \cap U(\theta_t\omega) = \emptyset$. Now we demonstrate the opposite inclusion, $R(\omega) \supset X \setminus B(A)(\omega) \ \mu$ -a.s. We first show that $\overline{U(\omega)} \subset B(A)(\omega)$ almost surely. Let F_N be as defined in Part 1, then for almost all $\omega \in \Omega$ there exists an $s \ge N$ such that $\theta_s \omega \in F_N$ and then $\overline{\bigcup_{t\ge N} \varphi(t, \theta_{-t+s}\omega) U(\theta_{-t+s}\omega)} \subset U(\theta_s\omega)$, which implies that $\varphi(s,\omega) \overline{U(\omega)} \subset U(\theta_s\omega)$. Then $X \setminus B(A)(\omega) \subset V(\omega)$, and since $X \setminus B(A)(\omega)$ is invariant by Lemma 2.5.10, and $R(\omega) = \alpha_V(\omega)$, the inclusion follows.

Part 3. We show that $B(R) = X \setminus A \mu$ -a.s. It is clear that $B(R)(\omega) \subset X \setminus A(\omega)$ almost surely. Now let $x \in X \setminus B(R)(\omega)$, then $\varphi(-t, \omega)x \in \overline{U(\theta_{-t}\omega)}$ for all $t \ge 0$, or equivalently,

$$x \in \varphi(t, \theta_{-t}\omega) \overline{U(\theta_{-t}\omega)}$$

Then since for almost all $\omega \in \Omega$,

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \operatorname{dist}(A(\omega), \varphi(t, \theta_{-t}\omega) \overline{U(\theta_{-t}\omega)}) = 0$$

it follows that $x \in A(\omega)$.

Part 4. Since Lemma 2.5.10 gives that a local pullback attractor A is also a local weak attractor with the same basin of attraction, and the corresponding local pullback repeller R is the complement of the basin of attraction of A, Proposition 2.3.6 shows that (A, R) is also a weak attractor-repeller pair.

Definition 2.5.12. The repeller R in Theorem 2.5.11 is called the *repeller corresponding* to A, and (A, R) is called a *pullback attractor-repeller pair*.

Remark 2.5.13. (i) Lemma 4.3 in [LJS08] states: Let A be a local pullback attractor and B(A) its basin of attraction, then for any random closed set $C \subset B(A)$, Apullback attracts C. Example 2.6.4 in the next section is a counter-example to this statement. In [LSZ08, Remark 3.3 (ii)] the authors also make a weakened version of this statement, and this still holds: Let U be a forward invariant pullback attracting neighbourhood of A, then for any random set $D \subset B(A)$ such that there exists a deterministic time $T \geq 0$ with $\varphi(T, \omega)D(\omega) \subset U(\theta_T\omega)$ for all $\omega \in \Omega$, A pullback attracts D.

(ii) Example 2.6.9 in the next section is an RDS with a deterministic (i.e. independent of ω ∈ Ω) pullback attractor-repeller pair (A, R). A pullback attracts all deterministic closed sets in its (deterministic) basin of attraction, but deterministic closed sets in the basin of repulsion are not pullback repelled to R. Let V denote the pullback repelling neighbourhood of R. Since any deterministic point x arbitrarily close to R is not pullback repelled, there must be a sequence of times t_i → ∞ such that x ∉ V(θ_{ti}ω), and for this example this implies

$$\liminf_{t \to \infty} \operatorname{dist}(V(\theta_t \omega), R(\theta_t \omega)) = 0 \qquad \mu\text{-a.s.}$$

It can be seen directly in this example that with V constructed according to the proof of Theorem 2.5.11, V may be arbitrarily small with positive probability.

2.6 Examples of attractor-repeller pairs

In this section we give some examples which are designed to explore the definitions of local weak, pullback and forward (Definition 2.7.2) attractors. The examples are of projected linear RDS (as defined by (1.1.2)). They are based around a *non-tempered random variable* (see [Arn98, Section 4.1]) and were inspired by Example 1 in [AO03].

Definition 2.6.1. Let $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mu, \theta)$ be an ergodic metric DS. A random variable $\chi \colon \Omega \to (0, \infty)$ is called *tempered from above* if

$$\limsup_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{t} \ln \chi(\theta_{\pm t} \omega) = 0 \qquad \mu\text{-a.s.}$$

Remark 2.6.2. If a random variable χ as given in the above definition is not tempered from above, then it follows (see [Arn98, Proposition 4.1.3]) that

$$\limsup_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{t} \ln \chi(\theta_{\pm t}\omega) = \infty \qquad \mu\text{-a.s.}$$

Remark 2.6.3. We follow [AO03, Theorem 2] to construct a random variable that is not tempered from above. Let $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mu, \theta)$ be an ergodic metric DS with time set $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}$ and such that the probability space is nonatomic. Let $\{U_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ be a partition of Ω with $\mu(U_k) >$ 0 for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Then there exists a sequence $\{N_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$, $N_k \in \mathbb{N}_0$, with $\lim_{k\to\infty} N_k = \infty$, and for almost all $\omega \in \Omega$ there exists an $m \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and a sequence $\{n_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$, $n_k \in \mathbb{N}_0$ (both depending on ω), with $\lim_{k\to\infty} n_k = \infty$ such that $n_k \leq N_k$, and $\theta^{n_k+m}\omega \in U_k$. Let $\alpha > 1$ and define the random variable $\beta: \Omega \to [1, \infty)$ by

$$\beta(\omega) := \alpha^{N_k^2} \quad \text{for } \omega \in U_k.$$

Then for almost all $\omega \in \Omega$ we have

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \ln \beta(\theta^n \omega) = \limsup_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n+m} \ln \beta(\theta^{n+m} \omega)$$
$$\geq \limsup_{k \to \infty} \frac{1}{n_k + m} \ln \beta(\theta^{n_k + m} \omega)$$
$$= \limsup_{k \to \infty} \frac{1}{n_k + m} N_k^2 \ln \alpha$$
$$= \infty,$$

and so β is not tempered from above.

We will also need a similar random variable that is not tempered from above along the negative orbit of θ : Similarly to the above, there exists a sequence $\{\tilde{N}_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}, \tilde{N}_k \in \mathbb{N}_0$, with $\lim_{k\to\infty} \tilde{N}_k = \infty$, and for almost all $\omega \in \Omega$ there exist an $\tilde{m} \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and a sequence $\{\tilde{n}_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}, \tilde{n}_k \in \mathbb{N}_0$ (both depending on ω), with $\lim_{k\to\infty} \tilde{n}_k = \infty$ such that $\tilde{n}_k \leq \tilde{N}_k$, and $\theta^{-\tilde{n}_k-\tilde{m}}\omega \in U_k$. Let $\alpha > 1$ and define the random variable $\tilde{\beta}: \Omega \to [1,\infty)$ by

$$\tilde{\beta}(\omega) := \alpha^{\tilde{N}_k^2} \qquad \text{for } \omega \in U_k$$

First we state the counter-example mentioned in Remark 2.5.13 (ii). The idea is to take a deterministic attractor-repeller pair, and a closed random set whose values along a subsequence of the negative orbit in the base space converge to the repeller faster than the rate of attraction.

Example 2.6.4. Let $\alpha > 1$, and take the metric DS and non-tempered random variable $\tilde{\beta}$ given in Remark 2.6.3. Define the linear RDS $\Phi \colon \mathbb{Z} \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$ by the deterministic system

$$\Phi(n,\omega) := \begin{pmatrix} \alpha^n & 0\\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.6.1)

and consider the induced RDS $\mathbb{P}\Phi$ in the projective space \mathbb{P}^1 . Since the RDS is deterministic, the pullback mapping equals the forward mapping, i.e. $\Phi(n, \theta^{-n}\omega) = \Phi(n, \omega)$. Take $\eta \in (0, \sqrt{2})$ and define $U(\omega) := B_{\eta}(\mathbb{P}((1, 0)))$. Then $A(\omega) := \mathbb{P}((1, 0))$ is a local pullback (and local forward, Definition 2.7.2) attractor for $\mathbb{P}\Phi$ with basin of attraction $B(A)(\omega) = \mathbb{P}^1 \setminus \mathbb{P}((0, 1))$ and the corresponding local pullback repeller obtained by Theorem 2.5.11 is $R(\omega) = \mathbb{P}((0, 1))$. Now consider the closed random set $C(\omega) := \mathbb{P}((1, \tilde{\beta}(\omega)))$. Taking the pullback images of C along the subsequence of times $\{\tilde{n}_k + \tilde{m}\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ one obtains

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \mathbb{P}\Phi(\tilde{n}_k + \tilde{m}, \theta^{-\tilde{n}_k - \tilde{m}}\omega) C(\theta^{-\tilde{n}_k - \tilde{m}}\omega) = \lim_{k \to \infty} \mathbb{P}((\alpha^{\tilde{n}_k + \tilde{m}}, \beta(\theta^{-\tilde{n}_k - \tilde{m}}\omega)))$$
$$= \lim_{k \to \infty} \mathbb{P}((\alpha^{\tilde{n}_k + \tilde{m}}, \alpha^{\tilde{N}_k^2}))$$
$$= \mathbb{P}((0, 1)),$$

that is, along this subsequence the closed random set C pullback converges to the repeller, and hence C is not pullback attracted to A.

The next two examples demonstrate the nonequivalence of local forward attraction and local pullback attraction.

Example 2.6.5. Let $\alpha > 1$ and take the metric DS and nontempered random variable β described in Remark 2.6.3. Define

$$H(\omega) := \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \beta(\omega) \end{pmatrix},$$

Let $\Psi: \mathbb{Z} \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$ be the discrete time linear RDS obtained by applying the random coordinate transformation H to Φ given by (2.6.1), that is,

$$\Psi(n,\omega) = H(\theta^n \omega) \Phi(n,\omega) H^{-1}(\omega)$$
$$= \begin{pmatrix} \alpha^n & 0\\ 0 & \frac{\beta(\theta^n \omega)}{\beta(\omega)} \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.6.2)

The pullback mapping for Ψ is given by

$$\Psi(n,\theta^{-n}\omega) = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha^n & 0\\ 0 & \frac{\beta(\omega)}{\beta(\theta^{-n}\omega)} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.6.3)

Since the second term on the diagonal of (2.6.3) is bounded by $\beta(\omega)$ it is easy to see that for the induced RDS $\mathbb{P}\Psi$ on the projective space \mathbb{P}^1 , $A(\omega) := \mathbb{P}((1,0))$ pullback attracts the neighbourhood $U(\omega) := B_{\eta}(\mathbb{P}((1,0)))$, for any $\eta \in (0,\sqrt{2})$. However, A is not a local forward attractor: for the subsequence of times $\{n_k + m\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$, (2.6.2) becomes

$$\Psi(n_k + m, \omega) = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha^{n_k + m} & 0\\ 0 & \frac{\alpha^{N_k^2}}{\beta(\omega)} \end{pmatrix}$$

and the images of the neighbourhood $U(\omega)$ under $\mathbb{P}\Psi$ along this subsequence grow arbitrarily large.

Example 2.6.6. Let $\alpha > 1$, and take the metric DS and non-tempered random variable $\tilde{\beta}$ given in Remark 2.6.3. Now define the linear RDS $\tilde{\Psi} : \mathbb{Z} \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$ by

$$\widetilde{\Psi}(n,\omega) := \begin{pmatrix} \alpha^n & 0\\ 0 & \frac{\widetilde{\beta}(\omega)}{\widetilde{\beta}(\theta^n\omega)} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Since the second term on the diagonal is bounded by $\tilde{\beta}(\omega)$, one can see that A is a forward attractor of $\mathbb{P}\Psi$, with A and U defined as in Example 2.6.5. The pullback mapping along

the sequence $\{\tilde{n}_k + \tilde{m}\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ is

$$\tilde{\Psi}(\tilde{n}_k + \tilde{m}, \theta^{-\tilde{n}_k - \tilde{m}}\omega) = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha^{\tilde{n}_k + \tilde{m}} & 0\\ 0 & \frac{\tilde{\beta}(\theta^{-\tilde{n}_k - \tilde{m}}\omega)}{\tilde{\beta}(\omega)} \end{pmatrix}$$

which, similarly to the lack of forward attraction in Example 2.6.5, shows that A does not pullback U under $\mathbb{P}\tilde{\Psi}$.

Remark 2.6.7. The attractor A for the (autonomous, deterministic) RDS $\mathbb{P}\Phi$ in Example 2.6.4 both forward and pullback attracts deterministic closed sets in its basin of attraction. The RDS in Examples 2.6.5 and 2.6.6 may be obtained by random coordinate transformations of $\mathbb{P}\Phi$, but do not forward, respectively pullback, attract deterministic sets in their basins of attraction. It is well known that the class of sets which are attracted by a pullback attractor (the so-called *attraction universe*, see Section 2.9) is not invariant under arbitrary random coordinate transformations [Och99, Remark 8], unlike in the case of local weak attractors (Theorem 2.3.9).

The following example shows that there exist local weak attractors that are not local forward or local pullback attractors.

Example 2.6.8. Let $\alpha > 1$, β , $\tilde{\beta}$ and the metric DS θ be as given in Remark 2.6.3 above. Define the linear RDS $\hat{\Psi} : \mathbb{Z} \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathbb{R}^3$, by

$$\hat{\Psi}(n,\omega) := \begin{pmatrix} \alpha^n & 0 & 0\\ 0 & \frac{\beta(\theta^n \omega)}{\beta(\omega)} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & \frac{\tilde{\beta}(\omega)}{\tilde{\beta}(\theta^n \omega)} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.6.4)

Then the set $\hat{A}(\omega) := \mathbb{P}((1,0,0))$ is not a local pullback or forward attractor for $\mathbb{P}\hat{\Psi}$ with the attracting neighbourhood $\hat{U}(\omega) := B_{\eta}(\hat{A}), \eta \in (0,\sqrt{2})$, since as in Examples 2.6.5 and 2.6.6, the second element on the diagonal hinders forward attraction, whilst the third element on the diagonal hinders pullback attraction. However, \hat{A} is a local weak attractor with forward invariant basin of attraction $B(\hat{A}) = \mathbb{P}^2 \setminus \mathbb{P}(\text{span}\{(0,1,0),(0,0,1)\})$. To see this, first note that for $n \to \infty$, α^n is arbitrarily larger than the other two terms on the diagonal of (2.6.4) with arbitrarily large probability (since θ preserves μ), and then for any deterministic closed set $C \subset B(\hat{A})$,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \mu(\operatorname{dist}_{\mathbb{P}}(\mathbb{P}\hat{\Psi}(n,\omega)C, \hat{A}(\omega)) > \varepsilon) = 0 \qquad \text{for all } \varepsilon > 0.$$

Define the family of deterministic closed sets

$$C_{\zeta} := \mathbb{P}^2 \setminus B_{\zeta}(\mathbb{P}(\operatorname{span}\{(0,1,0),(0,0,1)\}))$$

for $\zeta \in (0, \sqrt{2})$. Since for any closed random set $K(\omega) \subset B(\hat{A})$ and any $\delta > 0$ there exists a ζ such that $\mu(K(\omega) \subset C_{\zeta}) > 1 - \delta$, it follows from [Och99, Theorem 3] that \hat{A} is a local weak attractor.

Finally, we revisit Example 2.6.5 in order to demonstrate the comments on pullback attractor-repeller pairs in Remark 2.5.13 (ii), and we also show that the pullback attractor-repeller pair is also a weak and a past attractor-repeller pair (which will be introduced in Section 2.7).

Example 2.6.9. Consider the RDS in Example 2.6.5.

Pullback attractor-repeller pair. Since Ψ possesses a local pullback attractor A (with pullback attracting neighbourhood U), by Theorem 2.5.11 there must also exist a corresponding pullback repeller R, given by the complement of the basin of attraction B(A). All points in \mathbb{P}^1 except $\mathbb{P}((0,1))$ enter U in forward time, since by ergodicity there exist times $n \in \mathbb{N}$ when α^n is arbitrarily larger than $\beta(\theta^n \omega)/\beta(\omega)$, and then any point may be mapped arbitrarily close to A under $\mathbb{P}\Psi(n,\omega)$. Hence the corresponding local pullback repeller is $R = \mathbb{P}((0,1))$. The pullback mapping of Ψ in backward time is given by

$$\Psi(-n,\theta^n\omega) = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha^{-n} & 0\\ 0 & \frac{\beta(\omega)}{\beta(\theta^n\omega)} \end{pmatrix},$$

for $n \ge 0$. For the sequence $\{n_k + m\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$, this becomes

$$\Psi(-n_k - m, \theta^{n_k + m}\omega) = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha^{-n_k - m} & 0\\ 0 & \alpha^{-N_k^2}\beta(\omega) \end{pmatrix},$$

from which one can see that for any deterministic point $x \in B(R) \setminus R$, one has

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \operatorname{dist}_{\mathbb{P}}(\mathbb{P}\Psi(-n_k - m, \theta^{n_k + m}\omega)x, A) = 0.$$

Note that one starts with a local pullback attractor that pullback attracts an open ball of constant radius, but the corresponding local pullback repeller pullback repels no open ball of constant radius. Since β is arbitrarily large with positive probability, one can see from (2.6.3) that the forward invariant pullback attracting neighbourhood \tilde{U} given by (2.5.1) may be arbitrarily large with positive probability. Then the pullback repelling neighbourhood $V := \overline{\tilde{U}}^c$ used in the proof of Theorem 2.5.11 is arbitrarily small with positive probability.

Weak attractor-repeller pair. Since

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \mu\left(\frac{\beta(\theta^n \omega)/\beta(\omega)}{\alpha^n} > \varepsilon\right) = 0 \quad \text{for all } \varepsilon > 0$$

and

$$\lim_{n\to\infty} \mu\left(\frac{\alpha^{-n}}{\beta(\theta^{-n}\omega)/\beta(\omega)} > \varepsilon\right) = 0 \qquad \text{for all } \varepsilon > 0,$$

one can see that all deterministic closed sets in the respective basins of A and R are weakly attracted and repelled, respectively. Then similarly to Example 2.6.8 above, [Och99, Theorem 3] demonstrates that A is a local weak attractor, and R is a local weak repeller, and by Proposition 2.3.6, (A, R) is a weak attractor-repeller pair of $\mathbb{P}\Psi$.

Past attractor-repeller pair. Now consider the backward time mapping, given by

$$\Psi(-n,\omega) = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha^{-n} & 0\\ 0 & \frac{\beta(\theta^{-n}\omega)}{\beta(\omega)} \end{pmatrix}$$

for $n \ge 0$, from which it is easy to see that R is a local forward repeller of $\mathbb{P}\Psi$ (Definition 2.7.3), with, for example, forward repelling neighbourhood $\tilde{V}(\omega) = B_{\eta}(R)$ for arbitrary $\eta \in (0, \sqrt{2})$. Then (A, R) is a past attractor-repeller pair of $\mathbb{P}\Psi$ (see Theorem 2.7.5).

2.7 Past and future attractor-repeller pairs

The examples in the previous section show that almost sure local attraction may not hold in both the pullback and forward sense. The ergodicity of the metric DS implies that attraction in the past and future are equivalent in terms of weak convergence, i.e. weak pullback and weak forward attraction (Remark 2.2.5), but this is not a strong enough property to ensure equivalence of attraction in the past and future in terms of almost sure convergence, i.e. equivalence of pullback and forward attraction. Furthermore, the local pullback attractor Ain Example 2.6.5 pullback attracts an open ball of constant radius, i.e. A has a uniform pullback attracting neighbourhood (Definition 2.7.4), whilst the corresponding local pullback repeller given by Theorem 2.5.11 does not pullback repel any open ball of constant radius. These facts demonstrate a disparity between the past and future dynamics of the RDS. This leads us to consider the past and future time domains of the system separately, by considering so-called past attractor-repeller pairs and future attractor-repeller pairs. Past attractor-repeller pairs consist of a local forward repeller (Definition 2.7.3) with a uniform forward repelling neighbourhood paired with a corresponding local pullback attractor, and future attractor-repeller pairs are the reverse time versions, that is, a *local forward attractor* (Definition 2.7.2) with a uniform forward attracting neighbourhood paired with a corresponding local pullback repeller. The construction of past attractor-repeller pairs works only in one direction: one constructs the local pullback attractor fiber-wise from the local forward repeller using an Ω -limit set, but there is no analogous method to construct a local forward repeller from a local pullback attractor.

For a past attractor-repeller pair, the corresponding local pullback attractor has a uniform pullback attracting neighbourhood (Theorem 2.7.5) (and similarly for future attractorrepeller pairs). We will need a pullback attractor possessing a uniform attracting neighbourhood in the proof of Proposition 3.3.3, which will subsequently be needed to obtain our analogue of Selgrade's Theorem (Theorem 3.3.6).

Here we will extend the fundamental theory of past and future attractor-repeller pairs for nonautonomous systems to the setting of random dynamical systems, following the presentation given in [KR11, Chapter 4]. We will only make statements and proofs for past attractor-repeller pairs, as corresponding statements for future attractor-repeller pairs are obtained by a reversal of time.

Assumption 2.7.1. Let (X, d) be a compact metric space (hence a Polish space), and φ a continuous RDS with two-sided time ($\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}$ or \mathbb{R}).

Definition 2.7.2. An invariant compact random set A is called a *local forward attractor* if there exists an open random set U with $U(\omega) \supset A(\omega) \mu$ -a.s. such that

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \operatorname{dist}(\varphi(t, \omega) U(\omega), A(\theta_t \omega)) = 0 \qquad \mu\text{-a.s.}$$
(2.7.1)

The random set U is called a *forward attracting neighbourhood of A*.

Definition 2.7.3. An invariant compact random set R is called a *local forward repeller* if there exists an open random set U with $U(\omega) \supset R(\omega) \mu$ -a.s. such that

$$\lim_{t \to -\infty} \operatorname{dist}(\varphi(t,\omega)U(\omega), R(\theta_t \omega)) = 0 \qquad \mu\text{-a.s.}$$
(2.7.2)

The random set U is called a *forward repelling neighbourhood of* R.

Definition 2.7.4. If A is a local weak, forward, pullback or strong attractor with attracting neighbourhood U given by an open ball of constant radius, i.e. $U(\omega) = B_{\eta}(A(\omega))$ for some $\eta > 0$, then U is called a *uniform weak, forward, pullback* or *strong*, respectively *attracting neighbourhood* (and similarly for the definition of a *uniform repelling neighbourhood* in the case of a local weak, forward, pullback or strong repeller).

The theorem below establishes the existence of past attractor-repeller pairs in the setting of random dynamical systems, the proof of which is an adaptation of the version for general nonautonomous systems, given in [KR11, Theorem 4.1].

Theorem 2.7.5. Let R be a local forward repeller with uniform forward repelling neighbourhood $B_{\eta}(R)$ for some $\eta > 0$. Then there exists an almost surely uniquely determined local pullback attractor A given by

$$A := \Omega_{X \setminus B_n(R)}$$

with $A(\omega) \subset X \setminus B_{\eta}(R(\omega))$ almost surely, and such that $B_{\varepsilon}(A)$ is a uniform pullback attracting neighbourhood for A for any $0 < \varepsilon < \eta$. The attractor-repeller pair (A, R) is called a past attractor-repeller pair. Furthermore, (A, R) is a weak attractor-repeller pair and a pullback attractor-repeller pair (the pullback repelling neighbourhood for R may be nonuniform).

Proof. Since R is a forward repeller, for any $\xi \in (0, \eta)$ and for almost all $\omega \in \Omega$ there exists a $T(\omega)$ such that for all $t \ge T(\omega)$

$$\operatorname{dist}(\varphi(-t,\omega)B_{\eta}(R(\omega)), R(\theta_{-t}\omega)) < \xi,$$

or equivalently, $\varphi(-t,\omega)B_\eta(R(\omega)) \subset B_\xi(R(\theta_{-t}\omega))$. Then

$$B_{\eta}(R(\omega)) \subset \varphi(t, \theta_{-t}\omega) B_{\xi}(R(\theta_{-t}\omega)) \quad \text{ for all } t \ge T(\omega),$$

which implies that

$$B_{\eta}(R(\omega)) \subset \bigcap_{t \ge T(\omega)} \varphi(t, \theta_{-t}\omega) \overline{B_{\xi}(R(\theta_{-t}\omega))}$$

and so

$$X \setminus B_{\eta}(R(\omega)) \supset \bigcup_{t \ge T(\omega)} \varphi(t, \theta_{-t}\omega) X \setminus \overline{B_{\xi}(R(\theta_{-t}\omega))}.$$

Let $D_{\xi}(\omega) := X \setminus \overline{B_{\xi}(R(\omega))}$, then we have

$$D_{\xi}(\omega) \supset X \setminus B_{\eta}(R(\omega)) \supset \overline{\bigcup_{t \ge T(\omega)} \varphi(t, \theta_{-t}\omega) D_{\xi}(\theta_{-t}\omega)}.$$
(2.7.3)

Hence the family of open random sets $D_{\xi}, \xi \in (0, \eta)$, are pullback absorbing sets (there exists a measurable absorbtion time by the same argument in the proof of Proposition 2.5.8 (ii)), and by Proposition 2.5.7 their Ω -limit sets give pullback attractors $\Omega_{D_{\xi}}$ that pullback attract the neighbourhoods D_{ξ} . Moreover, by (2.7.3) the $\Omega_{D_{\xi}}$ are all almost surely contained within $X \setminus B_{\eta}(R(\omega))$ and pullback attract this set: hence they pullback attract one another, which due to the invariance of the $\Omega_{D_{\xi}}$ (Theorem 2.5.6) means that for arbitrary $\xi_1, \xi_2 \in (0, \eta), \ \Omega_{D_{\xi_1}}(\omega) = \Omega_{D_{\xi_2}}(\omega)$ for almost all $\omega \in \Omega$. Then there exists an almost surely unique local pullback attractor A with $A(\omega) \subset X \setminus B_\eta(R(\omega))$ almost surely, that pullback attracts the D_{ξ} . Since for any $\varepsilon \in (0, \eta)$ there exists a $\xi \in (0, \eta)$ such that $B_{\varepsilon}(A(\omega)) \subset D_{\xi}(\omega), A$ pullback attracts $B_{\varepsilon}(A)$, which may serve as a uniform pullback attracting neighbourhood for A.

We now demonstrate the fact that (A, R) is a weak attractor-repeller pair. It follows from Theorem 2.7.8 (i), that R is also a local weak repeller with basin of repulsion $B(R) = X \setminus A$, and then by the reverse time version of Proposition 2.3.6, A is the corresponding local weak attractor.

Finally, (A, R) is a pullback attractor-repeller pair: since A is a local weak attractor with corresponding local weak repeller R, and A is a local pullback attractor, it follows from Theorem 2.5.11 that R is the corresponding pullback repeller.

- *Remark* 2.7.6. (i) In the case of a general nonautomonous dynamical system different forward repellers may give rise to the same pullback attractor, although these nonunique past repellers converge in backward time (see [KR11, Proposition 4.5]). For an RDS, since Theorem 2.7.5 shows that a past attractor-repeller pair is also a weak attractor-repeller pair, Proposition 2.3.6 demonstrates that the local pullback attractor corresponds to an almost surely unique local forward repeller.
 - (ii) Example 2.6.9 demonstrates a past attractor-repeller pair.

Definition 2.7.7. For the future time domain version of Theorem 2.7.5, i.e. beginning with a local forward attractor A and obtaining a local pullback repeller R, the pair (A, R) is called a *future attractor-repeller pair*.

The following theorem describes the dynamics of a past attractor-repeller pair. The proof of this result is an adaptation of the version for nonautonomous systems, given in [KR11, Theorem 4.4].

Theorem 2.7.8. Let (A, R) be a past attractor-repeller pair. Then the following statements *hold:*

(i) Convergence in backward time: let $K \subset X \setminus A(\omega)$ be a compact set. Then

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \operatorname{dist}(\varphi(-t, \omega)K, R(\theta_{-t}\omega)) = 0 \qquad \mu\text{-a.s.}$$

(ii) Pullback convergence: let C be a compact random set such that

$$\liminf_{t \to \infty} \operatorname{dist}(C(\theta_{-t}\omega), R(\theta_{-t}\omega)) > 0 \qquad \mu\text{-a.s.},$$
(2.7.4)

then,

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \operatorname{dist}(\varphi(t, \theta_{-t}\omega)C(\theta_{-t}\omega), A(\omega)) = 0 \qquad \mu\text{-a.s.}$$

Proof. Let η and D_{ξ} be as defined in the proof of Theorem 2.7.5; there it was shown that A pullback attracts the sets D_{ξ} .

(i). Since A pullback attracts the D_{ξ} , for almost all $\omega \in \Omega$ there exists a $T(\omega) \ge 0$ such that for all $t \ge T(\omega)$

$$K \cap \varphi(t, \theta_{-t}\omega) D_{\xi}(\theta_{-t}\omega) = \emptyset.$$

Then $\varphi(-t,\omega)K \cap D_{\xi}(\theta_{-t}\omega) = \emptyset$ for all $t \ge T(\omega)$, that is, $\operatorname{dist}(\varphi(-t,\omega)K, R(\theta_{-t}\omega)) \le \xi$.

(ii). By (2.7.4), for almost all $\omega \in \Omega$ there exists $T(\omega) \ge 0$ and $\xi \in (0, \eta)$ such that for all $t \ge T(\omega)$, $C(\theta_{-t}\omega) \subset D_{\xi}(\theta_{-t}\omega)$, and since A pullback attracts D_{ξ} , A also pullback attracts C.

Remark 2.7.9. Suppose that $\{R_0, \ldots, R_n\}$ is a finite set of local forward repellers with

$$X = R_0(\omega) \supseteq R_1(\omega) \supseteq \cdots \supseteq R_n(\omega) = \emptyset$$
(2.7.5)

holding almost surely, and let (A_i, R_i) , $i \in \{0, ..., n\}$, be the corresponding past attractorrepeller pairs. Since by Theorem 2.7.5 the past attractor-repeller pairs are also weak attractor-repeller pairs, Theorem 2.3.10 implies that the corresponding pullback attractors are also almost surely nested:

$$\emptyset = A_n(\omega) \subsetneq A_{n-1}(\omega) \subsetneq \cdots \subsetneq A_0(\omega) = X \qquad \mu\text{-a.s.}$$
(2.7.6)

The definitions of *past* and *future Morse decompositions* are given by Definition 2.3.11. The following result gives some basic properties of past Morse sets, and is the analogue of [KR11, Proposition 4.7] for nonautonomous systems.

Proposition 2.7.10. The Morse sets of a past Morse decomposition $\{M_1, \ldots, M_n\}$ are invariant compact random sets that are almost surely nonempty and pairwise disjoint, and are uniformly isolated, *i.e.* there exists a $\beta > 0$ such that for $i \neq j$

$$B_{\beta}(M_i(\omega)) \cap B_{\beta}(M_j(\omega)) = \emptyset \qquad \mu\text{-}a.s$$

Proof. Theorem 2.7.5 states that past attractor-repeller pairs are also weak attractor-repellers pairs, and then most of the statements here follow from Lemma 2.3.14. Theorem 2.7.5 states that the past attractor-repeller pair (A, R) corresponding to a local forward repeller R with uniform forward repelling neighbourhood $B_{\eta}(R)$ for some $\eta > 0$, satisfies $A(\omega) \cap B_{\eta}(R(\omega)) = \emptyset$ almost surely; the fact that the Morse sets are uniformly isolated is then a simple consequence of this uniform isolation of each past attractor-repeller pair.

The following theorem shows that random variables which are bounded away from the repeller boundaries are pullback attracted to the Morse sets; the proof is an adaptation of the version for nonautonomous systems, given in [KR11, Theorem 4.9].

Theorem 2.7.11. Let $\{M_1, \ldots, M_n\}$ be a past Morse decomposition formed from the sequence of past attractor-repeller pairs (A_i, R_i) , $i \in \{0, \ldots, n\}$. Then for any random variable x satisfying

$$\liminf_{t \to \infty} \operatorname{dist}(x(\theta_{-t}\omega), \bigcup_{i=1}^{n-1} \partial R_i(\theta_{-t}\omega)) > 0 \qquad \mu\text{-a.s.}$$
(2.7.7)

one has

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \operatorname{dist}(\varphi(t, \theta_{-t}\omega) x(\theta_{-t}\omega), \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} M_{i}(\omega)) = 0 \qquad \mu\text{-a.s.}$$

Proof. First note that the invariance of the forward repellers and pullback attractors implies that (2.7.5) and (2.7.6) hold on a θ -invariant set of full measure, $\tilde{\Omega} \subset \Omega$. Define $\tilde{\Omega}_i := \{\omega \in \tilde{\Omega}: x(\omega) \in R_{i-1}(\omega) \setminus R_i(\omega)\}, i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, then the $\tilde{\Omega}_i$ form a partition of $\tilde{\Omega}$. Also define

 $\mathbb{T}_i(\omega) := \{t \in \mathbb{T} : \theta_t \omega \in \tilde{\Omega}_i\}$, then for all $\omega \in \tilde{\Omega}$ the $\mathbb{T}_i(\omega)$ form a partition of \mathbb{T} . The condition (2.7.7) implies that for almost all $\omega \in \tilde{\Omega}$

$$\liminf_{t \to -\infty, t \in \mathbb{T}_i(\omega)} \operatorname{dist}(x(\theta_t \omega), R_i(\theta_t \omega)) > 0$$

and hence by Theorem 2.7.8, for almost all $\omega \in \tilde{\Omega}$

$$\lim_{t \to \infty, t \in \mathbb{T}_i(\omega)} \operatorname{dist}(\varphi(t, \theta_{-t}\omega) x(\theta_{-t}\omega), A_i(\omega)) = 0.$$
(2.7.8)

Now assume there exists $\varepsilon > 0$, and a sequence $t_n \to \infty$ with $t_n \in \mathbb{T}_i(\omega)$ such that

$$\operatorname{dist}(\varphi(t_n, \theta_{-t_n}\omega) x(\theta_{-t_n}\omega), M_i(\omega)) > \varepsilon \quad \text{for all } n \in \mathbb{N}.$$
(2.7.9)

By compactness one may assume that for $n \to \infty$, $\varphi(t_n, \theta_{-t_n}\omega)x(\theta_{-t_n}\omega) \to y \in R_{i-1}(\omega)$. Also, by (2.7.8), $y \in A_i(\omega)$, and so $y \in M_i(\omega)$, contradicting (2.7.9). It follows that for almost all $\omega \in \Omega$

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \operatorname{dist}(\varphi(t, \theta_{-t}\omega) x(\theta_{-t}\omega), \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} M_i(\omega)) = 0.$$

Remark 2.7.12. Comparing Theorems 2.7.11 and 2.7.8, note that we have not shown forward repulsion to the Morse sets in analogy to Theorem 2.7.8 (i). In the case of nonautonomous systems there exists a counter-example to such convergence [KR11, p. 80], but we have not as yet proved or disproved this for RDS.

2.8 Local strong attractors

We make the following definition of a *local strong attractor*, which is a compact random set that is both a local forward and local pullback attractor.

Definition 2.8.1. An invariant compact random set A is called a *local strong attractor* if there is an open random set U with $U(\omega) \supset A(\omega) \mu$ -a.s. such that both

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \operatorname{dist}(\varphi(t, \omega)U(\omega), A(\theta_t \omega)) = 0 \quad \mu\text{-a.s.},$$

and

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \operatorname{dist}(\varphi(t, \theta_{-t}\omega)U(\theta_{-t}\omega), A(\omega)) = 0 \quad \mu\text{-a.s.}$$

The random set U is called a *strong attracting neighbourhood of* A. The set

$$B(A)(\omega) := \{ x \in X \colon \varphi(t, \omega) x \in U(\theta_t \omega) \text{ for some } t \ge 0 \}$$

is called the *basin of attraction of* A. A local strong attractor is called *trivial* if $\mu(A(\omega) \in \{\emptyset, X\}) = 1$.

Definition 2.8.2. An invariant compact random set R is called a *local strong repeller* if there is an open random set U with $U(\omega) \supset R(\omega) \mu$ -a.s. such that both

$$\lim_{t \to -\infty} \operatorname{dist}(\varphi(t, \omega)U(\omega), R(\theta_t \omega)) = 0 \quad \mu\text{-a.s.},$$

and

$$\lim_{t\to -\infty} \operatorname{dist}(\varphi(t,\theta_{-t}\omega)U(\theta_{-t}\omega),R(\omega))=0 \quad \mu\text{-a.s}$$

The random set U is called a *strong repelling neighbourhood of* A. The set

$$B(R)(\omega) := \{ x \in X : \varphi(t, \omega) x \in U(\theta_t \omega) \text{ for some } t \le 0 \}$$

is called the *basin of repulsion of* R. A local strong repeller is called *trivial* if $\mu(A(\omega) \in \{\emptyset, X\}) = 1$.

In the next chapter it will be shown that for a projected linear RDS with a local strong attractor with a uniform strong attracting neighbourhood there exists a corresponding local strong repeller with a uniform strong repelling neighbourhood (Theorem 3.3.5). Example 2.6.9 shows that strong attractor-repeller pairs need not exist in general, since there the repeller is both a local pullback and forward repeller, hence is a strong repeller (with a nonuniform neighbourhood), but the corresponding attractor is not a local forward attractor.

2.9 Discussion

We shall mainly discuss pullback attractor-repeller pairs. The examples in Section 2.6 make use of non-tempered random variables, and this may be considered pathological. In the theory of global pullback attractors it is usual to consider pullback attraction in the universe of tempered random sets [IS01], which we shall now explain. A universe is a family of random sets \mathcal{D} such that if D, D' are random sets such that $D' \subset D$ and $D \in \mathcal{D}$, then also $D' \in \mathcal{D}$. An invariant compact random set $A \in \mathcal{D}$ is called a \mathcal{D} pullback attractor if A pullback attracts all random sets $D \in \mathcal{D}$ (it is easy to see that such a pullback attractor is unique). A random set D is called a *tempered random set* if there exists an $x \in X$ and a tempered real random variable r such that $D(\theta_t \omega) \subset B_{r(\theta_t \omega)}(x)$ for all $t \in \mathbb{T}$, and clearly the family of tempered random sets forms a universe. A number of examples of global pullback attractors for tempered random sets have been studied (see [IS01], [Arn98, Chapter 9]). Considering attraction in the universe of tempered random sets is natural since one generally deals with an exponential rate of attraction, and since otherwise one is considering different sets in each fiber (with measurability, as a random set, being the only restriction) and then random sets may 'fly away' too quickly along the θ -orbit. This is the point in Example 2.6.4, where the random set converges to the repeller with a super-exponential rate. The attraction universe of tempered random sets is invariant only under random coordinate changes satisfying a sufficiently strong growth condition (see [IS01]). It is then clear that in the context of local pullback attractors one should also restrict the class of coordinate changes to obtain attraction of the same universe of sets in the basin under that coordinate change. From this point of view the differences between the deterministic Example 2.6.4 and Example 2.6.9 obtained by (the projection of) a nontempered random coordinate change are not so surprising. However, the other aspect which we wish to emphasize is the disparity between the properties of the local pullback attractor and corresponding local pullback repeller in Example 2.6.9; the attraction universe of the local pullback attractor is very different to the attraction universe of the corresponding local pullback repeller. An interesting question is whether or not there exists a sufficiently well behaved, yet interesting for applications, class of RDS for which pullback attractor-repeller pairs have attraction and repulsion universes that are similar (e.g. random sets which are bounded away from the repeller or attractor, respectively).

Since Example 2.6.9 is based on a linear RDS, the fact that A is not a forward attractor is directly linked to the fact that R is not a pullback repeller for a uniform neighbourhood: they are both associated to the same time domain, and linearity means that convergence to A(or lack of) is in correspondence with convergence to R. Indeed, in the linear case a local strong attractor with uniform strong attracting neighbourhood has a corresponding local strong repeller with uniform strong repelling neighbourhood (Theorem 3.3.5). We have not investigated the existence of strong attractor repeller pairs with uniform neighbourhoods in the nonlinear case. Also, in relation to past attractor-repeller pairs, we have not investigated whether there exist systems with local pullback attractors with uniform neighbourhoods but with no corresponding local forward repellers. An interesting question from [Och99, p. 3] is whether every weak attractor is a pullback attractor also pullback attracts some random neighbourhood.

The theory of weak attractor-repeller pairs is much cleaner, although of course at the expense of weaker convergence results. On the other hand, it seems that weak attraction is a sufficiently strong property to obtain many important dynamical results, such as the facts that weak Morse decompositions support all invariant measures (Theorem 2.3.16) and the existence of weak global attractors are in correspondence with the existence of random Lyapunov functions [AS01a].

Chapter 3

Linear random dynamical systems

In this chapter we focus on linear random dynamical systems, in terms of spectral concepts and decompositions into invariant subspaces. Spectral studies of random dynamical systems have so far focused on Lyapunov exponents [Arn98, Con97]. Here we develop an alternative spectral theory based on exponential dichotomies that is related to the Sacker-Sell (or dichotomy) spectrum for nonautonomous differential equations. The original construction due to Sacker and Sell [SS78] requires a compact base space (which can be obtained, for instance, from an almost periodic differential equation). Alternative approaches to the dichotomy spectrum [AS01b, BAG93, Ras09, Ras10, Sie02] hold in the general noncompact case, and we use similar techniques for the construction of the dichotomy spectrum by combining them with ergodic properties of the base flow. We note that the relationship between the dichotomy spectrum and Lyapunov spectrum has also been explored in [JPS87] in the special case that the base space of a random dynamical system is a compact Hausdorff space, but our set-up does not require a topological structure on the base. The dichotomy spectrum for RDS has also been investigated in [WC14] with a different set-up to ours, and we shall discuss this in Section 3.4. We shall demonstrate the utility of the dichotomy spectrum in the bifurcation theory of random dynamical systems in Chapter 4 (Theorem 4.3.1).

Another approach to spectral theory is provided by Selgrade's Theorem [Sel75] (alternatively see [CK00, Theorem 5.2.5]). This states that for a linear flow on a vector bundle with compact base space, and such that the flow on the base space is chain transitive, there exists a unique finest Morse decomposition of the induced flow on the projective bundle. This allows one to define the Morse spectrum: for each Morse set in the finest Morse decomposition one takes the set of limit points as time tends to infinity of finite time exponential growth rates for trajectories starting in the Morse set, and the Morse spectrum is then the union over all of the Morse sets of these sets of limit points (see [Grü00] for this formulation, and [CK00, Chapter 5] for the original formulation using (ε , T)-chains). The relationship between the Lyapunov, dichotomy, and Morse spectral concepts, among others, are discussed in [CK96, Grü00]. These results have also been extended to the noncompact setting [Ras07, Ras08, CKR08, Ras10], and here we use similar techniques to demonstrate the existence of a (almost surely) unique finest Morse decomposition for projectivized linear RDS.

This chapter is organized as follows. We first introduce the notion of an exponential dichotomy for a linear RDS in Section 3.1, and in Section 3.2 the dichotomy spectrum is defined and fundamental properties of the spectrum are shown, including its relation to the Lyapunov spectrum. In Section 3.3 we demonstrate an analogue of Selgrade's Theorem for RDS using strong attractor-repeller pairs, and we finish with a discussion on the material in this chapter in Section 3.4.

Many of the results in this chapter are extensions to the setting of random dynamical systems of results for linear nonautonomous systems given in [KR11, Chapter 5].

We will use the following notation and assumption in this chapter:

Assumption 3.0.1. Let $\Phi : \mathbb{T} \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$ denote a linear RDS (Definition 1.1.12), and we shall always assume the time set \mathbb{T} is two-sided.

Below we state the Multiplicative Ergodic Theorem of Oseledets [Ose68] for the case of a linear RDS on \mathbb{R}^d with two-sided time (for statements of the theorem in other settings and for proofs see, for example, [Arn98, Via14]).

Theorem 3.0.2 (Oseledets' Multiplicative Ergodic Theorem). Let Φ be a real linear RDS such that the following integrability condition holds:

$$\sup_{t \in [0,1]} \ln^+(\|\Phi(t,\cdot)^{\pm 1}\|) \in L^1(\mu),$$
(3.0.1)

where $\ln^+(x) := \max\{0, \ln(x)\}$. Then there exists a θ -invariant set $\tilde{\Omega} \in \mathcal{F}$ of full measure such that for every $\omega \in \tilde{\Omega}$ the following statements hold:

(i) there exists a direct sum decomposition of \mathbb{R}^d :

$$O_1(\omega) \oplus \cdots \oplus O_p(\omega) = \mathbb{R}^d,$$

- (ii) the O_i , $i \in \{1, ..., p\}$, are invariant, i.e. $\Phi(t, \omega)O_i(\omega) = O_i(\theta_t \omega)$ for all $t \in \mathbb{T}$, and are closed random sets such that $\dim(O_i) := \dim(O_i(\omega))$ is constant on $\tilde{\Omega}$,
- (iii) there exist real numbers, $\lambda_1 < \lambda_2 \cdots < \lambda_p$, such that

$$\lim_{t \to \pm \infty} \frac{1}{|t|} \ln \|\Phi(t,\omega)v\| = \lambda_i \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad v \in O_i(\omega) \setminus \{0\}.$$

The numbers λ_i are called the Lyapunov exponents of Φ , the sets O_i are called the Oseledets subspaces, and dim (O_i) is called the multiplicity of the corresponding Lyapunov exponent λ_i . The set of all Lyapunov exponents $\Lambda := \{\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_p\}$ is called the Lyapunov spectrum of Φ .

3.1 Exponential dichotomies*

An exponential dichotomy is the nonautonomous analogue of hyperbolicity, and describes a splitting of the state space of a linear system into complementary subspaces of initial conditions, for which the growths of the corresponding trajectories are exponentially bounded, in forwards time for one subspace and in backwards time for the other subspace, by distinct exponential growth rates. The subspaces are described using so-called *invariant projectors*.

Definition 3.1.1. An *invariant projector* of a linear RDS Φ is a measurable function P: $\Omega \to \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$ with

 $P(\omega) = P(\omega)^2$ and $P(\theta_t \omega) \Phi(t, \omega) = \Phi(t, \omega) P(\omega)$ for all $t \in \mathbb{T}$ and $\omega \in \Omega$.

^{*}The material in this section follows that of [CDLR13, Section 2].

Definition 3.1.2. A random set M (Definition 1.1.7) is called a *linear random set* if $M(\omega)$ is a linear subspace of \mathbb{R}^d for each $\omega \in \Omega$.

Given linear random sets M_1, M_2 ,

$$\omega \mapsto M_1(\omega) \cap M_2(\omega)$$
 and $\omega \mapsto M_1(\omega) + M_2(\omega)$

are also linear random sets, denoted by $M_1 \cap M_2$ and $M_1 + M_2$, respectively.

The range

$$\mathcal{R}(P) := \left\{ (\omega, x) \in \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d : x \in \mathcal{R}P(\omega) \right\}$$

and the null space

$$\mathcal{N}(P) := \left\{ (\omega, x) \in \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d : x \in \mathcal{N}P(\omega) \right\}$$

of an invariant projector P are invariant linear random sets such that $\mathcal{R}(P) \oplus \mathcal{N}(P) = \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d$.

The following proposition uses the ergodicity of θ to show that the dimensions of the range and the null space of an invariant projector are almost surely constant.

Proposition 3.1.3. Let $P : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$ be an invariant projector of a linear RDS Φ . Then

- (i) The mapping $\omega \mapsto \operatorname{rk} P(\omega)$ is measurable, and
- (ii) $\operatorname{rk} P(\omega)$ is almost surely constant.

Proof. (i) We first show that the mapping $A \mapsto \operatorname{rk} A$ on $\mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$ is lower semi-continuous. For this purpose, let $\{A_k\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence of matrices in $\mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$ which converges to $A \in \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$, and define $r := \operatorname{rk} A$. Then there exist nonzero vectors x_1, \ldots, x_r such that Ax_1, \ldots, Ax_r are linearly independent, which implies that det $[Ax_1, \ldots, Ax_r, x_{r+1}, \ldots, x_d] \neq 0$ for some vectors $x_{r+1}, \ldots, x_d \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Since $\lim_{k \to \infty} A_k = A$, one gets

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \det[A_k x_1, \dots, A_k x_r, x_{r+1}, \dots, x_d] = \det[A x_1, \dots, A x_r, x_{r+1}, \dots, x_d].$$

Hence, there exists a $k_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that vectors $A_k x_1, \ldots, A_k x_r$ are linearly independent for $k \ge k_0$, and thus, $\operatorname{rk} A_k \ge r$ for all $k \ge k_0$. Consequently, the lower semi-continuity of the mapping $A \mapsto \operatorname{rk} A$ is proved. Therefore, the map $\mathbb{R}^{d \times d} \to \mathbb{N}_0, A \mapsto \operatorname{rk} A$ is the limit of a monotonically increasing sequence of continuous functions by [Ton52], and thus is measurable. The proof of this part is complete. (ii) By invariance of P, we get that

$$P(\theta_t \omega) = \Phi(t, \omega) P(\omega) \Phi(t, \omega)^{-1},$$

which implies that $\operatorname{rk} P(\theta_t \omega) = \operatorname{rk} P(\omega)$. This together with ergodicity of θ and measurability of the map $\omega \mapsto \operatorname{rk} P(\omega)$ as shown in (i) gives that $\operatorname{rk} P(\omega)$ is almost surely constant.

According to Proposition 3.1.3, the rank of an invariant projector P can be defined via

$$\operatorname{rk} P := \dim \mathcal{R}(P) := \dim \mathcal{R}P(\omega) \quad \text{for almost all } \omega \in \Omega \,,$$

and one sets

$$\dim \mathcal{N}(P) := \dim \mathcal{N}P(\omega) \quad \text{for almost all } \omega \in \Omega.$$

The following definition of an exponential dichotomy describes uniform exponential splitting of a linear RDS.

Definition 3.1.4. Let Φ be a linear RDS, and let $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$ and $P_{\gamma} : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$ be an invariant projector of Φ . Then Φ is said to admit an *exponential dichotomy* with growth rate γ , constants $\alpha > 0$, $K \ge 1$ and projector P_{γ} if for almost all $\omega \in \Omega$, one has

$$\begin{split} \|\Phi(t,\omega)P_{\gamma}(\omega)\| &\leq K e^{(\gamma-\alpha)t} \quad \text{for all } t \geq 0 \,, \\ \|\Phi(t,\omega)(\mathbb{1}-P_{\gamma}(\omega))\| &\leq K e^{(\gamma+\alpha)t} \quad \text{for all } t \leq 0 \,. \end{split}$$

The following proposition shows that if a linear RDS satisfies the integrability condition of Oseledets' Theorem, then the ranges and null spaces of invariant projectors are given by sums of Oseledets subspaces.

Proposition 3.1.5. Let Φ be a linear RDS which satisfies the integrability condition of Oseledets' Multiplicative Ergodic Theorem 3.0.2. Let $\lambda_1 > \cdots > \lambda_p$ and $O_1(\omega), \ldots, O_p(\omega)$ denote the Lyapunov exponents and the associated Oseledets subspaces of Φ , respectively, and suppose that Φ admits an exponential dichotomy with growth rate $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$ and projector P_{γ} . Then the following statements hold:

- (i) $\gamma \notin \{\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_p\}.$
- (ii) Define $k := \max \{i \in \{0, ..., p\} : \lambda_i > \gamma\}$ with the convention that $\lambda_0 = \infty$. Then for almost all $\omega \in \Omega$, one has

$$\mathcal{N}P(\omega) = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{k} O_i(\omega) \quad and \quad \mathcal{R}P(\omega) = \bigoplus_{i=k+1}^{p} O_i(\omega).$$

Proof. (i) Suppose to the contrary that $\gamma = \lambda_k$ for some $k \in \{1, \ldots, p\}$. Because of the Multiplicative Ergodic Theorem 3.0.2, we have that for almost all $\omega \in \Omega$

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{t} \ln \|\Phi(t,\omega)v\| = \lambda_k = \gamma \quad \text{for all } v \in O_k(\omega) \setminus \{0\}.$$
(3.1.1)

On the other hand, for almost all $\omega \in \Omega$ and for all $v \in \mathcal{R}P_{\gamma}(\omega)$ we get $\|\Phi(t,\omega)v\| \leq Ke^{(\gamma-\alpha)t}\|v\|$ for all $t \geq 0$. Thus,

$$\limsup_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{t} \ln \|\Phi(t, \omega)v\| \le \gamma - \alpha \quad \text{for all } v \in \mathcal{R}P_{\gamma}(\omega) \,,$$

which together with (3.1.1) implies that $O_k(\omega) \cap \mathcal{R}P_{\gamma}(\omega) = \{0\}$. Similarly, using the fact that

$$\lim_{t \to -\infty} \frac{1}{t} \ln \|\Phi(t, \omega)v\| = \lambda_k = \gamma \quad \text{for all } v \in O_k(\omega) \setminus \{0\}$$

and Definition 3.1.4, we obtain that $O_k(\omega) \cap \mathcal{N}P_{\gamma}(\omega) = \{0\}$. Consequently, $O_k(\omega) = \{0\}$ almost surely, which leads to a contradiction.

(ii) Let $v \in \mathcal{R}P_{\gamma}(\omega) \setminus \{0\}$ be arbitrary. Then, according to Definition 3.1.4 and the definition of k we obtain almost surely that

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{t} \ln \|\Phi(t, \omega)v\| \le \gamma - \alpha < \lambda_k.$$
(3.1.2)

Now we write v in the form $v = v_i + v_{i+1} + \cdots + v_p$, where $i \in \{1, \dots, p\}$ with $v_i \neq 0$ and

 $v_j \in O_j(\omega)$ for all $j = i, \ldots, p$. Using the fact that for $j \in \{i, \ldots, p\}$ with $v_j \neq 0$

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{t} \ln \|\Phi(t, \omega) v_j\| = \lambda_j \le \lambda_i,$$

we obtain that

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{t} \ln \|\Phi(t, \omega)v\| = \lambda_i,$$

which together with (3.1.2) implies that $i \ge k+1$ and therefore $\mathcal{R}P_{\gamma}(\omega) \subset \bigoplus_{i=k+1}^{p} O_{i}(\omega)$ almost surely. Similarly, we also get that $\mathcal{N}P_{\gamma}(\omega) \subset \bigoplus_{i=1}^{k} O_{i}(\omega)$ almost surely. On the other hand,

$$\mathbb{R}^{d} = \mathcal{N}P_{\gamma}(\omega) \oplus \mathcal{R}P_{\gamma}(\omega) = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{k} O_{i}(\omega) \oplus \bigoplus_{i=k+1}^{p} O_{i}(\omega).$$

Consequently, we have that $\mathcal{R}P_{\gamma}(\omega) = \bigoplus_{i=k+1}^{p} O_{i}(\omega)$ and $\mathcal{N}P_{\gamma}(\omega) = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{k} O_{i}(\omega)$ hold for almost all $\omega \in \Omega$, and the proof is complete.

The monotonicity of the exponential function implies the following basic criteria for the existence of exponential dichotomies.

Lemma 3.1.6. Suppose that the linear RDS Φ admits an exponential dichotomy with growth rate γ and projector P_{γ} . Then the following statements are fulfilled:

- (i) If $P_{\gamma} \equiv \mathbb{1}$ almost surely, then Φ admits an exponential dichotomy with growth rate ζ and invariant projector $P_{\zeta} \equiv \mathbb{1}$ for all $\zeta > \gamma$.
- (ii) If $P_{\gamma} \equiv 0$ almost surely, then Φ admits an exponential dichotomy with growth rate ζ and invariant projector $P_{\zeta} \equiv 0$ for all $\zeta < \gamma$.

Definition 3.1.7. Given $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$, a function $g : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^d$ is called γ^+ -exponentially bounded if $\sup_{t \in \mathbb{R}^+_0} ||g(t)|| e^{-\gamma t} < \infty$. Accordingly, one says that a function $g : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^d$ is γ^- exponentially bounded if $\sup_{t \in \mathbb{R}^-_0} ||g(t)|| e^{-\gamma t} < \infty$.

We define for all $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$

$$\mathcal{S}^{\gamma} := \left\{ (\omega, x) \in \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d : \Phi(\cdot, \omega) x \text{ is } \gamma^+ \text{-exponentially bounded} \right\},\$$

and

$$\mathcal{U}^{\gamma} := \left\{ (\omega, x) \in \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d : \Phi(\cdot, \omega) x \text{ is } \gamma^- \text{-exponentially bounded} \right\}.$$

It is obvious that S^{γ} and U^{γ} are invariant linear random sets of Φ , and given $\gamma \leq \zeta$, the relations $S^{\gamma} \subset S^{\zeta}$ and $U^{\gamma} \supset U^{\zeta}$ are fulfilled.

The relationship between the projectors of exponential dichotomies with growth rate γ and the sets S^{γ} and \mathcal{U}^{γ} will now be discussed. The proof of the following result is adapted from the corresponding version for nonautonomous systems given in [KR11, Proposition 5.5].

Proposition 3.1.8. If the linear RDS Φ admits an exponential dichotomy with growth rate γ and projector P_{γ} , then $\mathcal{N}(P_{\gamma}) = \mathcal{U}^{\gamma}$ and $\mathcal{R}(P_{\gamma}) = S^{\gamma}$ almost surely.

Proof. Suppose that Φ admits an exponential dichotomy with growth rate γ , constants α , K and projector P_{γ} . This means that for almost all $\omega \in \Omega$, one has

$$\|\Phi(t,\omega)P_{\gamma}(\omega)\| \le Ke^{(\gamma-\alpha)t} \quad \text{for all } t \ge 0,$$

$$\|\Phi(t,\omega)(\mathbb{1}-P_{\gamma}(\omega))\| \le Ke^{(\gamma+\alpha)t} \quad \text{for all } t \le 0.$$

(3.1.3)

We now prove the relation $\mathcal{N}(P_{\gamma}) = \mathcal{U}^{\gamma}$ almost surely. (\supset) Choose $(\omega, x) \in \mathcal{U}^{\gamma}$ with ω in the full measure set $F \in \mathcal{F}$ where both (3.1.3) and Birkhoff's Ergodic Theorem hold, and with x arbitrary. We have that $\|\Phi(t, \omega)x\| \leq Ce^{\gamma t}$ for all $t \leq 0$ and some real constant C > 0. Write $x = x_1 + x_2$ with $x_1 \in \mathcal{R}P_{\gamma}(\omega)$ and $x_2 \in \mathcal{N}P_{\gamma}(\omega)$. By Birkhoff's Ergodic Theorem there exists a sequence $t_i \to -\infty$ such that for all $i \in \mathbb{N}$ one has $\theta_{t_i} \omega \in F$, and hence

$$\|x_1\| = \|\Phi(-t_i, \theta_{t_i}\omega)\Phi(t_i, \omega)P_{\gamma}(\omega)x\| = \|\Phi(-t_i, \theta_{t_i}\omega)P_{\gamma}(\theta_{t_i}\omega)\Phi(t_i, \omega)x\|$$

$$\leq Ke^{-(\gamma-\alpha)t_i}\|\Phi(t_i, \omega)x\| \leq CKe^{-(\gamma-\alpha)t_i}e^{\gamma t_i} = CKe^{\alpha t_i}.$$

The right hand side of this inequality converges to zero in the limit $i \to \infty$. This implies $x_1 = 0$, and thus, $(\omega, x) \in \mathcal{N}(P_{\gamma})$. (\subset) Choose $(\omega, x) \in \mathcal{N}(P_{\gamma})$. Thus, for all $t \leq 0$ and almost all $\omega \in \Omega$, the relation $\|\Phi(t, \omega)x\| \leq Ke^{(\gamma+\alpha)t}\|x\|$ is fulfilled. This means that $\Phi(\cdot, \omega)x$ is γ^- -exponentially bounded. The proof of the statement concerning the range of the projector is treated analogously.

3.2 The dichotomy spectrum*

In this section we introduce the dichotomy spectrum for random dynamical systems. The dichotomy spectrum is defined as the set of values γ for which a linear RDS Φ does not admit an exponential dichotomy with growth rate γ . The growth rates $\gamma = \pm \infty$ are not excluded from our considerations; one says that Φ admits an exponential dichotomy with growth rate ∞ if there exists a $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$ such that Φ admits an exponential dichotomy with growth rate γ and projector $P_{\gamma} \equiv 1$. Accordingly, one says that Φ admits an exponential dichotomy with growth rate $-\infty$ if there exists a $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$ such that Φ admits an exponential dichotomy with φ admits an exponential dichotomy with growth rate $-\infty$ if there exists a $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$ such that Φ admits an exponential dichotomy with growth rate γ and projector $P_{\gamma} \equiv 0$. In what follows we use the notation $\overline{\mathbb{R}} := \mathbb{R} \cup \{-\infty, \infty\}$ for the extended real line.

Definition 3.2.1. The *dichotomy spectrum* of a linear RDS Φ is defined by

 $\Sigma := \left\{ \gamma \in \overline{\mathbb{R}} : \Phi \text{ does not admit an exponential dichotomy with growth rate } \gamma \right\}.$

The corresponding *resolvent set* is defined by $\rho := \overline{\mathbb{R}} \setminus \Sigma$.

The aim of the following lemma is to analyse the topological structure of the resolvent set. The proof is an adaptation of the version for nonautonomous systems, given in [KR11, Lemma 5.10].

Lemma 3.2.2. Consider the resolvent set ρ of a linear RDS Φ . Then $\rho \cap \mathbb{R}$ is open. More precisely, for all $\gamma \in \rho \cap \mathbb{R}$, there exists an $\varepsilon > 0$ such that $B_{\varepsilon}(\gamma) \subset \rho$. Furthermore, the relation $\operatorname{rk} P_{\zeta} = \operatorname{rk} P_{\gamma}$ is (almost surely) fulfilled for all $\zeta \in B_{\varepsilon}(\gamma)$ and every invariant projector P_{γ} and P_{ζ} of the exponential dichotomies of Φ with growth rates γ and ζ , respectively.

Proof. Choose $\gamma \in \rho$ arbitrarily. Since Φ admits an exponential dichotomy with growth rate γ , there exists an invariant projector P_{γ} and constants $\alpha > 0$, $K \ge 1$ such that for

^{*}The material in this section follows that of [CDLR13, Section 3].

almost all $\omega \in \Omega$, one has

$$\begin{split} \|\Phi(t,\omega)P_{\gamma}(\omega)\| &\leq K e^{(\gamma-\alpha)t} \quad \text{for all } t \geq 0 \,, \\ \|\Phi(t,\omega)(\mathbb{1}-P_{\gamma}(\omega))\| &\leq K e^{(\gamma+\alpha)t} \quad \text{for all } t \leq 0 \,. \end{split}$$

Set $\varepsilon := \frac{1}{2}\alpha$, and choose $\zeta \in B_{\varepsilon}(\gamma)$. It follows that for almost all $\omega \in \Omega$,

$$\begin{split} \|\Phi(t,\omega)P_{\gamma}(\omega)\| &\leq K e^{(\zeta-\frac{\alpha}{2})t} \quad \text{for all } t \geq 0\,, \\ \|\Phi(t,\omega)(\mathbb{1}-P_{\gamma}(\omega))\| &\leq K e^{(\zeta+\frac{\alpha}{2})t} \quad \text{for all } t \leq 0\,. \end{split}$$

This yields $\zeta \in \rho$, and it follows that $\operatorname{rk} P_{\zeta} = \operatorname{rk} P_{\gamma}$ for any projector P_{ζ} of the exponential dichotomy with growth rate ζ . This finishes the proof of this lemma.

The next lemma relates the topological structure of the resolvent set to the invariant projectors. The proof is an adaptation of the version for nonautonomous systems given in [KR11, Lemma 5.11].

Lemma 3.2.3. Consider the resolvent set ρ of a linear RDS Φ , and let $\gamma_1, \gamma_2 \in \rho \cap \mathbb{R}$ such that $\gamma_1 < \gamma_2$. Moreover, choose invariant projectors P_{γ_1} and P_{γ_2} for the corresponding exponential dichotomies with growth rates γ_1 and γ_2 . Then the relation $\operatorname{rk} P_{\gamma_1} \leq \operatorname{rk} P_{\gamma_2}$ holds. In addition, $[\gamma_1, \gamma_2] \subset \rho$ is fulfilled if and only if $\operatorname{rk} P_{\gamma_1} = \operatorname{rk} P_{\gamma_2}$, and in this case one has that $P_{\gamma} = P_{\zeta}$ almost surely for all $\gamma, \zeta \in [\gamma_1, \gamma_2]$.

Proof. The relation $\operatorname{rk} P_{\gamma_1} \leq \operatorname{rk} P_{\gamma_2}$ is a direct consequence of Proposition 3.1.8, since $S^{\gamma_1} \subset S^{\gamma_2}$ and $\mathcal{U}^{\gamma_1} \supset \mathcal{U}^{\gamma_2}$. Now assume that $[\gamma_1, \gamma_2] \subset \rho$. Arguing contrapositively, suppose that $\operatorname{rk} P_{\gamma_1} \neq \operatorname{rk} P_{\gamma_2}$, and choose invariant projectors $P_{\zeta}, \zeta \in (\gamma_1, \gamma_2)$, for the exponential dichotomies of Φ with growth rate ζ . Define

$$\zeta_0 := \sup \left\{ \zeta \in [\gamma_1, \gamma_2] : \operatorname{rk} P_{\zeta} \neq \operatorname{rk} P_{\gamma_2} \right\}.$$

Due to Lemma 3.2.2, there exists an $\varepsilon > 0$ such that $\operatorname{rk} P_{\zeta_0} = \operatorname{rk} P_{\zeta}$ for all $\zeta \in B_{\varepsilon}(\zeta_0)$. This is a contradiction to the definition of ζ_0 . Conversely, let $\operatorname{rk} P_{\gamma_1} = \operatorname{rk} P_{\gamma_2}$, then Proposition 3.1.8 together with the fact that $S^{\gamma_1} \subset S^{\gamma_2}$ and $\mathcal{U}^{\gamma_1} \supset \mathcal{U}^{\gamma_2}$ yields that $\mathcal{R}(P_{\gamma_1}) =$ $\mathcal{R}(P_{\gamma_2})$ and $\mathcal{N}(P_{\gamma_1}) = \mathcal{N}(P_{\gamma_2})$ almost surely, hence $P_{\gamma_1} = P_{\gamma_2}$ almost surely and P_{γ_2} is also an invariant projector of the exponential dichotomy with growth rate γ_1 . Thus, one obtains for almost all $\omega \in \Omega$,

$$\|\Phi(t,\omega)P_{\gamma_2}(\omega)\| \le K_1 e^{(\gamma_1 - \alpha_1)t} \quad \text{for all } t \ge 0$$

for some $K_1 \ge 1$ and $\alpha_1 > 0$, and

$$\left\|\Phi(t,\omega)(\mathbb{1}-P_{\gamma_2}(\omega))\right\| \le K_2 e^{(\gamma_2+\alpha_2)t} \quad \text{for all } t \le 0$$

with some $K_2 \ge 1$ and $\alpha_2 > 0$. For all $\gamma \in [\gamma_1, \gamma_2]$ these two inequalities imply, by setting $K := \max \{K_1, K_2\}$ and $\alpha := \min \{\alpha_1, \alpha_2\}$, that for almost all $\omega \in \Omega$

$$\begin{split} \|\Phi(t,\omega)P_{\gamma_2}(\omega)\| &\leq K e^{(\gamma-\alpha)t} \quad \text{for all } t \geq 0 \,, \\ \|\Phi(t,\omega)(\mathbb{1}-P_{\gamma_2}(\omega))\| &\leq K e^{(\gamma+\alpha)t} \quad \text{for all } t \leq 0 \,. \end{split}$$

This means that $\gamma \in \rho$, and thus, $[\gamma_1, \gamma_2] \subset \rho$. Now for arbitrary $\gamma, \zeta \in [\gamma_1, \gamma_2]$ with $\gamma \leq \zeta$ one has $\operatorname{rk} P_{\gamma} \leq \operatorname{rk} P_{\zeta}$, and since the relation $\operatorname{rk} P_{\gamma_1} = \operatorname{rk} P_{\gamma_2}$ also holds, one must have that $\operatorname{rk} P_{\gamma} = \operatorname{rk} P_{\zeta}$. Then Proposition 3.1.8 together with the fact that $S^{\gamma} \subset S^{\zeta}$ and $\mathcal{U}^{\gamma} \supset \mathcal{U}^{\zeta}$ yields that $\mathcal{R}(P_{\gamma}) = \mathcal{R}(P_{\zeta})$ and $\mathcal{N}(P_{\gamma}) = \mathcal{N}(P_{\zeta})$ almost surely, and hence $P_{\gamma} = P_{\zeta}$ almost surely.

For an arbitrarily chosen $a \in \mathbb{R}$, define

$$[-\infty, a] := (-\infty, a] \cup \{-\infty\}, \qquad [a, \infty] := [a, \infty) \cup \{\infty\}$$

and

$$[-\infty, -\infty] := \{-\infty\}, \qquad [\infty, \infty] := \{\infty\}, \qquad [-\infty, \infty] := \overline{\mathbb{R}}.$$

The following *Spectral Theorem* shows that the dichotomy spectrum consists of at least one and at most d closed intervals; it is an extension of the corresponding result for nonautonomous systems given in [KR11, Theorem 5.12] to the setting of random dynamical systems.

Theorem 3.2.4. Let Φ be a linear RDS with dichotomy spectrum Σ . Then there exists an $n \in \{1, ..., d\}$ such that

$$\Sigma = [a_1, b_1] \cup \dots \cup [a_n, b_n]$$

with $-\infty \leq a_1 \leq b_1 < a_2 \leq b_2 < \cdots < a_n \leq b_n \leq \infty$.

Proof. Due to Lemma 3.2.2, the resolvent set $\rho \cap \mathbb{R}$ is open. Thus, $\Sigma \cap \mathbb{R}$ is the disjoint union of closed intervals. The relation $(-\infty, b_1] \subset \Sigma$ implies $[-\infty, b_1] \subset \Sigma$, because the assumption of the existence of a $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$ such that Φ admits an exponential dichotomy with growth rate γ and projector $P_{\gamma} \equiv 0$ leads to $(-\infty, \gamma] \subset \rho$ using Lemma 3.1.6, and this is a contradiction. Analogously, it follows from $[a_n, \infty) \subset \Sigma$ that $[a_n, \infty] \subset \Sigma$. To show the relation $n \leq d$, assume to the contrary that $n \geq d + 1$. Thus, there exist

$$\zeta_1 < \zeta_2 < \cdots < \zeta_d \in \rho$$

such that the d + 1 intervals $(-\infty, \zeta_1), (\zeta_1, \zeta_2), \ldots, (\zeta_d, \infty)$ have nonempty intersection with the spectrum Σ . It follows from Lemma 3.2.3 that

$$0 \leq \operatorname{rk} P_{\zeta_1} < \operatorname{rk} P_{\zeta_2} < \cdots < \operatorname{rk} P_{\zeta_d} \leq d$$

is fulfilled for invariant projectors P_{ζ_i} of the exponential dichotomy with growth rate ζ_i , $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$. This implies either rk $P_{\zeta_1} = 0$ or rk $P_{\zeta_d} = d$. Thus, either

$$[-\infty, \zeta_1] \cap \Sigma = \emptyset$$
 or $[\zeta_d, \infty] \cap \Sigma = \emptyset$

is fulfilled, and this is a contradiction. To show $n \ge 1$, assume that $\Sigma = \emptyset$. This implies $\{-\infty, \infty\} \subset \rho$. Thus, there exist $\zeta_1, \zeta_2 \in \mathbb{R}$ such that Φ admits an exponential dichotomy with growth rate ζ_1 and projector $P_{\zeta_1} \equiv 0$ and an exponential dichotomy with growth rate ζ_2 and projector $P_{\zeta_2} \equiv \mathbb{1}$. Applying Lemma 3.2.3, one gets $(\zeta_1, \zeta_2) \cap \Sigma \neq \emptyset$. This contradiction yields $n \ge 1$ and finishes the proof of the theorem.

Each spectral interval is associated to a so-called spectral manifold, which are refinements of the stable and unstable manifolds obtained by the ranges and null spaces of invariant projectors of exponential dichotomies. These are described in the following theorem, the proof of which is an adaptation of the version for nonautonomous systems given in [KR11, Theorem 5.14].

Theorem 3.2.5. Consider the dichotomy spectrum

$$\Sigma = [a_1, b_1] \cup \dots \cup [a_n, b_n]$$

of the linear RDS Φ and define the invariant projectors $P_{\gamma_0} := 0$, $P_{\gamma_n} := 1$, and for $i \in \{1, \ldots, n-1\}$, choose $\gamma_i \in (b_i, a_{i+1})$ and projectors P_{γ_i} of the exponential dichotomy of Φ with growth rate γ_i . Then the sets

$$\mathcal{W}_i(\omega) := \mathcal{R}(P_{\gamma_i}(\omega)) \cap \mathcal{N}(P_{\gamma_{i-1}}(\omega)) \text{ for all } i \in \{1, \dots, n\}$$

are linear subsets of \mathbb{R}^d for all $\omega \in \Omega$, the so-called spectral manifolds, such that for almost all $\omega \in \Omega$ they form a direct sum decomposition

$$\mathcal{W}_1(\omega) \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathcal{W}_n(\omega) = \mathbb{R}^d$$

with $W_i(\omega) \neq \{0\}$ for $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$.

Proof. The sets W_1, \ldots, W_n obviously have linear fibers. We first show that $W_i(\omega) \neq \{0\}$ almost surely for all $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. If $W_1(\omega) \neq \{0\}$ does not hold almost surely, then Proposition 3.1.3 implies that $P_{\gamma_1}(\omega) = 0$ almost surely, and Lemma 3.1.6 implies $[-\infty, \gamma_1] \cap \Sigma = \emptyset$, which is a contradiction. A similar argument may be used for W_n . In the case 1 < i < n, using Lemma 3.2.3, one obtains

$$\dim \mathcal{W}_i = \dim \left(\mathcal{R}(P_{\gamma_i}) \cap \mathcal{N}(P_{\gamma_{i-1}}) \right) = \operatorname{rk} P_{\gamma_i} + d - \operatorname{rk} P_{\gamma_{i-1}} - \dim \left(\mathcal{R}(P_{\gamma_i}) + \mathcal{N}(P_{\gamma_{i-1}}) \right) \ge 1.$$

Now the relation $\mathcal{W}_1(\omega) \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathcal{W}_n(\omega) = \mathbb{R}^d \mu$ -a.s. will be proved. For $1 \le i < j \le n$, due to Proposition 3.1.8, the relations $\mathcal{W}_i \subset \mathcal{R}(P_{\gamma_i})$ and $\mathcal{W}_j \subset \mathcal{N}(P_{\gamma_{j-1}}) \subset \mathcal{N}(P_{\gamma_i})$ are almost surely fulfilled. This yields that, almost surely,

$$\mathcal{W}_i(\omega) \cap \mathcal{W}_j(\omega) \subset \mathcal{R}(P_{\gamma_i}(\omega)) \cap \mathcal{N}(P_{\gamma_i}(\omega)) = \{0\}.$$

One also obtains

$$\mathbb{R}^{d} = \mathcal{W}_{1}(\omega) + \mathcal{N}(P_{\gamma_{1}}(\omega)) = \mathcal{W}_{1}(\omega) + \mathcal{N}(P_{\gamma_{1}}(\omega)) \cap \left(\mathcal{R}(P_{\gamma_{2}}(\omega)) + \mathcal{N}(P_{\gamma_{2}}(\omega))\right)$$
$$= \mathcal{W}_{1}(\omega) + \mathcal{N}(P_{\gamma_{1}}(\omega)) \cap \mathcal{R}(P_{\gamma_{2}}(\omega)) + \mathcal{N}(P_{\gamma_{2}}(\omega)) = \mathcal{W}_{1}(\omega) + \mathcal{W}_{2}(\omega) + \mathcal{N}(P_{\gamma_{2}}(\omega)).$$

using the fact that for linear subspaces $E, F, G \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ with $E \supset G$ fulfill $E \cap (F + G) = (E \cap F) + G$. It follows inductively that

$$\mathbb{R}^{d} = \mathcal{W}_{1}(\omega) + \dots + \mathcal{W}_{n}(\omega) + \mathcal{N}(P_{\gamma_{n}}(\omega)) = \mathcal{W}_{1}(\omega) + \dots + \mathcal{W}_{n}(\omega)$$

for almost all $\omega \in \Omega$.

Remark 3.2.6. If the linear RDS Φ under consideration fulfils the conditions of the Multiplicative Ergodic Theorem, then Proposition 3.1.5 implies that the spectral manifolds W_i of the above theorem are given by direct sums of Oseledets subspaces.

The remaining part of this section on the dichotomy spectrum will be devoted to the study of boundedness properties of the spectrum. Firstly, a criterion for boundedness from above and below is provided by the following proposition.

Proposition 3.2.7. Consider a linear RDS Φ , let Σ denote the dichotomy spectrum of Φ , and define

$$\alpha^{\pm}(\omega) := \begin{cases} \ln^{+} \left(\|\Phi(1,\omega)^{\pm 1}\| \right) & : \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}, \\ \ln^{+} \left(\sup_{t \in [0,1]} \|\Phi(t,\omega)^{\pm 1}\| \right) & : \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}. \end{cases}$$

Then Σ *is bounded from above if and only if*

$$\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\omega\in\Omega}\alpha^+(\omega)<\infty\,,$$

and Σ is bounded from below if and only if

$$\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\omega\in\Omega} \alpha^-(\omega) < \infty$$
 .

Consequently, if the dichotomy spectrum Σ is bounded, then Φ satisfies the integrability condition of the Multiplicative Ergodic Theorem.

Proof. Suppose that Σ is bounded from above. Then there exist $K \ge 1$ and $\Gamma \in \mathbb{R}$ such that for almost all $\omega \in \Omega$

$$\|\Phi(t,\omega)\| \leq Ke^{\Gamma t}$$
 for all $t \geq 0$,

which implies that $\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\omega\in\Omega} \alpha^+(\omega) \leq \ln(K) + |\Gamma|$. On the other hand, suppose that $\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\omega\in\Omega} \alpha^+(\omega) < \infty$. Then there exists a full measure set $F \in \mathcal{F}$ such that for all $\omega \in F$ we have $\alpha^+(\omega) \leq \beta$ for some positive number β . Define

$$\widetilde{\Omega} := \bigcap_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \theta_n F \, .$$

Due to the measure preserving property of θ , we get that $\mu(\widetilde{\Omega}) = 1$. Then for all $\omega \in \widetilde{\Omega}$, we have

$$\|\Phi(t,\omega)\| \le \|\Phi(t-\lfloor t\rfloor,\theta_{\lfloor t\rfloor}\omega)\| \|\Phi(1,\theta_{\lfloor t\rfloor-1}\omega)\|\cdots\|\Phi(1,\omega)\| \le e^{\beta(t+1)} \quad \text{for all } t\ge 0.$$

Let $\gamma > \beta$ be arbitrary and $\varepsilon < \gamma - \beta$. Then

$$\|\Phi(t,\omega)\| \le e^{\beta} e^{(\gamma-\varepsilon)t}$$
 for all $t \ge 0$,

which implies that Φ admits an exponential dichotomy with growth rate γ and projector $P_{\gamma} \equiv 1$, and hence $\Sigma \subset [-\infty, \gamma)$. Similarly, we get that Σ is bounded from below if and only if $\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\omega \in \Omega} \alpha^{-}(\omega) < \infty$. This finishes the proof of this proposition. \Box

The following example shows that there exist linear random dynamical systems which satisfy the integrability condition of the Multiplicative Ergodic Theorem, but which have no bounded dichotomy spectrum.

Example 3.2.8. Let $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mu)$ be a nonatomic probability space and $\theta \colon \mathbb{Z} \times \Omega \to \Omega$ be a metric dynamical system which is ergodic. Then there exists, by using [Hal56, Lemma 2,

p. 71], a measurable set U of the form

$$U = \bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} \bigcup_{j=0}^{k} \theta_j U_k, \qquad (3.2.1)$$

where $U_i, i \in \mathbb{N}$, are measurable sets such that

(i) for all $k, \ell \in \mathbb{N}, i \in \{0, \dots, k\}$ and $j \in \{0, \dots, \ell\}$, we have

$$\theta_j U_k \cap \theta_i U_\ell = \emptyset$$
 whenever $k \neq \ell$ or $i \neq j$,

(ii)
$$0 < \mu(U_k) \le \frac{1}{k^3}$$
 for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$.

We now define a random variable $a:\Omega\to\mathbb{R}$ by

$$a(\omega) := \begin{cases} 1 : \omega \in \Omega \setminus U, \\ k : k \text{ is even and } \omega \in \theta_j U_k, \\ \frac{1}{k} : k \text{ is odd and } \omega \in \theta_j U_k, \end{cases}$$

with $j \in \{0, ..., k\}$. Using the random variable a, we define a discrete-time scalar linear RDS $\Phi : \mathbb{Z} \times \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ by

$$\Phi(n,\omega) = \begin{cases} a(\theta_{n-1}\omega)\cdots a(\omega) & : n \ge 1, \\ 1 & : n = 0, \\ a(\theta_{-1}\omega)^{-1}\cdots a(\theta_n\omega)^{-1} : n \le -1. \end{cases}$$

A direct computation yields that

$$\mathbb{E}\ln^{+}(\|\Phi(1,\omega)\|) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (2k+1)\mu(U_{2k})\ln(2k) \le \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (2k+1)\frac{\ln(2k)}{8k^{3}} < \infty,$$

and

$$\mathbb{E} \ln^{+}(\|\Phi(1,\omega)^{-1}\|) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (2k+2)\mu(U_{2k+1})\ln(2k+1)$$
$$\leq \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (2k+2)\frac{\ln(2k+1)}{(2k+1)^{3}} < \infty.$$

Then the linear system Φ satisfies the integrability condition of the Multiplicative Ergodic Theorem. The fact that the dichotomy spectrum of Φ is unbounded from above follows from

$$\|\Phi(n,\omega)\| = k^n$$
 for all $\omega \in U_k$ with k even and $0 \le n \le k+1$.

Similarly, one can prove that the spectrum is unbounded from below.

Remark 3.2.9. [JPS87, Theorem 2.3] contains the following statement. Let M be a compact connected Hausdorff space and $\Psi: M \times \mathbb{T} \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$ a continuous linear cocycle with two-sided time, over a continuous dynamical system $\phi: \mathbb{T} \times M \to M$ equipped with a unique ergodic measure μ , then

$$\partial \Sigma \subset \Lambda \subset \Sigma.$$

In particular, the endpoints of the intervals in the dichotomy spectrum are given by Lyapunov exponents. Example 3.2.8 shows that the first inclusion does not hold in general for a linear RDS. The metric DS in this example may be chosen to satisfy the above set-up (e.g. an irrational circle rotation equipped with the Lebesgue measure); the difference here arises from the lack of continuity of the cocycle with respect to the base, which allows the time-one mapping of the cocycle to be arbitrarily large with positive probability, whilst still satisfying the integrability condition of Oseledets Theorem. The second inclusion was shown for linear RDS in Proposition 3.1.5.

3.3 Morse decompositions for linear systems

A linear RDS $\Phi \colon \mathbb{T} \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$ induces an RDS $\mathbb{P}\Phi \colon \mathbb{T} \times \Omega \times \mathbb{P}^{d-1} \to \mathbb{P}^{d-1}$ on the real projective space, given by

$$\mathbb{P}\Phi(t,\omega)\mathbb{P}(x) := \mathbb{P}(\Phi(t,\omega)x)$$

for every $(t, \omega, x) \in \mathbb{T} \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d$ (see Section 1.1: *Linear RDS*, *projected linear RDS*, p. 25). Since the real projective space is a compact metric space, one can analyse the dynamics of $\mathbb{P}\Phi$ using attractor-repeller pairs, as discussed in Chapter 2. The main result in this section is Theorem 3.3.6, which is an analogue of Selgrade's Theorem on the existence of a unique finest Morse decomposition of $\mathbb{P}\Phi$. This is achieved using strong attractor-repeller pairs with uniform attracting and repelling neighbourhoods, the existence of which are demonstrated in Theorem 3.3.5. The main ingredient in the proof of Theorem 3.3.6 is the fact that a strong attractor-repeller pair corresponds to a direct sum decomposition of the state space, and then since the state space is finite dimensional, there can only exist a finite number of nested attractor-repeller pairs. The fact that the attractor and corresponding repeller are linear subspaces relies on Proposition 3.3.3, which itself relies on a local pullback attractor having a uniform pullback attracting neighbourhood. For this reason we cannot proceed with the techniques employed here using pullback attractor-repeller pairs, since Remark 2.5.13 (ii) asserts that a local pullback attractor with uniform pullback attracting neighbourhood may have a corresponding local pullback repeller with a nonuniform pullback repelling neighbourhood. We are also unable to prove an analogue of Selgrade's Theorem using past or future attractor-repeller pairs — see Remark 3.3.4.

The following two lemmas will be needed in this section.

Lemma 3.3.1 ([KR11, Lemma A1]). For all $\eta > 0$ there exists a $\delta \in (0, 1)$ such that for all nonzero vectors $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ satisfying

$$\frac{\langle x, y \rangle^2}{\|x\|^2 \|y\|^2} \ge 1 - \delta,$$

one has

$$d_{\mathbb{P}}(\mathbb{P}x,\mathbb{P}y) \le \eta$$

Lemma 3.3.2. Let $V, W \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ be linear subspaces with $\dim(W) > \dim(V)$. Then,

$$\operatorname{dist}_{\mathbb{P}}(\mathbb{P}W,\mathbb{P}V) = \sqrt{2}.$$

Proof. Define the linear subspace $V^{\perp} := \{x \in \mathbb{R}^d : \langle x, v \rangle = 0 \text{ for all } v \in V\}$, then the linear subspace $V^{\perp} \cap W$ is nontrivial. Let $w \in (V^{\perp} \cap W) \setminus \{0\}$, then for all $v \in V$ we have

$$d_{\mathbb{P}}(\mathbb{P}w,\mathbb{P}v) = \min\left\{ \left\| \frac{v}{\|v\|} \pm \frac{w}{\|w\|} \right\| \right\}$$
$$= \min\left\{ \sqrt{\left\langle \frac{v}{\|v\|}, \frac{v}{\|v\|} \right\rangle + \left\langle \frac{w}{\|w\|}, \frac{w}{\|w\|} \right\rangle \pm 2\left\langle \frac{v}{\|v\|}, \frac{w}{\|w\|} \right\rangle} \right\}$$
$$= \sqrt{2}$$

Then since $d_{\mathbb{P}}(x,y) \leq \sqrt{2}$ for all $x, y \in \mathbb{P}^{d-1}$, the result is implied.

3.3.1 Past attractor-repeller pairs for linear systems

The following result shows that for a projected linear RDS, a pullback attractor with a uniform pullback attracting neighbourhood almost surely corresponds to a linear subspace. The proof is an adaptation of the nonautonomous case, given in [KR11, Proposition 5.18].

Proposition 3.3.3. Let A be a nontrivial local pullback attractor of $\mathbb{P}\Phi$ with pullback attracting neighbourhood given by the random open ball $B_{\eta}(A)$, for some constant $\eta > 0$. Then for almost all $\omega \in \Omega$ one has that for all compact sets $C \subset \mathbb{S}^{d-1} \setminus \mathbb{P}^{-1}A(\omega)$,

$$\lim_{t \to -\infty} \frac{\sup_{u \in \mathbb{S}^{d-1} \cap \mathbb{P}^{-1}A(\omega)} \|\Phi(t,\omega)u\|}{\inf_{v \in C} \|\Phi(t,\omega)v\|} = 0.$$

Moreover, the set $\mathbb{P}^{-1}A(\omega)$ is almost surely a linear subspace of \mathbb{R}^d .

Proof. The proof of this proposition is divided into five parts. For fixed $\omega \in \Omega$ let C denote an arbitrary compact set such that $C \subset \mathbb{S}^{d-1} \setminus \mathbb{P}^{-1}A(\omega)$. For any two vectors $u, v \in \mathbb{R}^d$, define the linear subspace $L_{u,v} := \operatorname{span}(\{u, v\})$.

Part 1. It will be shown that for almost all $\omega \in \Omega$, nonzero $u \in \mathbb{P}^{-1}A(\omega)$ and $v \in C$ such that $\mathbb{P}u$ is a boundary point of $A(\omega) \cap \mathbb{P}L_{u,v}$ relative to $\mathbb{P}L_{u,v}$, one has

$$\lim_{t \to -\infty} \frac{\|\Phi(t,\omega)u\|}{\|\Phi(t,\omega)v\|} = 0.$$
(3.3.1)

By the definition of A,

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \operatorname{dist}_{\mathbb{P}}(\mathbb{P}\Phi(t, \theta_{-t}\omega)B_{\eta}(A(\theta_{-t}\omega)), A(\omega)) = 0 \qquad \mu\text{-a.s.}$$
(3.3.2)

By Lemma 3.3.1 there exists a $\delta \in (0,1)$ such that $d_{\mathbb{P}}(\mathbb{P}x,\mathbb{P}y) \leq \frac{\eta}{2}$ holds for all $x,y \in \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\}$ with

$$\frac{\langle x, y \rangle^2}{\|x\|^2 \|y\|^2} \ge 1 - \delta.$$
(3.3.3)

Let $F \in \mathcal{F}$ be the set of full measure where the limit in (3.3.2) holds and A is nontrivial, and assume there exists an $\omega \in F$ such that (3.3.1) does not hold, then there exists a $\gamma > 0$ and a sequence $\{t_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ with $\lim_{n \to \infty} t_n = -\infty$ such that

$$\frac{\|\Phi(t_n,\omega)v\|}{\|\Phi(t_n,\omega)u\|} \leq \gamma, \qquad \text{for all } n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

For nonzero $c \in \mathbb{R}$ with |c| sufficiently small, this implies (using the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality) that for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ the following holds:

$$\frac{\langle \Phi(t_n,\omega)(cv+u), \Phi(t_n,\omega)u\rangle^2}{\|\Phi(t_n,\omega)(cv+u)\|^2 \|\Phi(t_n,\omega)u\|^2} \ge 1-\delta.$$

Hence, for |c| > 0 sufficiently small, by (3.3.3) one has that

$$\operatorname{dist}_{\mathbb{P}}(\mathbb{P}\Phi(t_n,\omega)\mathbb{P}(cv+u), A(\theta_{t_n}\omega)) \leq \frac{\eta}{2}$$
 for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Then,

$$dist_{\mathbb{P}}(\mathbb{P}(cv+u), A(\omega)) = \lim_{n \to \infty} dist_{\mathbb{P}}(\mathbb{P}(cv+u), A(\omega))$$
$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} dist_{\mathbb{P}}(\mathbb{P}\Phi(-t_n, \theta_{t_n}\omega) \underbrace{\mathbb{P}\Phi(t_n, \omega)\mathbb{P}(cv+u)}_{\in B_\eta(A(\theta_{t_n}\omega))}, A(\omega))$$
$$= 0,$$

using the pullback attraction to A given in (3.3.2). This is a contradiction since $\mathbb{P}u$ was assumed to be a boundary point of $A(\omega) \cap \mathbb{P}L_{u,v}$ in $\mathbb{P}L_{u,v}$, and hence (3.3.1) holds for all $\omega \in F$.

Part 2. It will be shown that for each $\omega \in F$ (with F defined as in Part 1), that for arbitrary nonzero $u \in \mathbb{P}^{-1}A(\omega)$ and $v \in C$, the intersection $A(\omega) \cap \mathbb{P}L_{u,v}$ is a singleton. First note that any point in $\mathbb{P}L_{u,v} \setminus \{\mathbb{P}u\}$ is given by $\mathbb{P}(v + cu)$ for some $c \in \mathbb{R}$. It follows from Part 1 that for all $\omega \in F$

$$\lim_{t \to -\infty} \frac{\langle \Phi(t,\omega)(v+cu), \Phi(t,\omega)v \rangle^2}{\|\Phi(t,\omega)(v+cu)\|^2 \|\Phi(t,\omega)v\|^2} = 1$$

if $\mathbb{P}u$ is a boundary point of $A(\omega) \cap \mathbb{P}L_{u,v}$ relative to $\mathbb{P}L_{u,v}$. This then implies together with Lemma 3.3.1 that

$$\lim_{t\to -\infty} d_{\mathbb{P}}(\mathbb{P}\Phi(t,\omega)\mathbb{P}(v+cu),\mathbb{P}\Phi(t,\omega)\mathbb{P}v) = 0 \qquad \mu\text{-a.s}$$

If $\mathbb{P}(u + cv) \in A(\omega)$ then this implies that there is a $T \leq 0$ such that $\mathbb{P}\Phi(t, \omega)\mathbb{P}v \in B_{\eta}(A(\theta_t \omega))$ for all $t \leq T$, and then

$$\operatorname{dist}_{\mathbb{P}}(\mathbb{P}v, A(\omega)) = \lim_{t \to -\infty} \operatorname{dist}_{\mathbb{P}}(\mathbb{P}\Phi(-t, \theta_t \omega) \mathbb{P}\Phi(t, \omega) \mathbb{P}v, A(\omega))$$
$$=0$$

which is a contradiction since $\mathbb{P}v$ is in the compact set $\mathbb{P}C$. Therefore, $A(\omega) \cap \mathbb{P}L_{u,v}$ consists of a single point.

Part 3. It now follows directly from Parts 1 and 2 that for almost all $\omega \in \Omega$, and all

nonzero $u \in \mathbb{P}^{-1}A(\omega)$ and $v \in C$ one has

$$\lim_{t \to -\infty} \frac{\|\Phi(t,\omega)u\|}{\|\Phi(t,\omega)v\|} = 0.$$

Part 4. It is now shown that $\mathbb{P}^{-1}A(\omega)$ is a linear subspace of $\mathbb{R}^d \mu$ almost surely. Part 2 asserted that for all $\omega \in F$ and for $u \in \mathbb{P}^{-1}A(\omega)$ and $v \in C$, $A(\omega) \cap \mathbb{P}L_{u,v}$ consists of a single point. Now this implies that for any two nonzero vectors $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^d$, we have μ -a.s. that $A(\omega) \cap \mathbb{P}L_{x,y}$ is either a single point, the empty set, or equals the set $\mathbb{P}L_{x,y}$. This implies that $\mathbb{P}^{-1}A(\omega)$ is a linear subspace.

Part 5. We finally show that

$$\lim_{t \to -\infty} \frac{\sup_{u \in \mathbb{S}^{d-1} \cap \mathbb{P}^{-1}A(\omega)} \|\Phi(t,\omega)u\|}{\inf_{v \in C} \|\Phi(t,\omega)v\|} = 0 \qquad \mu\text{-a.s.}$$

Let F be as defined in Part 1, and assume there exists an $\omega \in F$ such that the above does not hold, so that there exists a sequence of times $\{t_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ with $\lim_{n\to\infty} t_n = -\infty$, and sequences $\{u_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ in $\mathbb{S}^{d-1} \cap \mathbb{P}^{-1}A(\omega)$ and $\{v_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ in C, which by compactness one may assume converge with $\lim_{n\to\infty} u_n = u$ for some $u \in \mathbb{S}^{d-1} \cap \mathbb{P}^{-1}A(\omega)$ and $\lim_{n\to\infty} v_n = v$ for some $v \in C$, and there exists a $\gamma > 0$ such that the following holds:

$$\frac{\|\Phi(t_n,\omega)v_n\|}{\|\Phi(t_n,\omega)u_n\|} \le \gamma \quad \text{ for all } n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Then, similarly to Part 1, for all nonzero $c \in \mathbb{R}$ with |c| sufficiently small, this implies that for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$

$$\frac{\langle \Phi(t_n,\omega)(cv_n+u_n), \Phi(t_n,\omega)u_n \rangle^2}{\|\Phi(t_n,\omega)(cv_n+u_n)\|^2 \|\Phi(t_n,\omega)u_n\|^2} \ge 1-\delta$$

holds, with $\delta \in (0, 1)$ chosen as in Part 1. Hence by Lemma 3.3.1, for |c| > 0 sufficiently small one obtains

$$\operatorname{dist}_{\mathbb{P}}(\mathbb{P}\Phi(t_n,\omega)\mathbb{P}(cv_n+u_n), A(\theta_{t_n}\omega)) \leq \eta \quad \text{ for all } n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Part 2 gave that $A(\omega) \cap \mathbb{P}L_{u,v}$ is a singleton, and so $\mathbb{P}(cv + u) \notin A(\omega)$. Hence there exists an $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ and a $\beta > 0$ such that $\mathbb{P}(cv_n + u_n) \notin B_{\beta}(A(\omega))$ for all $n \ge n_0$. Then

using the pullback attraction to A in a similar argument to the end of Part 1, we get a contradiction.

Remark 3.3.4. By the above proposition and Theorem 2.7.5, given a local forward repeller R of $\mathbb{P}\Phi$ with a uniform forward repelling neighbourhood, one obtains a corresponding local pullback attractor A that almost surely corresponds to a linear subspace. In the nonautonomous theory the local forward repeller is nonunique, and may be chosen to be the projection of any invariant linear subspace complementary to the pullback attractor, so that one obtains a direct sum decomposition by the local forward repeller and local pullback attractor [KR11, Proposition 5.19]. For RDS we have seen (Remark 2.7.6 (i)) that R is almost surely unique, and we are unable to determine whether R must also necessarily correspond to a linear subspace, which we shall need to show the existence of a unique finest Morse decomposition in Theorem 3.3.6. For this reason we proceed by considering local strong attractors. Given a local strong attractor of $\mathbb{P}\Phi$ with a uniform strong attracting neighbourhood, since it is also a local forward attractor, by Theorem 2.7.5 there exists a corresponding local pullback repeller with a uniform pullback repelling neighbourhood. Then, since they are both pullback objects we can apply Proposition 3.3.3 to obtain that they both correspond to linear subspaces. Furthermore, it is shown in Theorem 3.3.5 that the local pullback repeller is in fact a local strong repeller, and that the attractor-repeller pair forms a direct sum decomposition of \mathbb{R}^d .

3.3.2 Strong attractor-repeller pairs for linear systems

The following theorem demonstrates the existence of strong attractor-repeller pairs with uniform neighbourhoods for projected linear RDS. The proof uses techniques from the proof of [KR11, Theorem 5.26] on the existence of so-called all-time attractor-repeller pairs for projected linear nonautonomous systems.

Theorem 3.3.5. Given a local strong attractor A of $\mathbb{P}\Phi$ with attracting neighbourhood $B_{\eta}(A)$ for some $\eta > 0$, then the compact random set R given by the pullback α -limit set

$$R(\omega) := \bigcap_{\tau \ge 0} \bigcup_{t \ge \tau} \mathbb{P}\Phi(-t, \theta_t \omega)(\mathbb{P}^{d-1} \setminus B_\eta(A(\theta_t \omega)))$$

is a local strong repeller with a repelling neighbourhood given by $B_{\varepsilon}(R)$ for some $\varepsilon > 0$. Furthermore, the following properties hold almost surely:

(*i*) A and R are uniformly isolated:

$$B_{\eta}(A(\omega)) \cap R(\omega) = \emptyset \tag{3.3.4}$$

(ii) $\mathbb{P}^{-1}A(\omega)$ and $\mathbb{P}^{-1}R(\omega)$ are linear subspaces and form a direct sum decomposition

$$\mathbb{P}^{-1}A(\omega) \oplus \mathbb{P}^{-1}R(\omega) = \mathbb{R}^d, \qquad (3.3.5)$$

such that the dimensions of $\mathbb{P}^{-1}A(\omega)$ and $\mathbb{P}^{-1}R(\omega)$ are almost surely constant.

The pair (A, R) is called a strong attractor-repeller pair. Moreover, (A, R) is also a past, future, pullback and weak attractor-repeller pair.

Proof. By the reverse time version of Theorem 2.7.5 the compact random set R is a local pullback repeller such that (i) holds, and (A, R) is also a future, pullback and weak attractor-repeller pair. Next we demonstrate (ii). Since A is a local pullback attractor and R a local pullback repeller, Proposition 3.3.3 asserts that almost surely both $\mathbb{P}^{-1}A(\omega)$ and $\mathbb{P}^{-1}R(\omega)$ are linear subspaces of \mathbb{R}^d . Now define the closed random set $K: \Omega \to 2^{\mathbb{P}^{d-1}}$ by

$$K(\omega) := \begin{cases} \{x \in \mathbb{P}^{d-1} \colon \operatorname{dist}_{\mathbb{P}}(x, R(\omega)) \ge \sqrt{2}\}, & \omega \in F, \\ A(\omega), & \omega \in \Omega \backslash F, \end{cases}$$

where $F \in \mathcal{F}$ is the set of full measure where $\mathbb{P}^{-1}A(\omega)$ and $\mathbb{P}^{-1}R(\omega)$ are linear subspaces. Note that since

$$\operatorname{dist}_{\mathbb{P}}(x, R(\omega)) \ge \sqrt{2} \Leftrightarrow \langle \hat{x}, \hat{\xi} \rangle = 0$$

for any $\hat{x} \in \mathbb{P}^{-1}\{x\}$ and for all $\hat{\xi} \in \mathbb{P}^{-1}R(\omega)$, it means that for $\omega \in F$, $\mathbb{P}^{-1}K(\omega)$ is the orthogonal complement of $\mathbb{P}^{-1}R(\omega)$; hence $\mathbb{P}^{-1}R(\omega) \oplus \mathbb{P}^{-1}K(\omega) = \mathbb{R}^d$, and also $\dim(\mathbb{P}^{-1}K(\omega)) = d - \dim(\mathbb{P}^{-1}R(\omega))$. Note that $\omega \mapsto \dim(\mathbb{P}^{-1}A(\omega))$ is a θ -invariant function, since by the invertibility of Φ and invariance of A,

$$\dim(\mathbb{P}^{-1}A(\omega)) = \dim(\mathbb{P}^{-1}(\mathbb{P}\Phi(t,\omega)A(\omega)))$$
$$= \dim(\mathbb{P}^{-1}A(\theta_t\omega)).$$

Also, since Φ is invertible, for all $\omega \in F$ and for all $t \in \mathbb{T}$, $\mathbb{P}^{-1}(\mathbb{P}\Phi(t,\omega)K(\omega))$ is also a linear subspace of dimension $d - \dim(\mathbb{P}^{-1}R(\omega))$. Since K is a compact set valued function such that $K(\omega) \cap R(\omega) = \emptyset$ μ -a.s., we have by the reversed time version of Theorem 2.7.8 (i) that

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \operatorname{dist}_{\mathbb{P}}(\mathbb{P}\Phi(t,\omega)K(\omega), A(\theta_t \omega)) = 0 \qquad \mu\text{-a.s}$$

Hence by the contrapositive of Lemma 3.3.2, there exists a t > 0 such that

$$\dim(\mathbb{P}^{-1}A(\theta_t\omega)) \ge d - \dim(\mathbb{P}^{-1}R(\omega))$$

and by θ -invariance we have $\dim(\mathbb{P}^{-1}A(\omega)) \ge d - \dim(\mathbb{P}^{-1}R(\omega))$ almost surely. Since $A(\omega) \cap R(\omega) = \emptyset$, we must have $\dim(\mathbb{P}^{-1}A(\omega)) = d - \dim(\mathbb{P}^{-1}R(\omega))$ and hence

$$\mathbb{P}^{-1}A(\omega) \oplus \mathbb{P}^{-1}R(\omega) = \mathbb{R}^d$$
 μ -a.s.

To show that $\dim(\mathbb{P}^{-1}A(\omega))$ is constant μ -a.s., we already have that it is a θ -invariant function and hence just need to show that it is measurable. For a linear random set M in \mathbb{R}^d on a complete probability space, the proof of Corollary 4.7 in [Via14] demonstrates that the measurability of $\operatorname{dist}(\hat{x}, M(\omega))$ for all $\hat{x} \in \mathbb{R}^d$ is equivalent to the measurability of $\operatorname{dist}_{\mathbb{P}}(x, \mathbb{P}M(\omega))$ for all $x \in \mathbb{P}^{d-1}$; hence $\mathbb{P}^{-1}A(\omega)$ is a linear random set in \mathbb{R}^d on F. Then by Lemma 5.2.1 in [Arn98], $\omega \mapsto \dim(\mathbb{P}^{-1}A(\omega))$ is measurable (restricted to F) and so by the ergodicity of θ , $\dim(\mathbb{P}^{-1}A(\omega))$ is almost surely constant.

Next we show that R is a local forward repeller as well as a local pullback repeller. The proof of this is divided into two parts.

Part 1. It will be shown that for almost all $\omega \in \Omega$ and compact sets C such that

 $C \cap A(\omega) = \emptyset$, one has

$$\lim_{t \to -\infty} \inf_{0 \neq v \in \mathbb{P}^{-1}C} \frac{\|\Phi(t,\omega)v_r\|}{\|\Phi(t,\omega)v\|} = \lim_{t \to -\infty} \sup_{0 \neq v \in \mathbb{P}^{-1}C} \frac{\|\Phi(t,\omega)v_r\|}{\|\Phi(t,\omega)v\|}$$
$$= 1$$

where $v = v_a + v_r$ with $v_a \in \mathbb{P}^{-1}A(\omega)$ and $v_r \in \mathbb{P}^{-1}R(\omega)$. The infimum relation follows from

$$\begin{split} \lim_{t \to -\infty} \inf_{0 \neq v \in \mathbb{P}^{-1}C} \frac{\|\Phi(t,\omega)v_r\|}{\|\Phi(t,\omega)v\|} &\geq \left(\lim_{t \to \infty} \sup_{0 \neq v \in \mathbb{P}^{-1}C} \frac{\|\Phi(t,\omega)v_a\|}{\|\Phi(t,\omega)v_r\|} + 1 \right)^{-1} \\ &= \left(\lim_{t \to -\infty} \sup_{v \in \mathbb{P}^{-1}C, v_a \neq 0} \frac{\|v_a\| \|\Phi(t,\omega)\frac{v_a}{\|v_a\|}\|}{\|v_r\| \|\Phi(t,\omega)\frac{v_r}{\|v_r\|}\|} + 1 \right)^{-1} \\ &= 1 \end{split}$$

and

$$\lim_{t \to -\infty} \inf_{0 \neq v \in \mathbb{P}^{-1}C} \frac{\|\Phi(t,\omega)v_r\|}{\|\Phi(t,\omega)v\|} \leq \left(\lim_{t \to -\infty} \sup_{0 \neq v \in \mathbb{P}^{-1}C} \left| 1 - \frac{\|\Phi(t,\omega)v_a\|}{\|\Phi(t,\omega)v_r\|} \right| \right)^{-1} \\
= \left(\lim_{t \to -\infty} \sup_{v \in \mathbb{P}^{-1}C, v_a \neq 0} \left| 1 - \frac{\|v_a\| \|\Phi(t,\omega)\frac{v_a}{\|v_a\|} \|}{\|v_r\| \|\Phi(t,\omega)\frac{v_r}{\|v_r\|} \|} \right| \right)^{-1} \\
= 1.$$

with the last line in each relation above following from Proposition 3.3.3, and the fact that $||v_a||/||v_r||$ is bounded. This fact can be seen by considering the projection $P \in \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$ with range $\mathbb{P}^{-1}A(\omega)$ and null space $\mathbb{P}^{-1}R(\omega)$, which demonstrates that the following set is compact

$$\{v_a \colon v \in \mathbb{P}^{-1}C \cap \mathbb{S}^{d-1}\} = P(\mathbb{P}^{-1}C \cap \mathbb{S}^{d-1}),$$

and that the following set is compact and hence bounded away from zero (since $C \cap A(\omega) = \emptyset$):

$$\{v_r \colon v \in \mathbb{P}^{-1}C \cap \mathbb{S}^{d-1}\} = (\mathbb{1} - P)(\mathbb{P}^{-1}C \cap \mathbb{S}^{d-1}).$$

The supremum relation follows analogously.

Part 2. It will now be shown that for almost all $\omega \in \Omega$ and all compact sets $C \subset \mathbb{P}^{d-1}$ with $C \cap A(\omega) = \emptyset$, one has

$$\lim_{t \to -\infty} \operatorname{dist}_{\mathbb{P}}(\mathbb{P}\Phi(t,\omega)C, R(\theta_t \omega)) = 0.$$
(3.3.6)

By the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality and Proposition 3.3.3 one obtains

$$0 \leq \lim_{t \to -\infty} \sup_{v \in \mathbb{S}^{d-1} \cap \mathbb{P}^{-1}C} \frac{\langle \Phi(t,\omega)v_a, \Phi(t,\omega)v_r \rangle^2}{\|\Phi(t,\omega)v\|^2 \|\Phi(t,\omega)v_r\|^2} \leq \lim_{t \to -\infty} \sup_{v \in \mathbb{S}^{d-1} \cap \mathbb{P}^{-1}C} \frac{\|\Phi(t,\omega)v_a\|^2}{\|\Phi(t,\omega)v\|^2} = 0$$

and

$$\begin{split} 0 &\leq \lim_{t \to -\infty} \sup_{v \in \mathbb{S}^{d-1} \cap \mathbb{P}^{-1}C} \frac{2 |\langle \Phi(t, \omega) v_a, \Phi(t, \omega) v_r \rangle|}{\|\Phi(t, \omega) v\|^2} \\ &\leq \lim_{t \to -\infty} \sup_{v \in \mathbb{S}^{d-1} \cap \mathbb{P}^{-1}C} 2 \frac{\|\Phi(t, \omega) v_a\|}{\|\Phi(t, \omega) v\|} \frac{\|\Phi(t, \omega) v_r\|}{\|\Phi(t, \omega) v\|} \\ &= \lim_{t \to -\infty} \sup_{v \in \mathbb{S}^{d-1} \cap \mathbb{P}^{-1}C} 2 \frac{\|\Phi(t, \omega) v_a\|}{\|\Phi(t, \omega) v\|} \\ &= 0. \end{split}$$

Then since

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\langle \Phi(t,\omega)v,\Phi(t,\omega)v_r\rangle^2}{\|\Phi(t,\omega)v\|^2\|\Phi(t,\omega)v_r\|^2} &= \frac{(\langle \Phi(t,\omega)v_a,\Phi(t,\omega)v_r\rangle + \langle \Phi(t,\omega)v_r,\Phi(t,\omega)v_r\rangle)^2}{\|\Phi(t,\omega)v\|^2\|\Phi(t,\omega)v_r\|^2} \\ &= \frac{\langle \Phi(t,\omega)v_a,\Phi(t,\omega)v_r\rangle^2}{\|\Phi(t,\omega)v\|^2\|\Phi(t,\omega)v_r\|^2} + \frac{\|\Phi(t,\omega)v_r\|^2}{\|\Phi(t,\omega)v\|^2} \\ &+ \frac{2\langle \Phi(t,\omega)v_a,\Phi(t,\omega)v_r\rangle}{\|\Phi(t,\omega)v\|^2}, \end{aligned}$$

it follows by the above and Part 1 that

$$\lim_{t \to -\infty} \sup_{v \in \mathbb{S}^{d-1} \cap \mathbb{P}^{-1}C} \frac{\langle \Phi(t,\omega)v, \Phi(t,\omega)v_r \rangle^2}{\|\Phi(t,\omega)v\|^2 \|\Phi(t,\omega)v_r\|^2} = 1.$$

Using Lemma 3.3.1, this implies the assertion. It follows from (3.3.6) and (3.3.4) that R forward repels a neighbourhood, say $B_{\eta/2}(R)$, and hence it is a local strong repeller, and

(A, R) is also a past attractor-repeller pair.

Below we give the analogue of Selgrade's Theorem for strong Morse decompositions. The proof is an adaptation of that for [KR11, Theorem 5.23] on the existence of a finest past Morse decomposition for a projected linear nonautonomous system.

Theorem 3.3.6. There exists a unique finest strong Morse decomposition $\{M_1, \ldots, M_n\}$ of $\mathbb{P}\Phi$. Moreover, $n \leq d$, and for almost all $\omega \in \Omega$ the Morse sets correspond to a direct sum decomposition:

$$\mathbb{P}^{-1}M_1(\omega) \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathbb{P}^{-1}M_n(\omega) = \mathbb{R}^d.$$

Proof. It is first shown that for any two local pullback attractors A and \tilde{A} that differ on a positive measure set, we have that either $A(\omega) \subset \tilde{A}(\omega)$ or $\tilde{A}(\omega) \subset A(\omega)$, almost surely. In the case that one or both of A and \tilde{A} are trivial this is simple, and so assume that both are nontrivial. Let $F \in \mathcal{F}$ be the set of full measure where Proposition 3.3.3 holds for both A and \tilde{A} , and suppose there is an $\omega \in F$ such that there exist vectors

$$x \in \mathbb{S}^{d-1} \cap (\mathbb{P}^{-1}A(\omega) \setminus \mathbb{P}^{-1}\tilde{A}(\omega)) \quad \text{ and } \quad \tilde{x} \in \mathbb{S}^{d-1} \cap (\mathbb{P}^{-1}\tilde{A}(\omega) \setminus \mathbb{P}^{-1}A(\omega)).$$

By Proposition 3.3.3 one obtains that both

$$\lim_{t \to -\infty} \frac{\|\Phi(t,\omega)x\|}{\|\Phi(t,\omega)\tilde{x}\|} = 0 \quad \text{ and } \quad \lim_{t \to -\infty} \frac{\|\Phi(t,\omega)\tilde{x}\|}{\|\Phi(t,\omega)x\|} = 0,$$

which are contradictory statements. Proposition 3.3.3 also establishes that the ω -sections of local pullback attractors almost surely correspond to linear subspaces. Therefore there are at most d + 1 local strong attractors of $\mathbb{P}\Phi$, namely $\{A_0, \ldots, A_n\}$, $n \leq d$, such that

$$\emptyset = A_0(\omega) \subsetneq A_1(\omega) \subsetneq \cdots \subsetneq A_n(\omega) = \mathbb{P}^{d-1}$$
 μ -a.s.

Let $\{M_1, \ldots, M_n\}$ denote the corresponding strong Morse decomposition, and let $\{\tilde{M}_1, \ldots, \tilde{M}_m\}$ be another strong Morse decomposition obtained from a set of local strong attractors $\{\tilde{A}_0, \ldots, \tilde{A}_m\}, m \leq d$ with $\emptyset = \tilde{A}_0(\omega) \subsetneq \tilde{A}_1(\omega) \subsetneq \cdots \subsetneq \tilde{A}_m(\omega) = \mathbb{P}^{d-1} \mu$ -a.s. Now for each $i \in \{0, \ldots, m\}$, there exists an $n_i \in \{0, \ldots, n\}$ such that $\tilde{A}_i(\omega) = A_{n_i}(\omega)$ al-

most surely. Hence we have that $M_{n_i}(\omega) \subset \tilde{M}_i(\omega)$ almost surely, and $\mathcal{M} := \{M_1, \dots, M_n\}$ is the unique (up to a null set) finest strong Morse decomposition.

Now the decomposition,

$$\mathbb{P}^{-1}M_1(\omega) \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathbb{P}^{-1}M_n(\omega) = \mathbb{R}^d \quad \mu\text{-a.s.}$$

will be shown. Using (3.3.5) we have that, μ -a.s.,

$$\mathbb{R}^{d} = \mathbb{P}^{-1}A_{1}(\omega) \oplus \mathbb{P}^{-1}R_{1}(\omega)$$
$$= \mathbb{P}^{-1}M_{1}(\omega) \oplus (\mathbb{P}^{-1}R_{1}(\omega) \cap (\mathbb{P}^{-1}A_{2}(\omega) \oplus \mathbb{P}^{-1}R_{2}(\omega)))$$
$$= \mathbb{P}^{-1}M_{1}(\omega) \oplus (\mathbb{P}^{-1}R_{1}(\omega) \cap \mathbb{P}^{-1}A_{2}(\omega)) \oplus \mathbb{P}^{-1}R_{2}(\omega)$$
$$= \mathbb{P}^{-1}M_{1}(\omega) \oplus \mathbb{P}^{-1}M_{2}(\omega) \oplus \mathbb{P}^{-1}R_{2}(\omega),$$

where the third line follows from the fact that for linear subspaces $E, F, G \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ with $G \subset E$, the following holds:

$$E \cap (F+G) = (E \cap F) + G.$$

The result then follows by induction.

3.4 Discussion

As noted earlier, the dichotomy spectrum for RDS has also been investigated by Wang and Cao [WC14] with a different set-up to ours, and we shall now describe the key differences in the set-up and results. There the authors consider a random linear skew product, that is, they take an invertible, bounded and continuous linear skew product with a compact metric base space and Banach state space, and then randomize it by placing an ergodic metric DS as the base to this system. Their definition of an exponential dichotomy is weaker than ours, in particular they allow the constants K and ε to be certain random variables, and hence have a nonuniform notion of an exponential dichotomy. Neither one of our set-ups includes the other. They obtain a similar spectral theory and spectral manifolds as we do: under the

3.4 Discussion

assumptions that the spectrum is hyperbolic (i.e. zero is in the spectrum), the compact base is connected and that an integrability condition holds, they obtain a nonempty and bounded spectrum and associated invariant linear spectral manifolds. This contrasts to our theory where we allow the spectrum to be unbounded and nonhyperbolic. It would be interesting to see if it is possible to allow for nonuniformity of the constants within our set-up. Given the importance of the dichotomy spectrum in nonautonomous systems (see the introduction in [WC14] for an overview and the references therein), it will be important to investigate the use of the dichotomy spectrum in analogous situations in random dynamics.

We now discuss the results of Section 3.3. We have established an analogue of Selgrade's Theorem in Theorem 3.3.6 using strong Morse decompositions. As noted in Remark 3.3.4, we required the definition of a local strong attractor in order to obtain that the components of the attractor-repeller pair correspond to linear subspaces. This relied on Propostion 3.3.3, which explicitly uses pullback arguments, i.e. using the fact that pullback convergence is convergence to a fixed set at time zero, and we would not expect to be able to prove directly that a local forward attractor corresponds to a linear subspace. We believe it should be possible to establish that the components of a weak attractor-repeller pair for a projected linear RDS correspond to linear subspaces, by using weak attraction in the pullback sense. Establishing this result would be desirable, as it would then apply to all the other attractor-repeller pair types considered in Chapter 2. However, the analysis proves more difficult as linearity of the set needs to be established using random variables, as opposed to the case of almost sure pullback attraction where one works pointwise in ω from a full measure set. In [CDS04, Theorem 6.1] it is shown that the projection of the Oseledets subspaces form a weak Morse decomposition in the projective space. Since in general the angle between the Oseledets subspaces may not be bounded away from zero, and the Morse sets of a strong Morse decomposition are uniformly isolated (this follows from Theorem 3.3.5 (i)), it follows that the decomposition by Oseledets subspaces will not be a strong Morse decomposition in general. On the other hand, we believe it should be straightforward to prove an analogue of Theorem 6.9 in [Ras09], that is, the projection of the spectral manifolds of the dichotomy spectrum represents a strong Morse decomposition.

The next step from obtaining the existence of a finest Morse decomposition is to define

the *Morse spectrum* and investigate its basic properties; we have yet to do this for RDS and it forms future research. Following the deterministic definition given in [Grü00], a natural definition for the Morse spectrum for a linear RDS Φ is the following. Let $\{M_1, \ldots, M_n\}$ be the finest Morse decomposition of $\mathbb{P}\Phi$, then for each $\omega \in \Omega$, $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ define

$$\Xi(M_i)(\omega) := \{ \xi \in \overline{\mathbb{R}} : \text{ there exists a sequence } \{ (T_k, t_k, x_k) \}_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \text{ with } T_k, t_k \in \mathbb{T}, \\ x_k \in \mathbb{P}^{-1} M(\theta_{t_k} \omega) \setminus \{ 0 \} \text{ such that } \lim_{k \to \infty} T_k = \infty \text{ and } \lim_{k \to \infty} \lambda^{T_k}(\theta_{t_k} \omega, x_k) = \xi \},$$

where

$$\lambda^{T}(\omega, x) := \frac{1}{T} \ln \frac{\left\| \Phi(T, \omega) x \right\|}{\|x\|}$$

is the finite-time Lyapunov exponent. Then the Morse spectrum is given by

$$\Xi(\omega) := \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} \Xi(M_i)(\omega).$$

Given the ergodicity of θ this should be almost surely constant. For nonautonomous systems it has been shown that the Morse spectrum coincides with the dichotomy spectrum [Ras10], and it would be interesting to see if an analogous result can be obtained for random dynamical systems.

Chapter 4

Pitchfork bifurcation with additive noise*

Despite its importance for applications, relatively little progress has been made towards the development of a bifurcation theory for random dynamical systems. Main contributions have been made by Ludwig Arnold and co-workers [Arn98], distinguishing between *phenomenological* (P-) and *dynamical* (D-) bifurcations. P-bifurcations refer to qualitative changes in the profile of densities of stationary probability measures [SN90, HL84]. This concept carries substantial drawbacks such as providing reference only to static properties and not being independent of the choice of coordinates. D-bifurcations refer to the bifurcation of a new invariant measure from a given reference invariant measure, in the sense of weak convergence, and are associated with a qualitative change in the Lyapunov spectrum [Arn98, Theorem 9.2.3]. They have been studied mainly in the case of multiplicative noise [Bax94, CIS99, Wan14], and numerically [ABSH99, KO99].

Here we contribute to the bifurcation theory of random dynamical systems by shedding new light on the influential paper *Additive noise destroys a pitchfork bifurcation* by Crauel and Flandoli [CF98], in which the one-dimensional stochastic differential equation

$$dx_t = \left(\alpha x_t - x_t^3\right)dt + \sigma dW_t, \qquad (4.0.1)$$

^{*}The material in this chapter follows that of [CDLR13, Sections 4 & 5].

with two-sided Wiener process $\{W_t\}_{t\in\mathbb{R}}$ and parameters $\alpha, \sigma \in \mathbb{R}$, was studied. In the deterministic (noise-free) case, $\sigma = 0$, this system has a pitchfork bifurcation of equilibria: if $\alpha < 0$ there is one equilibrium (x = 0) which is globally attractive, and if $\alpha > 0$, the trivial equilibrium is repulsive and there are two additional attractive equilibria $\pm \sqrt{\alpha}$. [CF98] establish the following facts in the presence of noise, i.e. when $|\sigma| > 0$:

- (i) For all α ∈ ℝ, there is a unique invariant measure given by a globally attracting random fixed point {a_α(ω)}_{ω∈Ω}.
- (ii) The Lyapunov exponent associated to $\{a_{\alpha}(\omega)\}_{\omega\in\Omega}$ is negative for all $\alpha\in\mathbb{R}$.

As a result, [CF98] concludes that the pitchfork bifurcation is destroyed by the additive noise. (This refers to the absence of D-bifurcation, as (4.0.1) admits a qualitative change P-bifurcation from a unimodal distribution to a bimodal distribution, see [Arn98, p. 473].) However, we are inclined to argue that the pitchfork bifurcation is not destroyed by additive noise, on the basis of the following additional facts concerning the dynamics near the bifurcation point that we obtain here:

- (i) The attracting random fixed point $\{a_{\alpha}(\omega)\}_{\omega\in\Omega}$ is uniformly attractive only if $\alpha < 0$ (Theorem 4.2.3).
- (ii) At the bifurcation point there is a change in the practical observability of the Lyapunov exponent: when $\alpha < 0$ all finite-time Lyapunov exponents are negative, but when $\alpha > 0$ there is a positive probability to observe positive finite-time Lyapunov exponents, irrespective of the length of time interval under consideration (Theorem 4.2.5).
- (iii) The bifurcation point $\alpha = 0$ is characterized by a qualitative change in the dichotomy spectrum associated to $\{a_{\alpha}(\omega)\}_{\omega\in\Omega}$ (Theorem 4.3.1). In addition, we show that the dichotomy spectrum is directly related to the observability range of the finite-time Lyapunov spectrum (Theorem 4.3.2).

In light of these findings, we thus argue for the recognition of qualitative properties of the dichotomy spectrum as an additional indicator for bifurcations of random dynamical systems. In analogy to the corresponding bifurcation theory for one-dimensional deterministic dynamical systems, we finally study whether the pitchfork bifurcation with additive noise can be characterized in terms of a breakdown of topological equivalence. We recall that two random dynamical systems (θ, φ_1) and (θ, φ_2) are said to be topologically equivalent if there are families $\{h_{\omega}\}_{\omega\in\Omega}$ of homeomorphisms of the state space such that $\varphi_2(t, \omega, h_{\omega}(x)) = h_{\theta_t\omega}(\varphi_1(t, \omega, x))$, almost surely (Definition 1.1.11). We establish the following results for the stochastic differential equation (4.0.1):

- (i) Throughout the bifurcation, i.e. for $|\alpha|$ sufficiently small, the resulting dynamics are topologically equivalent (Theorem 4.4.1).
- (ii) There does not exist a uniformly continuous topological conjugacy between the dynamics of cases with positive and negative parameter α (Theorem 4.4.4).

These results lead us to propose the association of bifurcations of random dynamical systems with a breakdown of *uniform* topological equivalence, rather than the weaker form of general topological equivalence with no requirement on uniform continuity of the involved conjugacy. Note that uniformity of equivalence transformations plays an important role in the notion of equivalence for nonautonomous linear systems (i.e. in contrast to random systems, the base set of nonautonomous systems is not a probability but a topological space), see [Pal79].

This chapter is organized as follows. We first review in Section 4.1 the main results of Crauel and Flandoli [CF98]. We then show in Section 4.2 the change from uniform to nonuniform attractivity of the random fixed points $\{a_{\alpha}(\omega)\}_{\omega\in\Omega}$ at the bifurcation point $\alpha = 0$, and also that there is a positive probability to observe positive finite-time Lyapunov exponents for $\alpha > 0$. In Section 4.3 we demonstrate that at the bifurcation point, one losses hyperbolicity of the dichotomy spectrum obtained from the linearization along the random fixed point. In Section 4.4 we demonstrate the topological equivalence of the systems corresponding to α values sufficiently close to zero, and the lack of uniform topological equivalence between systems with negative and positive α values. Finally, we discuss our results and future work in Section 4.5.

4.1 Existence of a unique random attracting fixed point

We first look at the case where $\sigma = 0$ in (4.0.1) i.e. the deterministic initial value problem

$$\dot{x} = \alpha x - x^3, \quad x(0) = x_0,$$
(4.1.1)

and we denote the solution by $\phi \colon \mathbb{R}_0^+ \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$. For $\alpha < 0$, the ordinary differential equation (4.1.1) has one equilibrium (x = 0) which is globally attractive. For positive α , the trivial equilibrium becomes repulsive, and there are two additional equilibria, given by $\pm \sqrt{\alpha}$, which are attractive. This also means that the global attractor K_{α} of the deterministic equation undergoes a bifurcation from a trivial to a nontrivial object. It is given by

$$K_{\alpha} := \begin{cases} \{0\} : \alpha \leq 0, \\ \left[-\sqrt{\alpha}, \sqrt{\alpha}\right] : \alpha > 0. \end{cases}$$

$$(4.1.2)$$

It was shown in [CF98] that such an attractor bifurcation does not persist to the randomly perturbed system, i.e. for $|\sigma| > 0$, and we will now explain the details.

Since the solutions of (4.0.1) explode in backward time, we need the notion of a local RDS, see [Arn98, Section 1.2] for further details.

Definition 4.1.1. Suppose that $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}$, and $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mu, \theta)$ is a metric DS. A *local continuous* random dynamical system over θ on a topological space X is a measurable mapping

$$\varphi \colon D \to X, \qquad (t, \omega, x) \mapsto \varphi(t, \omega, x)$$

where $D \subset \mathbb{R} \times \Omega \times X$ is a measurable set, with the following properties: For all $\omega \in \Omega$

(i) The random domain

$$D(\omega) := \{(t, x) \in \mathbb{R} \times X : (t, \omega, x) \in D\} \subset \mathbb{R} \times X$$

is nonvoid and open, and

$$\varphi(\omega) \colon D(\omega) \to X, \qquad (t, x) \mapsto \varphi(t, \omega, x)$$

is continuous.

(ii) For each $x \in X$

$$D(\omega, x) := \{ t \in \mathbb{R} \colon (t, \omega, x) \in D \} \subset \mathbb{R}$$

is an open interval containing 0, hence can be written as

$$D(\omega, x) =: (\kappa^{-}(\omega, x), \kappa^{+}(\omega, x)).$$

(iii) $\varphi(\omega)$ satisfies the *local cocycle property*:

$$\varphi(0,\omega) = \mathrm{id}_X$$

and for all $x \in X$ and all $s \in D(\omega, x)$ we have the following property: $t \in D(\theta_s \omega, \varphi(s, \omega, x))$ if and only if $t + s \in D(\omega, x)$. In this case we have,

$$\varphi(t+s,\omega)x = \varphi(t,\theta_s\omega)\varphi(s,\omega)x.$$

Some basic properties of local continuous RDS are given in [Arn98, Theorem 1.2.3]. By [Arn98, Theorem 2.3.36] the stochastic differential equation (4.0.1) generates a local continuous RDS $\varphi : D \to \mathbb{R}$ over the standard metric DS $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mu, \theta)$ representing the Wiener process. Solutions may explode only in backward time, and for each $(\omega, x) \in \Omega \times \mathbb{R}$ we have $D(\omega, x) = (\kappa(\omega, x), \infty)$, where the measurable function $\kappa \colon \Omega \times X \to \mathbb{R}^-$ is the *explosion time* of the trajectory $\varphi(\cdot, \omega)x$ starting at x at time t = 0.

It can be shown [Arn98, p. 474] that for any $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, $|\sigma| > 0$, the Markov semigroup associated with (4.0.1) admits a unique stationary measure $\rho_{\alpha,\sigma}$ which is equivalent to the Lebesgue measure, with density

$$p_{\alpha,\sigma}(x) = N_{\alpha,\sigma} \exp\left(\frac{1}{\sigma^2}(\alpha x^2 - \frac{1}{2}x^4)\right), \qquad (4.1.3)$$

where $N_{\alpha,\sigma}$ is a normalization constant. This stationary measure ρ corresponds to an in-

variant measure ν of the RDS φ , and ν has the disintegration given by

$$\nu_{\omega} = \lim_{t \to \infty} \varphi(t, \theta_{-t}\omega)\rho \quad \text{for almost all } \omega \in \Omega$$

It was shown in [CF98] that ν_{ω} is a Dirac measure concentrated on a random variable $a_{\alpha}(\omega)$, and is the unique invariant measure for the random dynamical system. The random fixed point $\{a_{\alpha}(\omega)\}_{\omega\in\Omega}$ is the only solution of (4.0.1) which does not explode in backward time (that is, $D(\omega, a_{\alpha}(\omega)) = \mathbb{R}$). Linearizing along this random fixed point yields a negative Lyapunov exponent, given by

$$\lambda_{\alpha} = -\frac{2}{\sigma^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}} (\alpha x - x^3)^2 p_{\alpha,\sigma}(x) \, \mathrm{d}x \, .$$

Moreover, the random fixed point $\{a_{\alpha}(\omega)\}_{\omega\in\Omega}$ is the unique global pullback attractor (see Definition 4.1.2 below) of φ , which implies that the attractor bifurcation associated with the deterministic pitchfork bifurcation (that is, K_{α} bifurcates from a singleton to a nontrivial object) is destroyed by noise.

In the previous chapters we have considered notions of local attraction for RDS. Here we deal with a global random attractor that attracts in the pullback sense (see in particular [CF94, FS96, CDF97, Cra99]).

Definition 4.1.2. Let φ be an RDS with complete separable metric state space (X, d). A closed random set A is called a *global pullback attractor* if

- (i) $A(\omega)$ is compact μ -a.s.
- (ii) A is invariant.
- (iii) For all bounded deterministic sets $B \subset X$ one has

$$\lim_{t\to\infty} \operatorname{dist}(\varphi(t,\theta_{-t}\omega)B,A(\omega)) = 0 \qquad \mu\text{-a.s.}$$

A global pullback attractor, when it exists, is almost surely unique, and the existence of a global pullback attractor may be guaranteed by the existence of a compact *global pullback absorbing set* [Cra99, Theorem 4.3].

Definition 4.1.3. Let φ be an RDS with complete separable metric state space (X, d). A bounded random set G is called a *global pullback absorbing set* if for any bounded deterministic set $B \subset X$ there exists a (possibly random) time $T_B(\omega) > 0$ such that

$$\varphi(t, \theta_{-t}\omega)B \subset G(\omega)$$
 for all $t \geq T_B(\omega)$ and almost all $\omega \in \Omega$.

4.2 Qualitative changes in uniform attractivity

In order to demonstrate a qualitative change in the attractivity of the unique random fixed point $\{a_{\alpha}(\omega)\}_{\omega\in\Omega}$ of (4.0.1) we first establish that for all parameter values $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, for an arbitrarily large time interval this random fixed point may remain arbitrarily close to the origin with positive probability.

Proposition 4.2.1. Consider the RDS φ generated by (4.0.1), and let $\{a_{\alpha}(\omega)\}_{\omega\in\Omega}$ be its unique random fixed point corresponding to the parameter value $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$. Then for any $\varepsilon > 0$ and $T \ge 0$, there exists a measurable set $\mathcal{A} \in \mathcal{F}_{-\infty}^T$ (see Section 1.1: Stochastic differential equations, p. 19) of positive measure such that

$$a_{\alpha}(\theta_s \omega) \in (-\varepsilon, \varepsilon)$$
 for all $s \in [0, T]$ and $\omega \in \mathcal{A}$.

Proof. The unique stationary measure $\rho_{\alpha,\sigma}$ for the Markov semigroup associated to (4.0.1) with $|\sigma| > 0$ is equivalent to the Lebesgue measure with the density function given by (4.1.3). The invariant measure $\delta_{a(\omega)}$ and stationary measure ρ are in correspondence by the following relations: the invariant measure is obtained as the limit of the pullback images of the stationary measure, i.e.

$$\delta_{a(\omega)} = \lim_{t \to \infty} \varphi(t, \theta_{-t}\omega) \rho \quad \text{for almost all } \omega \in \Omega \,,$$

and the stationary measure is obtained as the expectation of the invariant measure, i.e.

$$\rho(\cdot) = \int_{\Omega} \delta_{a(\omega)}(\cdot) d\mu(\omega)$$
(4.2.1)

(see [CF98]). Now define

$$\eta := \frac{\varepsilon e^{-|\alpha|T}}{2(1+|\sigma|)}.$$

Since the support of ρ is the entire real line, it follows from (4.2.1) that the set

$$A_1 := \{ \omega \in \Omega \colon a_\alpha(\omega) \in (-\eta, \eta) \}$$
(4.2.2)

has positive probability for any $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$. The global pullback attractor $\{a_{\alpha}(\omega)\}$ is measurable with respect to the past of the noise $\mathcal{F}_{-\infty}^0$ (again see [CF98]), and hence $A_1 \in \mathcal{F}_{-\infty}^0$. Define

$$A_2 := \left\{ \omega \in \Omega \colon \sup_{t \in [0,T]} |\omega(t)| \le \frac{\eta}{2} \right\} \in \mathcal{F}_0^T$$

which, by [IW81, Section 6.8], has positive probability. Since the sets A_1 and A_2 are independent, the set $\mathcal{A} := A_1 \cap A_2 \in \mathcal{F}_{-\infty}^T$ also has positive probability. Choose and fix an arbitrary $\omega \in \mathcal{A}$. By the definition of A_1 we have that $|a_{\alpha}(\omega)| < \eta$. Since $a_{\alpha}(\omega)$ is a random fixed point of φ it follows, using the integral from of (4.0.1), that

$$a_{\alpha}(\theta_{t}\omega) = a_{\alpha}(\theta_{s}\omega) + \int_{s}^{t} \left(\alpha a_{\alpha}(\theta_{r}\omega) - a_{\alpha}(\theta_{r}\omega)^{3}\right) dr + \sigma(\omega(t) - \omega(s)).$$
(4.2.3)

Choose and fix an arbitrary $t \in [0,T]$. Define $\mathcal{I} := \{s \in [0,t]: a_{\alpha}(\theta_s \omega) = 0\}$; by continuity the set \mathcal{I} is closed (but possibly empty). We consider the following three cases:

Case 1. If $t \in \mathcal{I}$, then $|a_{\alpha}(\theta_t \omega)| = 0$.

Case 2. If \mathcal{I} is not empty and $t \notin \mathcal{I}$, then $s := \sup \mathcal{I} < t$ and $a_{\alpha}(\theta_s \omega) = 0$. By the definition of \mathcal{I} and continuity, we have either $a_{\alpha}(\theta_r \omega) > 0$ for all $r \in (s, t]$ or $a_{\alpha}(\theta_r \omega) < 0$ for all $r \in (s, t]$. Using this observation and (4.2.3), we obtain that

$$|a_{\alpha}(\theta_{t}\omega)| \leq |\sigma|\eta + \int_{s}^{t} |\alpha| |a_{\alpha}(\theta_{r}\omega)| \, \mathrm{d}r$$

Case 3. If \mathcal{I} is empty, then either $a_{\alpha}(\theta_s \omega) > 0$ for all $s \in [0, t]$ or $a_{\alpha}(\theta_s \omega) < 0$ for all $s \in [0, t]$. Using (4.2.3) and noting that $|a_{\alpha}(\omega)| < \eta$, we arrive at the following inequality:

$$|a_{\alpha}(\theta_{t}\omega)| \leq (1+|\sigma|)\eta + \int_{0}^{t} |\alpha| |a_{\alpha}(\theta_{s}\omega)| \, \mathrm{d}s.$$

In view of the three cases above, we have that

$$|a_{\alpha}(\theta_{t}\omega)| \leq (1+|\sigma|)\eta + \int_{0}^{t} |\alpha| |a_{\alpha}(\theta_{s}\omega)| \,\mathrm{d}s \quad \text{for all } t \in [0,T] \,.$$

Then, using Gronwall's inequality, we obtain that

$$|a_{\alpha}(\theta_t \omega)| \leq (1+|\sigma|)\eta e^{|\alpha|t} < \varepsilon \text{ for all } t \in [0,T].$$

Thus we have that for all $\omega \in \mathcal{A}$, $a_{\alpha}(\theta_t \omega) \in (-\varepsilon, \varepsilon)$ for all $t \in [0, T]$, which completes the proof.

We now give a detailed description of the random bifurcation scenario for the stochastic differential equation (4.0.1) by means of both *asymptotic* and *finite-time* dynamical behaviour. The change in asymptotic behaviour at the bifurcation point $\alpha = 0$ is apparent as a qualitative change in the uniformity of attraction of the unique random fixed point $\{a_{\alpha}(\omega)\}_{\omega\in\Omega}$. Then in terms of finite-time dynamics, after the bifurcation point, the (asymptotic) Lyapunov exponent is not observable by a finite-time Lyapunov exponent (over an arbitrarily large time interval) with nonzero probability; however, before the bifurcation, the (asymptotic) Lyapunov exponent can be approximated by the finite-time Lyapunov exponent almost surely. Finite-time Lyapunov exponents for random dynamical systems have not been considered in the literature so far, but play an important role in the description of Lagrangian coherent structures in fluid dynamics [HY00].

Definition 4.2.2. Let $\varphi \colon \mathbb{T} \times \Omega \times X \to X$ be an RDS with a random fixed point $\{a(\omega)\}_{\omega \in \Omega}$. Then $\{a(\omega)\}_{\omega \in \Omega}$ is called *locally uniformly attractive* if there exists a $\delta > 0$ such that

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \sup_{x \in B_{\delta}(a(\omega))} \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\omega \in \Omega} d(\varphi(t, \omega)x, a(\theta_t \omega)) = 0.$$

Theorem 4.2.3. Consider the stochastic differential equation (4.0.1) with the unique attracting random fixed point $\{a_{\alpha}(\omega)\}_{\omega\in\Omega}$. Then the following statements hold:

(i) For $\alpha < 0$, the random fixed point $\{a_{\alpha}(\omega)\}_{\omega \in \Omega}$ is locally uniformly attractive; in

fact, it is even globally uniformly exponentially attractive, i.e.

$$|\varphi(t,\omega,x) - \varphi(t,\omega,a_{\alpha}(\omega))| \le e^{\alpha t} |x - a_{\alpha}(\omega)| \quad \text{for all } x \in \mathbb{R}.$$
(4.2.4)

(ii) For $\alpha > 0$, the random fixed point $\{a_{\alpha}(\omega)\}_{\omega \in \Omega}$ is not locally uniformly attractive.

Proof. (i) Let $x \in \mathbb{R}$ be arbitrary such that $x \neq a_{\alpha}(\omega)$. Since φ is monotone with respect to initial conditions [Arn98, Theorem 1.8.4 (i)], we may assume that $\varphi(t, \omega, x) > \varphi(t, \omega, a_{\alpha}(\omega))$ for all $t \geq 0$. The integral form of (4.0.1),

$$\varphi(t,\omega)x = x + \int_0^t \left(\alpha\varphi(s,\omega)x - (\varphi(s,\omega)x)^3\right) ds + \sigma\omega(t),$$

yields that

$$\varphi(t,\omega)x - \varphi(t,\omega)a_{\alpha}(\omega) \le x - a_{\alpha}(\omega) + \alpha \int_{0}^{t} \left(\varphi(s,\omega)x - \varphi(s,\omega)a_{\alpha}(\omega)\right) \mathrm{d}s.$$

Using Gronwall's inequality implies (4.2.4), which finishes this part of the proof.

(ii) Suppose to the contrary that there exists $\delta > 0$ such that

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \sup_{x \in (-\delta, \delta)} \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\omega \in \Omega} |\varphi(t, \omega, a_{\alpha}(\omega) + x) - a_{\alpha}(\theta_{t}\omega)| = 0,$$

which implies that there exists $N \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$\sup_{x \in (-\delta,\delta)} \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\omega \in \Omega} |\varphi(t,\omega,a_{\alpha}(\omega)+x) - a_{\alpha}(\theta_{t}\omega)| < \frac{\sqrt{\alpha}}{4} \quad \text{for all } t \ge N.$$
(4.2.5)

According to Proposition 4.2.1, there exists $\mathcal{A} \in \mathcal{F}_{-\infty}^0$ of positive probability such that $a_{\alpha}(\omega) \in (-\frac{\delta}{2}, \frac{\delta}{2})$. Consider the corresponding deterministic ($\sigma = 0$) system to (4.0.1), that is the differential equation (4.1.1) which has the two attractive fixed points $-\sqrt{\alpha}$ and $\sqrt{\alpha}$, and let $\phi(\cdot, x_0)$ denote the solution which satisfies $x(0) = x_0$. Then there exists T > N such that

$$\phi(T,\delta/2) > \frac{\sqrt{\alpha}}{2}$$
 and $\phi(T,-\delta/2) < -\frac{\sqrt{\alpha}}{2}$. (4.2.6)

For any $\varepsilon > 0$, we define

$$\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}^{+} := \left\{ \omega \in \Omega : \sup_{t \in [0,T]} |\omega(t)| < \varepsilon \right\}.$$

By [IW81, Section 6.8], $\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}^+ \in \mathcal{F}_0^T$ has positive probability, and thus, $\mu(\mathcal{A} \cap \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}^+) = \mu(\mathcal{A})\mu(\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}^+)$ is positive. Due to the compactness of [0, T], there exists $\varepsilon > 0$ such that for all $\omega \in \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}^+$, we have

$$|\varphi(T,\omega,\delta/2) - \phi(T,\delta/2)| < \frac{\sqrt{\alpha}}{4} \quad \text{and} \quad |\varphi(T,\omega,-\delta/2) - \phi(T,-\delta/2)| < \frac{\sqrt{\alpha}}{4},$$

which implies together with (4.2.6) that

$$\varphi(T,\omega,\delta/2) > rac{\sqrt{lpha}}{4} \quad ext{and} \quad \varphi(T,\omega,-\delta/2) < -rac{\sqrt{lpha}}{4}.$$

Since $|a_{\alpha}(\omega)| < \frac{\delta}{2}$ for all $\omega \in \mathcal{A} \cap \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}^+$, we obtain that for all $\omega \in \mathcal{A} \cap \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}^+$

$$\sup_{x \in (-\delta,\delta)} |\varphi(T,\omega,a_{\alpha}(\omega)+x) - a_{\alpha}(\theta_{T}\omega)| \\ \geq \max \left\{ \varphi(T,\omega,\delta/2) - a_{\alpha}(\theta_{T}\omega)|, |\varphi(T,\omega,-\delta/2) - a_{\alpha}(\theta_{T}\omega)| \right\}.$$

Consequently,

$$\sup_{x \in (-\delta,\delta)} \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\omega \in \Omega} |\varphi(t,\omega,a_{\alpha}(\omega)+x) - a_{\alpha}(\theta_{t}\omega)| > \frac{\sqrt{\alpha}}{4},$$

which contradicts (4.2.5) and the proof is complete.

For the description of the bifurcation via finite-time dynamics, we consider finite-time Lyapunov exponents.

Definition 4.2.4. Given a linear RDS $\Phi \colon \mathbb{T} \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$, for T > 0, $\omega \in \Omega$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\}$ the *finite-time Lyapunov exponent* is defined as

$$\lambda^{T}(\omega, x) := \frac{1}{T} \ln \frac{\|\Phi(T, \omega)x\|}{\|x\|}$$

Clearly the (classical) Lyapunov exponent λ (see Theorem 3.0.2) associated with the vector $x \in \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\}$ is given by

$$\lambda(\omega, x) = \lim_{T \to \infty} \lambda^T(\omega, x) \,.$$

The finite-time Lyapunov exponent associated with the linearization along the random fixed point $a_{\alpha}(\omega)$ is given by

$$\lambda_{\alpha}^{T}(\omega) := \frac{1}{T} \ln \left| \frac{\partial \varphi_{\alpha}}{\partial x}(T, \omega, a_{\alpha}(\omega)) \right| \,.$$

In contrast to the classical Lyapunov exponent, the finite-time Lyapunov exponent is, in general, a non-constant random variable.

Theorem 4.2.5. Consider the stochastic differential equation (4.0.1) with the unique attracting random fixed point $\{a_{\alpha}(\omega)\}_{\omega\in\Omega}$. For any finite time T > 0, let $\lambda_{\alpha}^{T}(\omega)$ denote the finite-time Lyapunov exponent associated with the linearization along $\{a_{\alpha}(\omega)\}_{\omega\in\Omega}$. Then the following statements hold:

(i) For $\alpha < 0$, the random fixed point $\{a_{\alpha}(\omega)\}_{\omega \in \Omega}$ is finite-time attractive, i.e.

$$\lambda_{\alpha}^{T}(\omega) \leq \alpha < 0 \quad \text{for all } \omega \in \Omega$$
.

(ii) For $\alpha > 0$, the random fixed point $\{a_{\alpha}(\omega)\}_{\omega \in \Omega}$ is not finite-time attractive, i.e.

$$\mu\left\{\omega\in\Omega:\lambda_{\alpha}^{T}(\omega)>0\right\}>0.$$

Proof. (i) This follows directly from Theorem 4.2.3 (i).

(ii) Let $\varepsilon := \frac{\sqrt{\alpha}}{2} > 0$. According to Proposition 4.2.1, there exists a measurable set $\mathcal{A} \in \mathcal{F}_{-\infty}^T$ of positive probability such that for all $\omega \in \mathcal{A}$

$$a_{\alpha}(\theta_s \omega) \in (-\varepsilon, \varepsilon)$$
 for all $s \in [0, T]$.

We will estimate $\lambda_{\alpha}^{T}(\omega)$ for arbitrary $\omega \in \mathcal{A}$. Let $\Phi_{\alpha}(t,\omega) := \frac{\partial \varphi_{\alpha}}{\partial x}(t,\omega,a_{\alpha}(\omega))$ denote

the linearized RDS along the random fixed point $a_{\alpha}(\omega)$. Note that the linearized equation along the random fixed point $a_{\alpha}(\omega)$ is given by

$$\dot{\xi}(t) = (\alpha - 3a_{\alpha}(\theta_t \omega)^2)\xi(t)$$

from which we derive that

$$\Phi_{\alpha}(t,\omega) = \exp\left(\int_{0}^{t} \left(\alpha - 3a_{\alpha}(\theta_{s}\omega)^{2}\right) \mathrm{d}s\right)$$

We thus get

$$\lambda_{\alpha}^{T}(\omega) = \alpha - \frac{1}{T} \int_{0}^{T} 3a_{\alpha}(\theta_{t}\omega)^{2} \mathrm{d}t \geq \frac{\alpha}{4},$$

which completes the proof.

This theorem implies that the change in the sign of finite-time Lyapunov exponents indicates a qualitative change in the dynamics. This means that the bifurcation is observable in practice, since finite-time Lyapunov exponents are numerically computable quantities. Note that the numerical approximation of classical Lyapunov exponents is difficult in general. In the special case of random matrix products with positive matrices, however, [Pol10] recently established explicit bounds for the numerical approximation of (classical) Lyapunov exponents.

4.3 The dichotomy spectrum at the bifurcation point

We will compute the dichotomy spectrum of the linearization around the unique attracting random fixed point $\{a_{\alpha}(\omega)\}$ of the system (4.0.1). As a direct consequence, we observe that hyperbolicity is lost at the bifurcation point $\alpha = 0$.

Theorem 4.3.1. Let $\Phi_{\alpha}(t,\omega) := \frac{\partial \varphi_{\alpha}}{\partial x}(t,\omega,a_{\alpha}(\omega))$ denote the linearized RDS along the random fixed point $a_{\alpha}(\omega)$. Then the dichotomy spectrum Σ_{α} of Φ_{α} is given by

$$\Sigma_{\alpha} = [-\infty, \alpha] \text{ for all } \alpha \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Proof. From the linearized equation along $a_{\alpha}(\omega)$

$$\dot{\xi}(t) = (\alpha - 3a_{\alpha}(\theta_t \omega)^2)\xi(t) \,,$$

we derive that

$$\Phi_{\alpha}(t,\omega) = \exp\left(\int_{0}^{t} \left(\alpha - 3a_{\alpha}(\theta_{s}\omega)^{2}\right) \mathrm{d}s\right) \,. \tag{4.3.1}$$

Consequently,

$$|\Phi_{\alpha}(t,\omega)| \le e^{\alpha|t|}$$
 for all $t \in \mathbb{R}$,

which implies that $\Sigma_{\alpha} \subset [-\infty, \alpha]$. Thus, it is sufficient to show that $[-\infty, \alpha] \subset \Sigma_{\alpha}$. For this purpose, let $\gamma \in (-\infty, \alpha]$ be arbitrary. Suppose the opposite, that Φ_{α} admits an exponential dichotomy with growth rate γ , invariant projector P_{γ} and positive constants K, ε . We now consider the two possible cases: (i) $P_{\gamma} = \mathbb{1}$ and (ii) $P_{\gamma} = 0$:

Case (i). $P_{\gamma} = 1$, i.e. we have

$$\Phi_{\alpha}(t,\omega) \le K e^{(\gamma-\varepsilon)t}$$
 for all $t \ge 0$. (4.3.2)

Choose and fix T > 0 such that $e^{\frac{\varepsilon}{4}T} > K$. According to Proposition 4.2.1, there exists a measurable set $\mathcal{A} \in \mathcal{F}_{-\infty}^T$ of positive measure such that

$$a_{\alpha}(\theta_s\omega) \in \left(-\sqrt{\varepsilon}/2, \sqrt{\varepsilon}/2\right) \text{ for all } \omega \in \mathcal{A} \text{ and } s \in [0, T].$$

From (4.3.1) we derive that

$$|\Phi_{\alpha}(T,\omega)| \ge e^{T\left(\alpha - \frac{3\varepsilon}{4}\right)} > K e^{(\gamma - \varepsilon)T},$$

which leads to a contradiction to (4.3.2).

Case (ii): $P_{\gamma} = 0$, i.e. we have for almost all $\omega \in \Omega$

$$\Phi_{\alpha}(t, \theta_{-t}\omega) \ge \frac{1}{K} e^{(\gamma+\varepsilon)t} \quad \text{for all } t \ge 0,$$

which together with (4.3.1) implies that

$$\frac{\ln K + (\alpha - \gamma)t}{3} \ge \int_0^t a_\alpha (\theta_s \theta_{-t} \omega)^2 \,\mathrm{d}s \,. \tag{4.3.3}$$

Choose and fix T > 0 such that

$$\frac{(T-1)^3}{3} > \frac{\ln K + (\alpha - \gamma)T}{3}$$

Consider the following integral equation

$$x(t) = \int_0^t \left(\alpha x(s) - x(s)^3 \right) ds + \frac{t^4}{4} - \alpha \frac{t^2}{2} + t \,.$$

Clearly, the explicit solution of the above equation is x(t) = t. Due to the compactness of [0,T], there exists an $\varepsilon > 0$ such that for any $x(0) \in (-\varepsilon, \varepsilon)$ and $\omega(t)$ with $\sup_{t \in [0,T]} |\omega(t) - \frac{t^4}{4} + \alpha \frac{t^2}{2} - t| \le \varepsilon$ then the solution x(t) of the following equation

$$x(t) = x(0) + \int_0^t (\alpha x(s) - x(s)^3) \,\mathrm{d}s + \omega(t)$$

satisfies that $\sup_{t\in[0,T]} |x(t) - t| \leq 1$. According to Proposition 4.2.1, there exists a measurable set $\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}^{-} \in \mathcal{F}_{-\infty}^{0}$ of positive measure such that $a_{\alpha}(\omega) \in (-\varepsilon, \varepsilon)$ for all $\omega \in \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}^{-}$. Define $\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}^{+} \in \mathcal{F}_{0}^{T}$ by

$$\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}^{+} := \left\{ \omega \in \Omega : \sup_{t \in [0,T]} |\omega(t) - t^{4}/4 + \alpha t^{2}/2 - t| \le \varepsilon \right\}.$$

Therefore, for all $\omega \in \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}^{-} \cap \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}^{+}$, we get

$$\sup_{t\in[0,T]} |a_{\alpha}(\theta_t \omega) - t| \le 1 \,,$$

which implies that

$$\int_0^T a_\alpha (\theta_s \omega)^2 \,\mathrm{d}s > \frac{(T-1)^3}{3} > \frac{\ln K + (\alpha - \gamma)T}{3}.$$

Note that $\mu(\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}^{-} \cap \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}^{+}) = \mu(\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}^{-})\mu(\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}^{+}) > 0$. Then for $\omega \in \theta_{T}(\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}^{-} \cap \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}^{+})$, the above leads to a contradiction to (4.3.3), and the proof is complete.

We have seen in Theorem 4.2.5 that the bifurcation of (4.0.1) manifests itself also via finite-time Lyapunov exponents: before the bifurcation, all finite-time Lyapunov exponents are negative, and after the bifurcation, one observes positive finite-time Lyapunov exponents with positive probability for arbitrarily large times. This implies in particular that for positive α the set of all finite-time Lyapunov exponents observed on a set of full measure does not converge to the (classical) Lyapunov exponent when time tends to infinity. The following theorem makes precise the fact that, in contrast to the Lyapunov spectrum, the dichotomy spectrum includes limits of the set of finite-time Lyapunov exponents.

Theorem 4.3.2. Let Φ be a linear RDS on \mathbb{R}^d with dichotomy spectrum Σ . Let $\lambda^T(\omega, x)$ denote the finite-time Lyapunov exponent (Definition 4.2.4) for T > 0, $\omega \in \Omega$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\}$. Then

$$\lim_{T \to \infty} \mathop{\mathrm{ess\,sup}}_{\omega \in \Omega} \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^d \backslash \{0\}} \lambda^T(\omega, x) = \sup \Sigma$$

provided that $\sup \Sigma < \infty$ *and*

 $\lim_{T \to \infty} \underset{\omega \in \Omega}{\operatorname{ess inf}} \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\}} \lambda^T(\omega, x) = \inf \Sigma$

provided that $\inf \Sigma > -\infty$.

Proof. By definition of $\lambda^T(\omega, x)$, we get that for all $T, S \ge 0$

$$(T+S) \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\omega \in \Omega} \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\}} \lambda^{T+S}(\omega, x) \le T \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\omega \in \Omega} \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\}} \sup_{\omega \in \Omega} \lambda^T(\omega, x) + S \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\omega \in \Omega} \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\}} \lambda^S(\omega, x).$$

This implies that the sequence $\{T \operatorname{ess sup}_{\omega \in \Omega} \operatorname{sup}_{x \in \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\}} \lambda^T(\omega, x)\}_{T \ge 0}$ is subadditive. We thus obtain that the limit $T \to \infty$ exists and so

$$\lim_{T \to \infty} \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\omega \in \Omega} \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\}} \lambda^T(\omega, x) = \limsup_{T \to \infty} \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\omega \in \Omega} \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\}} \lambda^T(\omega, x)$$

We first prove that provided $\sup \Sigma < \infty$, we have

$$\gamma := \limsup_{T \to \infty} \sup_{\omega \in \Omega} \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\}} \lambda^T(\omega, x) = \sup \Sigma.$$

Since $\sup \Sigma < \infty$ it follows that there exists K > 0 such that

$$\|\Phi(t,\omega)\| \le K e^{t \sup \Sigma} \quad \text{for all } t \ge 0.$$
(4.3.4)

Assume first that $\gamma < \sup \Sigma$. This means that there exists a $t_0 > 0$ such that for all $t \ge t_0$ and for almost all $\omega \in \Omega$, we have $\|\Phi(t, \omega)\| \le e^{t(\gamma + \sup \Sigma)/2}$. Thus, together with (4.3.4), we obtain for all $t \ge 0$ and for almost all $\omega \in \Omega$ that

$$\|\Phi(t,\omega)\| \le \widehat{K}e^{t(\gamma+\sup\Sigma)/2}, \qquad \widehat{K} := \max\{1, Ke^{t_0(\sup\Sigma-\gamma)/2}\}.$$

Hence, $\sup \Sigma \leq (\gamma + \sup \Sigma)/2$, which is a contradiction. Assume now that $\gamma > \sup \Sigma$. This means in particular that $\sup \Sigma < \infty$. Hence, there exists a K > 0 such that for almost all $\omega \in \Omega$, we have

$$\|\Phi(t,\omega)x\| \le K e^{t(\gamma+\sup\Sigma)/2} \|x\|$$
 for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$.

This leads to $\lambda^t(\omega, x) \leq (\gamma + \sup \Sigma)/2$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\}$, and thus,

$$\gamma = \limsup_{T \to \infty} \sup_{\omega \in \Omega} \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\}} \sup_{\lambda \in \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\}} \lambda^T(\omega, x) \le (\gamma + \sup \Sigma)/2,$$

which is a contradiction. This proves the first equality. Similar arguments may be used to show that

$$\lim_{T \to \infty} \operatorname{ess\,inf}_{x \in \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\}} \inf_{\lambda \in \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\}} \lambda^T(\omega, x) = \inf \Sigma$$

provided that $\inf \Sigma > -\infty$.

In the following example, we explicitly construct a linear RDS with $\sup \Sigma = \infty$ but with

$$\lim_{T \to \infty} \underset{\omega \in \Omega}{\operatorname{ess \, sup \, sup \, }} \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\}} \lambda^T(\omega, x) < \infty.$$

An example of a linear RDS with $\inf \Sigma = -\infty$ but with

$$\lim_{T \to \infty} \mathop{\mathrm{ess\,inf\,\,inf}}_{\omega \in \Omega} \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^d \smallsetminus \{0\}} \lambda^T(\omega, x) > -\infty$$

can be constructed analogously. This example shows the importance of the assumption $\sup \Sigma < \infty$ or $\inf \Sigma > -\infty$ in the above theorem.

Example 4.3.3. Following the construction in Example 3.2.8, there exist infinitely many measurable sets $\{U_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ of positive measure such that for $n \ge 2$, U_n , θU_n , $\theta^2 U_n$ are pairwise disjoint. We define a random mapping $A : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ as follows:

$$A(\omega) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{n} : \omega \in U_n \cup \theta^2 U_n , n \ge 2 ,\\ n : \omega \in \theta U_n , n \ge 2 ,\\ 1 : \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Let Φ denote the discrete-time RDS generated by A. Since $\ln ||A(\cdot)||$ is neither bounded from above nor from below, we get that $\Sigma(\Phi) = [-\infty, \infty]$. On the other hand, it is easy to see that for all $T \ge 2$ we get that

$$\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\omega\in\Omega} |\Phi(T,\omega)| = 1,$$

which implies that

$$\lim_{T \to \infty} \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\omega \in \Omega} \frac{1}{T} \ln |\Phi(T, \omega)| = 0.$$

4.4 Topological equivalence

This section deals with topological equivalence of random dynamical systems ([IS01, IL02, LL05, Arn98]). This concept has not been used so far to study bifurcations of random dynamical systems, and the main aim of this section is to discuss topological equivalence for the stochastic differential equation (4.0.1). The concept of topological equivalence for random dynamical systems [Arn98, Definition 9.2.1] differs from the corresponding deterministic notion of topological equivalence in the sense that instead of one homeomorphism

(mapping orbits to orbits), the random version is given by a family of homeomorphisms $\{h_{\omega}\}_{\omega\in\Omega}$. The precise definition is given by Definition 1.1.11. A bifurcation is then described by means of a lack of topological equivalence at the bifurcation point.

The following theorem says that near the bifurcation point $\alpha = 0$, all systems of (4.0.1) are equivalent; since we have a local RDS φ , the definition of topological equivalence used is a modification of that given in Definition 1.1.11.

Theorem 4.4.1. Let $\varphi_{\alpha} : D_{\alpha} \to \mathbb{R}$ denote the local continuous RDS generated by the SDE (4.0.1). Then there exists an $\varepsilon > 0$ such that for all $\alpha \in (-\varepsilon, \varepsilon)$ the random dynamical systems φ_{α} are topologically equivalent to the dynamical system $(e^{-t}x)_{t,x\in\mathbb{R}}$, in the following sense: there exists a conjugacy $h : \Omega \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ such that for almost all $\omega \in \Omega$, we have

$$\varphi_{\alpha}(t,\omega,h(\omega,x)) = h(\theta_t\omega,e^{-t}x) \text{ for all } t \in (\kappa_{\alpha}(\omega,h(\omega,x)),\infty), x \in \mathbb{R}$$

Proof. Let $a_{\alpha}(\omega)$ denote the unique random fixed point of (4.0.1). According to the results in [CF98], we obtain that

$$\mathbb{E}a_{\alpha}(\omega)^{2} = \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} u^{2} \exp\left(\frac{1}{\sigma^{2}}\left(\alpha u^{2} - \frac{1}{2}u^{4}\right)\right) \,\mathrm{d}u}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \exp\left(\frac{1}{\sigma^{2}}\left(\alpha u^{2} - \frac{1}{2}u^{4}\right)\right) \,\mathrm{d}u}$$

and therefore,

$$\lim_{\alpha \to 0} \mathbb{E}a_{\alpha}(\omega)^{2} = \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} u^{2} \exp\left(-\frac{u^{4}}{2\sigma^{2}}\right) \mathrm{d}u}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \exp\left(-\frac{u^{4}}{2\sigma^{2}}\right) \mathrm{d}u} > 0.$$

Then there exists an $\varepsilon > 0$ such that for all $\alpha \in (-\varepsilon, \varepsilon)$, we have

$$\delta := \frac{3}{4} \mathbb{E} a_{\alpha}(\omega)^2 - \alpha > 0 \,.$$

We define the local continuous RDS $\psi \colon \widetilde{D} \to \mathbb{R}$ by

$$\psi(t,\omega,x) := \varphi_{\alpha}(t,\omega,x+a_{\alpha}(\omega)) - a_{\alpha}(\theta_{t}\omega).$$
(4.4.1)

where $\widetilde{D} := \{(t, \omega, x) \in \mathbb{R} \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R} : t > \kappa_{\alpha}(\omega, x + a_{\alpha}(\omega))\}$. By using the transformation function $f(\omega, x) := x - a_{\alpha}(\omega)$, the random dynamical systems φ_{α} and ψ are topologically equivalent. Hence, it is sufficient to show that ψ is topologically equivalent to the dynamical

system $(e^{-t}x)_{t,x\in\mathbb{R}}$; the proof of this is divided into four parts.

Part 1. We first summarise some properties of ψ :

(i) Since $a_{\alpha}(\omega)$ is a random fixed point of φ_{α} , it follows that

$$\psi(t,\omega,0) = 0 \quad \text{for all } t \in \mathbb{R} \text{ and } \omega \in \Omega.$$
 (4.4.2)

(ii) Due to the monotonicity of φ_{α} , for $x_1 > x_2$, we have

$$\psi(t,\omega,x_1) > \psi(t,\omega,x_2)$$
 for all $\omega \in \Omega$ and $t \in \widetilde{D}(\omega,x_1) \cap \widetilde{D}(\omega,x_2)$. (4.4.3)

(iii) From (4.0.1), we derive that

$$\psi(t,\omega,x) = x + \int_0^t \psi(s,\omega,x) \left(\alpha - a_\alpha(\theta_s\omega)^2 - a_\alpha(\theta_s\omega)\varphi_\alpha(s,\omega,a_\alpha(\omega) + x) - \varphi_\alpha(s,\omega,a_\alpha(\omega) + x)^2\right) \mathrm{d}s\,,$$

consequently,

$$\psi(t,\omega,x) = x \exp\left(\int_0^t \alpha - a_\alpha(\theta_s\omega)^2 - a_\alpha(\theta_s\omega)\varphi_\alpha(s,\omega,a_\alpha(\omega) + x) - \varphi_\alpha(s,\omega,a_\alpha(\omega) + x)^2 \,\mathrm{d}s\right). \quad (4.4.4)$$

Part 2. We shall now demonstrate some estimates on ψ . According to Birkhoff's ergodic theorem, there exists an invariant set $\widetilde{\Omega}$ of full measure such that

$$\lim_{t \to \pm \infty} \frac{1}{t} \int_0^t a_\alpha (\theta_s \omega)^2 \, \mathrm{d}s = \mathbb{E} a_\alpha(\omega)^2 \,. \tag{4.4.5}$$

Choose and fix $\omega \in \widetilde{\Omega}$. From (4.4.5), there exists T > 0 such that for all |t| > T we have

$$\left|\frac{1}{t}\int_0^t a_\alpha(\theta_s\omega)^2 \,\mathrm{d}s - \mathbb{E}a_\alpha(\omega)^2\right| \le \delta.$$
(4.4.6)

The elementary inequality $u^2 + uv + v^2 \ge \frac{3}{4}u^2$ for $u, v \in \mathbb{R}$ implies with (4.4.4) that for x > 0

$$\psi(t,\omega,x) \le x \exp\left(\int_0^t \alpha - \frac{3}{4}a_\alpha(\theta_s\omega)^2 \,\mathrm{d}s\right),$$

then for $t \ge T$, (4.4.6) implies the following estimate

$$\psi(t,\omega,x) \le x e^{-\frac{\delta}{4}t}, \quad \text{for all } x > 0.$$
(4.4.7)

For negative time ψ explodes, and we have

$$\lim_{t \to \tilde{\kappa}(\omega, x)+} \psi(t, \omega, x) = \infty \quad \text{for } x > 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \lim_{t \to \tilde{\kappa}(\omega, x)+} \psi(t, \omega, x) = -\infty \quad \text{for } x < 0.$$
(4.4.8)

Part 3. We now show the required conjugacy. By (4.4.2) and (4.4.3), for x > 0 we have $\psi(s, \omega, x) > 0$ for all $s \in \widetilde{D}(\omega, x)$, and consequently by (4.4.7) and (4.4.8) we obtain that

$$\lim_{r\to\infty}\int_r^\infty\psi(s,\omega,x)\,\mathrm{d} s=0\quad\text{and}\quad\lim_{r\to\tilde\kappa(\omega,x)+}\int_r^\infty\psi(s,\omega,x)\,\mathrm{d} s=\infty.$$

Hence there exists a unique $r(\omega, x)$ such that

$$\int_{r(\omega,x)}^{\infty} \psi(s,\omega,x) \,\mathrm{d}s = 1. \tag{4.4.9}$$

Similarly, $r(\omega, x)$ for x < 0 is defined to satisfy

$$\int_{r(\omega,x)}^{\infty} \psi(s,\omega,x) \,\mathrm{d}s = -1, \qquad (4.4.10)$$

and we define $r(\omega, 0) := -\infty$. Using the local cocycle property of ψ , we obtain that

$$r(\omega, x) = r(\theta_s \omega, \psi(s, \omega, x)) + s.$$
(4.4.11)

Define the function

$$g(\omega, x) := \begin{cases} e^{r(\omega, x)}, & x > 0, \\ 0, & x = 0, \\ -e^{r(\omega, x)}, & x < 0. \end{cases}$$

We will now show that g transforms the random dynamical system ψ to the dynamical system $(e^{-t}x)_{t,x\in\mathbb{R}}$. For any x > 0, we have $\psi(s, \omega, x) > 0$ and thus from the definition of the function g it follows that

$$g(\theta_s\omega,\psi(s,\omega,x)) = e^{r(\theta_s\omega,\psi(s,\omega,x))},$$

which implies together with (4.4.11) that

$$g(\theta_s \omega, \psi(s, \omega, x)) = e^{r(\omega, x) - s} = e^{-s} g(\omega, x) \,.$$

Similarly, for x < 0 we also have $g(\theta_s \omega, \psi(s, \omega, x)) = e^{-s}g(\omega, x)$ for all $s \in (\tilde{\kappa}(\omega, x), \infty)$, $\omega \in \Omega$.

Part 4. We will show that $g_{\omega} : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}, x \mapsto g(\omega, x)$ is a homeomorphism, and that g is jointly measurable. Choose and fix $\omega \in \widetilde{\Omega}$.

Injectivity: From the definition of g, it is easily seen that for $x_1 > 0 > x_2$ we have

$$g_{\omega}(x_1) > 0 > g_{\omega}(x_2).$$

On the other hand, based on strict monotonicity of ψ we get that for $x_1 > x_2 > 0$

$$\int_{r(\omega,x_2)}^{\infty} \psi(s,\omega,x_1) \,\mathrm{d}s > \int_{r(\omega,x_2)}^{\infty} \psi(s,\omega,x_2) \,\mathrm{d}s = 1.$$

Consequently, $r(\omega, x_1) > r(\omega, x_2)$ and thus $g_{\omega}(x_1) > g_{\omega}(x_2)$. Similarly, for $0 > x_1 > x_2$ we also have $g_{\omega}(x_1) > g_{\omega}(x_2)$. Therefore, g_{ω} is strictly increasing and thus injective.

Continuity: We first show that $\lim_{x\to 0+} g_{\omega}(x) = 0$. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ be arbitrary. Choose

 $\tilde{T} > T$ such that $\frac{4}{\delta}e^{-\frac{\delta}{4}\tilde{T}} < \frac{1}{3}$ and $e^{-\tilde{T}} < \varepsilon$. By (4.4.7), for all $t \geq \tilde{T}$ we have

$$\psi(t,\omega,x) \le e^{-\frac{\delta}{4}t}x$$

As a consequence, for all $x \in (0, 1)$ we get

$$\int_{\tilde{T}}^{\infty} \psi(s,\omega,x) \,\mathrm{d}s \le \int_{\tilde{T}}^{\infty} e^{-\frac{\delta}{4}s} \,\mathrm{d}s < \frac{1}{3}.$$
(4.4.12)

Since $\lim_{x\to 0} \psi(s, \omega, x) = 0$, $\left[-\tilde{T}, \tilde{T}\right]$ is a compact interval and $\lim_{x\to 0} \tilde{\kappa}(\omega, x) = -\infty$, there exists $\delta^* > 0$ such that

$$\int_{-\tilde{T}}^{T} \psi(s,\omega,\delta^*) \,\mathrm{d}s < \frac{1}{3},$$

which together with (4.4.12) implies that

$$\int_{-\tilde{T}}^{\infty} \psi(s,\omega,x) \, \mathrm{d}s < \frac{2}{3} \quad \text{for all } x \in \left(0,\min\{1,\delta^*\}\right).$$

Therefore, $r(\omega, x) < -\tilde{T}$ and thus $g_{\omega}(x) < \varepsilon$ for all $x \in (0, \min\{1, \delta^*\})$. Hence, $\lim_{x\to 0^+} g_{\omega}(x) = 0$. One can similarly show that $\lim_{x\to 0^-} g_{\omega}(x) = 0$, and thus g_{ω} is continuous at 0. The continuity of g on the whole real line can be proved in a similar way.

Surjectivity: It is easy to prove surjectivity from

$$\lim_{x \to \infty} g_\omega(x) = \infty$$
 and $\lim_{x \to -\infty} g_\omega(x) = -\infty$

Measurability: By the definition of g, in order to prove the joint measurability of g it is enough to show the joint measurability of the mapping $(\omega, x) \mapsto r(\omega, x)$. Since the map $x \mapsto r(\omega, x)$ is continuous for each fixed $\omega \in \Omega$, it follows from e.g. [Cra02b, Lemma 1.1] that it is sufficient to show that the map $\omega \mapsto r(\omega, x)$ is measurable for each fixed $x \in \mathbb{R}$. Choose and fix an arbitrary x > 0, and let $\beta \in \mathbb{R}$ be arbitrary. Then, by the definition of $r(\omega, x)$ we have

$$\begin{split} \left\{ \omega : r(\omega, x) \leq \beta \right\} &= \left\{ \omega : \int_{\beta}^{\infty} \psi(t, \omega, x) \, \mathrm{d}t \leq 1 \right\} \\ &= \bigcap_{n \in \mathbb{N}, n \geq \beta} \left\{ \omega : \int_{\beta}^{n} \psi(t, \omega, x) \, \mathrm{d}t < 1 \right\} \end{split}$$

It should be clear that for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$, the map $\omega \mapsto \int_{\beta}^{n} \psi(t, \omega, x) dt$ is measurable, and consequently the map $\omega \mapsto r(\omega, x)$ is measurable. The case x < 0 is similar, and we have defined $r(\omega, 0) = -\infty$ for all $\omega \in \Omega$. Thus we obtain the measurability of the map $\omega \mapsto r(\omega, x)$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}$.

This completes the proof of this theorem.

The above theorem implies that the stochastic differential equation (4.0.1) does not admit a bifurcation at $\alpha = 0$ which is induced by the concept of topological equivalence. In addition, because of the observations in Theorem 4.3.1, this concept of equivalence is not in correspondence with the dichotomy spectrum (linear systems which are hyperbolic and non-hyperbolic can be equivalent). We will now show that the concept of *uniform topological equivalence* is the right tool to obtain the bifurcations studied here.

Definition 4.4.2. Let $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mu)$ be a probability space, $\theta : \mathbb{T} \times \Omega \to \Omega$ an ergodic metric dynamical system and (X_1, d_1) , (X_2, d_2) be metric spaces. Then two random dynamical systems $\varphi_1 : \mathbb{T} \times \Omega \times X_1 \to X_1$ and $\varphi_2 : \mathbb{T} \times \Omega \times X_2 \to X_2$, both over θ , are called *uniformly topologically equivalent* with respect to a random fixed point $\{a(\omega)\}_{\omega \in \Omega}$ of φ_1 if there exists a conjugacy $h : \Omega \times X_1 \to X_2$ fulfilling the following properties:

- (i) For almost all ω ∈ Ω, the mapping x → h(ω, x) is a homeomorphism from X₁ to X₂.
- (ii) The mappings $(\omega, x_1) \mapsto h(\omega, x_1)$ and $(\omega, x_2) \mapsto h^{-1}(\omega, x_2)$ are measurable.
- (iii) The random dynamical systems φ_1 and φ_2 are *cohomologous*, i.e.

$$\varphi_2(t,\omega,h(\omega,x)) = h(\theta_t \omega,\varphi_1(t,\omega,x)) \quad \text{for all } x \in X_1 \text{ and almost all } \omega \in \Omega \,.$$

(iv) We have

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \underset{\omega \in \Omega}{\operatorname{sss}} \sup_{x \in B_{\delta}(a(\omega))} d_2(h(\omega, x), h(\omega, a(\omega))) = 0$$

and

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \underset{\omega \in \Omega}{\operatorname{sss}} \sup_{x \in B_{\delta}(h(\omega, a(\omega)))} d_1(h^{-1}(\omega, x), a(\omega)) = 0.$$

Note that, in comparison to the concept of topological equivalence (Definition 1.1.11), we added (iv) to take uniformity into account. We now show that uniform topological equivalence preserves local uniform attractivity.

Proposition 4.4.3. Let $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mu)$ be a probability space, $\theta : \mathbb{T} \times \Omega \to \Omega$ a metric dynamical system and (X_1, d_1) , (X_2, d_2) be metric spaces. Let $\varphi_1 : \mathbb{T} \times \Omega \times X_1 \to X_1$ and $\varphi_2 : \mathbb{T} \times \Omega \times X_2 \to X_2$ be two random dynamical systems, both over θ , which are uniformly topologically equivalent with respect to a random fixed point $\{a(\omega)\}_{\omega \in \Omega}$ of φ_1 . Let $h : \Omega \times X_1 \to X_2$ denote the conjugacy. Then $\{a(\omega)\}_{\omega \in \Omega}$ is locally uniformly attractive for φ_1 if and only if $\{h(\omega, a(\omega))\}_{\omega \in \Omega}$ is locally uniformly attractive for φ_2 .

Proof. Suppose that $\{a(\omega)\}_{\omega\in\Omega}$ is locally uniformly attractive for φ_1 . Let $\eta > 0$, then there exists a $\gamma > 0$ such that

$$\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\omega\in\Omega} \sup_{x\in B_{\gamma}(a(\omega))} d_2(h(\omega, x), h(\omega, a(\omega))) \leq \eta \,.$$

Since $\{a(\omega)\}_{\omega\in\Omega}$ is locally uniformly attractive for φ_1 , there exists a $\delta > 0$ and a T > 0such that

$$\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\omega\in\Omega} \sup_{x\in B_{\delta}(a(\omega))} d_1(\varphi_1(t,\omega,x), a(\theta_t\omega)) \leq \frac{\gamma}{2} \quad \text{for all } t \geq T.$$

Hence, for all $t \ge T$, we have

$$\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\omega\in\Omega} \sup_{x\in B_{\delta}(a(\omega))} d_2(h(\theta_t\omega,\varphi_1(t,\omega,x)),h(\theta_t\omega,a(\theta_t\omega))) \leq \eta,$$

which means that for all $t \ge T$,

$$\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\omega\in\Omega} \sup_{x\in B_{\delta}(a(\omega))} d_2(\varphi_2(t,\omega,h(\omega,x)),h(\theta_t\omega,a(\theta_t\omega))) \leq \eta$$

There exists a $\beta > 0$ such that

$$\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\omega\in\Omega} \sup_{x\in B_{\beta}(h(\omega,a(\omega)))} d_1(h^{-1}(\omega,x),a(\omega)) \leq \frac{\delta}{2},$$

and finally, this means that for all $t \ge T$ we have

$$\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\omega\in\Omega} \sup_{x\in B_{\beta}(h(\omega,a(\omega)))} d_2(\varphi_2(t,\omega,x),h(\theta_t\omega,a(\theta_t\omega))) \leq \eta,$$

which finishes the proof that $\{h(\omega, a(\omega))\}_{\omega \in \Omega}$ is locally uniformly attractive for φ_2 . The converse is proved similarly.

As a corollary to this proposition, it follows that (4.0.1) admits a bifurcation.

Theorem 4.4.4. The stochastic differential equation (4.0.1) admits a random bifurcation at $\alpha = 0$ which is induced by the concept of uniform topological equivalence.

Proof. This is a direct consequence of Theorem 4.2.3 and Proposition 4.4.3. \Box

4.5 Discussion

We have shown how the pitchfork normal form with additive noise admits a bifurcation in terms of a break-down of the uniformity of the dynamics, which manifests via nonuniform attractivity of the global attractor, the existence of positive finite-time Lyapunov exponents, a loss of hyperbolicity of the exponential dichotomy spectrum and a loss of uniform topological equivalence. The bifurcation is observable since finite-time Lyapunov exponents are numerically computable. It would be interesting to see if one could calculate the distribution of the finite-time Lyapunov exponents for this example.

In future work we would like to investigate the use of these concepts in other elementary examples, and ultimately generalize these ideas. In particular, one could investigate the use of a lack of (uniform or nonuniform) topological equivalence as a defining concept for bifurcations in general one-dimensional random dynamical systems, and investigate the use of the dichotomy spectrum in higher dimensional examples.

Appendix A

Random Sets

Here we give some fundamental theorems and facts on *random sets* (Definition 1.1.7). The classic reference on random sets, or *measurable multifunctions*, is [CV77]. The material presented here has been adapted from [Cra02b, Chapters 1 & 2] and [Chu02, Section 1.3], to which we refer the reader for further details, and also to the references given therein.

In what follows let X be a Polish space and let \mathcal{B} denote its Borel σ -algebra. Let d be a complete metric on X and dist: $2^X \times 2^X \to \mathbb{R}^+_0$ denote the Hausdorff semi-distance on the subsets of X with respect to d, as defined in Section 1.1 (p. 21). Also, let $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mu)$ be a probability space.

Definition A.0.1. For a given measurable space (Ω, \mathcal{F}) , the *universal completion of* \mathcal{F} is defined to be the σ -algebra given by $\mathcal{F}^u := \bigcap_{\nu} \overline{\mathcal{F}}^{\nu}$, where $\overline{\mathcal{F}}^{\nu}$ denotes the completion of \mathcal{F} with respect to the probability measure ν and the intersection is taken over all probability measures on \mathcal{F} .

Remark A.0.2. Note that for any given probability measure μ , $(\bar{\mathcal{F}}^{\mu})^u = \bar{\mathcal{F}}^{\mu}$; that is, if a σ -algebra is already complete with respect to some probability measure, it coincides with its universal completion. Also note that $\mathcal{F}^u \subset \bar{\mathcal{F}}^{\mu}$, i.e. \mathcal{F}^u -measurability implies $\bar{\mathcal{F}}^{\mu}$ -measurability.

Remark A.0.3. We are only able to demonstrate that the closed and open random balls (Definition 1.1.9) are closed, respectively open, random sets with respect to \mathcal{F}^u (including the case of a constant radius). It is straightforward to show that their graphs are measurable

subsets of $\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{B}$ (this is similar to the proof of (i) \Rightarrow (iii) in [Cra02b, Proposition 2.4]), but this only implies that they are \mathcal{F}^u -measurable using Proposition A.0.7 (ix). See also [Cra02b, Remark 2.11 (ii)].

The next three results are useful in establishing measurability results.

Theorem A.0.4 (Representation Theorem, [Iof79]). Let $C: \Omega \to X$ be a closed random set taking values in a Polish space X. Then there exist a Polish space Y and a mapping $g: \Omega \times Y \to X$ such that

- (i) $g(\omega, \cdot)$ is continuous for all $\omega \in \Omega$, and $g(\cdot, y)$ is measurable for all $y \in Y$,
- (ii) let d_X and d_Y be metrics on X and Y, respectively, then for all $\omega \in \Omega$ and $y_1, y_2 \in Y$ one has:

$$d_X(g(\omega, y_1), g(\omega, y_2)) \le d_Y(y_1, y_2)(1 + d_X(g(\omega, y_1), g(\omega, y_2))),$$

(iii) for all $\omega \in \Omega$ such that $C(\omega) \neq \emptyset$, one has $C(\omega) = g(\omega, Y)$.

The preceding theorem leads to the following one.

Theorem A.0.5 (Selection Theorem, [Cra02b, Theorem 2.6]). A set valued map $C: \Omega \to 2^X$ taking values in the nonvoid closed subsets of a Polish space X is a closed random set if and only if there exists a countable sequence $\{c_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ of measurable maps $c_n: \Omega \to X$ such that $C(\omega) = \overline{\{c_n(\omega): n \in \mathbb{N}\}}$ for all $\omega \in \Omega$. In particular, if C is a closed random set, then there exists a measurable selection, i.e., a measurable map $c: \Omega \to X$ such that $c(\omega) \in C(\omega)$ for all $\omega \in \Omega$.

Theorem A.0.6 (Projection Theorem, [Cra02b, Theorem 2.12]). Let (Ω, \mathcal{F}) be a measurable space and X a Polish space. Then the projection onto Ω of any set $A \in \mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{B}$, given by

 $\Pi_{\Omega}(A) := \{ \omega \in \Omega \colon (\omega, x) \in A \text{ for some } x \in X \},\$

is universally measurable, i.e. $\Pi_{\Omega}(A) \in \mathcal{F}^{u}$.

The following proposition lists some key facts about random sets. They have been collated from [Chu02, Proposition 1.3.1] and [Cra02b, Proposition 2.4, Proposition 2.9 & Corollary 2.10]. We first note the elementary fact that the continuity of $a \mapsto d(x, a)$ implies that for any $x \in X$ and any set $A \subset X$,

$$\operatorname{dist}(x, A) = \operatorname{dist}(x, \overline{A}). \tag{A.0.1}$$

Proposition A.0.7. Let $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mu)$ be a probability space, X be a Polish space and $D: \Omega \rightarrow 2^X$ a set valued mapping, then the following hold:

- (i) D is a random set if and only if the set $\{\omega : D(\omega) \cap U \neq \emptyset\}$ is measurable for any open set $U \subset X$,
- (ii) D is a random set if and only if $\omega \mapsto \overline{D(\omega)}$ is a closed random set (by (A.0.1)),
- (iii) *D* is a compact random set if and only if $D(\omega)$ is compact for every $\omega \in \Omega$ and the set $\{\omega : D(\omega) \cap C \neq \emptyset\}$ is measurable for any closed set $C \subset X$,
- (iv) if $\{D_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a sequence of closed random sets with nonvoid intersection and there exists an $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that D_{n_0} is a compact random set, then $\bigcap_{n\in\mathbb{N}}D_n$ is a compact random set,
- (v) if $\{D_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a sequence of random sets, then $D = \bigcup_{n\in\mathbb{N}} D_n$ is also a random set,
- (vi) if $f: \Omega \times X \to X$ is a mapping such that $f(\omega, \cdot)$ is continuous for all ω and $f(\cdot, x)$ is measurable for all x, then $\omega \mapsto f(\omega, D(\omega))$ is a random set if D is a random set (and is a compact random set if D is a compact random set),
- (vii) D is a random set if and only if for every $\delta > 0$, graph $(B_{\delta}(D)) \in \mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{B}$
- (viii) if D is a closed random set, then $graph(D) \in \mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{B}$ (and hence if D is an open random set, $graph(D) = graph(D^c)^c \in \mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{B}$),
 - (ix) if \mathcal{F} is universally complete and D is a closed or an open set valued map such that $\operatorname{graph}(D) \in \mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{B}$, then D is a closed or an open, respectively, random set,

- (x) if D is a closed random set, then $\omega \mapsto \overline{D^c(\omega)}$ is also a closed random set,
- (xi) if D is an open random set, then \overline{D} is a closed random set (and it follows by (A.0.1) that $\omega \mapsto \operatorname{dist}(x, D(\omega))$ is \mathcal{F} -measurable for each $x \in X$),
- (xii) If D is a closed random set then $\omega \mapsto int(D(\omega))$ is an open random set.

The following two results allow one to replace \mathcal{F}^u -measurable objects with almost equal \mathcal{F} -measurable versions.

Lemma A.0.8 ([Cra02b, Lemma 2.7]). Suppose that $C: \Omega \to 2^X$ is a set valued map taking values in the closed subsets of a Polish space X, such that graph $(C) \in \overline{\mathcal{F}}^{\mu} \otimes \mathcal{B}$. Then there exists a closed random set $\tilde{C}: \Omega \to 2^X$ (which is \mathcal{F} -measurable) and $\tilde{C}(\omega) = C(\omega)$ μ -almost surely.

As a particular application of the above lemma, if $C \subset \mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{B}$ is a product measurable set with closed ω -sections, then since $\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{B} \subset \overline{\mathcal{F}}^{\mu} \otimes \mathcal{B}$, there exists an \mathcal{F} -measurable random set \tilde{C} which is almost surely equal to C.

Lemma A.0.9 ([Cra02b, Lemma 1.2]). Let $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mu)$ be a probability space, Y a separable metric space. Then for any $\overline{\mathcal{F}}^{\mu}$ -measurable map $f: \Omega \to Y$ there exists an \mathcal{F} -measurable map $\tilde{f}: \Omega \to Y$ with $\tilde{f}(\omega) = f(\omega)$ μ -almost surely.

The following lemma demonstrates that the distance between two random sets is a measurable function.

Lemma A.0.10. Let D_1 and D_2 be random sets, then $\omega \mapsto \operatorname{dist}(D_1(\omega), D_2(\omega))$ is measurable.

Proof. By Proposition A.0.7 (ii), $\overline{D_{1,2}}$ are closed random sets and we define $E_{1,2} := \{\omega: D_{1,2}(\omega) = \emptyset\}$. Then let $g: \Omega \times Y \to X$ be a representation of $\overline{D_1}$ and $h: \Omega \times Z \to X$ be a representation of $\overline{D_2}$ as described in Theorem A.0.4, and let $\{y_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ and $\{z_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ be

dense subsets in Y and Z, respectively. Then using (A.0.1),

$$\operatorname{dist}(D_1(\omega), D_2(\omega)) = \operatorname{dist}(\overline{D_1(\omega)}, \overline{D_2(\omega)})$$
$$= \begin{cases} \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \inf_{m \in \mathbb{N}} d(g(\omega, y_n), h(\omega, z_m)), & \omega \in \Omega \setminus (E_1 \cup E_2), \\\\ 0, & \omega \in E_1, \\\\ \infty, & \omega \in E_2 \setminus E_1, \end{cases}$$

and measurability follows since $d(g(\omega, y_n), h(\omega, z_m))$ is measurable for each n and m. \Box

References

- [AB92] L. Arnold and P. Boxler. Stochastic bifurcation: instructive examples in dimension one. In M. A. Pinsky and V. Wihstutz, editors, *Diffusion Processes* and Related Problems in Analysis, Volume II, number 27 in Progress in Probability, pages 241–255. Birkhäuser, Boston, 1992.
- [ABSH99] L. Arnold, G. Bleckert, and K. R. Schenk-Hoppé. The stochastic Brusselator: parametric noise destroys Hopf bifurcation. In H. Crauel and M. Gundlach, editors, *Stochastic Dynamics*, pages 71–92. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York, 1999.
- [ACMC⁺06] J. Ayala, P. Corbin, K. Mc Conville, F. Colonius, W. Kliemann, and J. Peters. Morse decomposition, attractors and chain recurrence. *Proyecciones Journal* of Mathematics, 25(1):79–110, 2006.
- [AO03] P. Ashwin and G. Ochs. Convergence to local random attractors. *Dynamical Systems*, 18(2):139–158, 2003.
- [Arn98] L. Arnold. *Random Dynamical Systems*. Springer Monographs in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York, 1998.
- [AS01a] L. Arnold and B. Schmalfuss. Lyapunov's second method for random dynamical systems. *Journal of Differential Equations*, 177(1):235–265, 2001.
- [AS01b] B. Aulbach and S. Siegmund. The dichotomy spectrum for noninvertible systems of linear difference equations. *Journal of Difference Equations and Applications*, 7(6):895–913, 2001.

- [ASNSH96] L. Arnold, N. Sri Namachchivaya, and K. R. Schenk-Hoppé. Toward an understanding of stochastic Hopf bifurcation: A case study. *International Journal of Bifurcation and Chaos*, 06(11):1947–1975, 1996.
- [BAG93] A. Ben-Artzi and I. Gohberg. Dichotomies of perturbed time-varying systems and the power method. *Indiana University Mathematics Journal*, 42(3):699–720, 1993.
- [Bax94] P. H. Baxendale. A stochastic Hopf bifurcation. *Probability Theory and Related Fields*, 99(4):581–616, 1994.
- [CDF97] H. Crauel, A. Debussche, and F. Flandoli. Random attractors. Journal of Dynamics and Differential Equations, 9(2):307–341, 1997.
- [CDLR13] M. Callaway, T. S. Doan, J. S. W. Lamb, and M. Rasmussen. The dichotomy spectrum for random dynamical systems and pitchfork bifurcations with additive noise. arXiv:1310.6166 [math], 2013.
- [CDS04] H. Crauel, L. H. Duc, and S. Siegmund. Towards a Morse theory for random dynamical systems. *Stochastics and Dynamics*, 4(3):277–296, 2004.
- [CF94] H. Crauel and F. Flandoli. Attractors for random dynamical systems. *Probability Theory and Related Fields*, 100(3):365–393, 1994.
- [CF98] H. Crauel and F. Flandoli. Additive noise destroys a pitchfork bifurcation. Journal of Dynamics and Differential Equations, 10(2):259–274, 1998.
- [Chu02] I. Chueshov. Monotone Random Systems Theory and Applications, volume 1779 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York, 2002.
- [CIS99] H. Crauel, P. Imkeller, and M. Steinkamp. Bifurcations of one-dimensional stochastic differential equations. In H. Crauel and M. Gundlach, editors, *Stochastic Dynamics*, pages 27–47. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York, 1999.

[CK96]	F. Colonius and W. Kliemann. The Morse spectrum of linear flows on vector bundles. <i>Transactions of the American Mathematical Society</i> , 348(11):4355–4388, 1996.
[CK00]	F. Colonius and W. Kliemann. <i>The Dynamics of Control</i> . Systems & Control. Birkhäuser, Boston, 2000.
[CKR08]	F. Colonius, P. E. Kloeden, and M. Rasmussen. Morse spectrum for nonau- tonomous differential equations. <i>Stochastics and Dynamics</i> , 8(3):351–363, 2008.
[Con78]	C. C. Conley. <i>Isolated Invariant Sets and the Morse Index</i> , volume 38 of <i>CBMS Regional Conference Series in Mathematics</i> . American Mathematical Society, Providence, 1978.
[Con97]	N. D. Cong. <i>Topological Dynamics of Random Dynamical Systems</i> . Oxford Mathematical Monographs. Clarendon Press, Oxford University Press, Oxford, New York, 1997.
[Cop78]	W. A. Coppel. <i>Dichotomies in Stability Theory</i> , volume 629 of <i>Lecture Notes in Mathematics</i> . Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York, 1978.
[Cra99]	H. Crauel. Global random attractors are uniquely determined by attract- ing deterministic compact sets. <i>Annali di Matematica pura ed applicata</i> , 176(4):57–72, 1999.
[Cra02a]	H. Crauel. A uniformly exponential random forward attractor which is not a pullback attractor. <i>Archiv der Mathematik</i> , 78(4):329–336, 2002.
[Cra02b]	H. Crauel. <i>Random Probability Measures on Polish Spaces</i> , volume 11 of <i>Stochastics Monographs</i> . Taylor & Francis, London, New York, 2002.
[CV77]	C. Castaing and M. Valadier. <i>Convex Analysis and Measurable Multifunc-</i> <i>tions</i> , volume 580 of <i>Lecture Notes in Mathematics</i> . Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York, 1977.

REFERENCES

[Fra88] J. Franks. A variation on the Poincaré-Birkhoff theorem. In K. R. Meyer and D. G. Saari, editors, Hamiltonian dynamical systems, volume 81 of Contemp. *Math.*, pages 111–117. American Mathematical Society, Providence, 1988. [FS96] F. Flandoli and B. Schmalfuss. Random attractors for the 3-D stochastic Navier-Stokes equation with multiplicative white noise. Stochastics and Stochastic Reports, 59(1-2):21-45, 1996. [Grü00] L. Grüne. A uniform exponential spectrum for linear flows on vector bundles. Journal of Dynamics and Differential Equations, 12(2):435–448, 2000. P. Halmos. Lectures on Ergodic Theory. Chelsea Publishing Co., New York, [Hal56] 1956. [HL84] W. Horsthemke and R. Lefever. Noise-Induced Transitions - Theory and Applications in Physics, Chemistry, and Biology, volume 15 of Springer Series in Synergetics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York, 1984. [Hur91] M. Hurley. Chain recurrence and attraction in non-compact spaces. *Ergodic Theory and Dynamical Systems*, 11(4):709–729, 1991. [Hur92] M. Hurley. Noncompact chain recurrence and attraction. *Proceedings of the* American Mathematical Society, 115(4):1139–1148, 1992. [Hur95] M. Hurley. Chain recurrence, semiflows, and gradients. Journal of Dynamics and Differential Equations, 7(3):437–456, 1995. [Hur98] M. Hurley. Lyapunov functions and attractors in arbitrary metric spaces. Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society, 126(1):245–256, 1998. [HY00] G. Haller and G. Yuan. Lagrangian coherent structures and mixing in twodimensional turbulence. Physica D: Nonlinear Phenomena, 147(3-4):352-370, 2000. [IL02] P. Imkeller and C. Lederer. The cohomology of stochastic and random differential equations, and local linearization of stochastic flows. Stochastics and Dynamics, 2(2):131-159, 2002.

[Iof79]	A. D. Ioffe. Single-valued representation of set-valued mappings. <i>Transac-</i> <i>tions of the American Mathematical Society</i> , 252:133–145, 1979.
[IS01]	P. Imkeller and B. Schmalfuss. The conjugacy of stochastic and random differential equations and the existence of global attractors. <i>Journal of Dynamics and Differential Equations</i> , 13(2):215–249, 2001.
[IW81]	N. Ikeda and S. Watanabe. <i>Stochastic Differential Equations and Diffusion Processes</i> . Kodansha, North-Holland, Tokyo, 1981.
[JPS87]	R. Johnson, K. Palmer, and G. Sell. Ergodic properties of linear dynamical systems. <i>SIAM Journal on Mathematical Analysis</i> , 18(1):1–33, 1987.
[KO99]	H. Keller and G. Ochs. Numerical approximation of random attractors. InH. Crauel and M. Gundlach, editors, <i>Stochastic Dynamics</i>, pages 93–115.Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York, 1999.
[KR11]	P. E. Kloeden and M. Rasmussen. <i>Nonautonomous Dynamical Systems</i> , volume 176 of <i>Mathematical Surveys and Monographs</i> . American Mathematical Society, Providence, 2011.
[Liu06]	Z. Liu. The random case of Conley's theorem. <i>Nonlinearity</i> , 19(2):277–291, 2006.
[Liu07a]	Z. Liu. The random case of Conley's theorem: II. The complete Lyapunov function. <i>Nonlinearity</i> , 20(4):1017–1030, 2007.
[Liu07b]	Z. Liu. The random case of Conley's theorem: III. Random semiflow case and Morse decomposition. <i>Nonlinearity</i> , 20(12):2773–2791, 2007.
[Liu08]	Z. Liu. Conley index for random dynamical systems. <i>Journal of Differential Equations</i> , 244(7):1603–1628, 2008.
[LJS08]	Z. Liu, S. Ji, and M. Su. Attractor-repeller pair, Morse decomposition and Lyapunov function for random dynamical systems. <i>Stochastics and Dynamics</i> , 8(4):625–641, 2008.

REFERENCES

[LL05]	W. Li and K. Lu. Sternberg theorems for random dynamical systems. <i>Com-</i> <i>munications on Pure and Applied Mathematics</i> , 58(7):941–988, 2005.
[LSZ08]	Z. Liu, M. Su, and W. Zhu. A note on some properties of local random attractors. <i>Northeastern Mathematical Journal</i> , 24(2):163–172, 2008.
[Mil85]	J. Milnor. On the concept of attractor. <i>Communications in Mathematical Physics</i> , 99(2):177–195, 1985.
[Mis99]	K. Mischaikow. The Conley index theory: A brief introduction. <i>Banach Center Publications</i> , 47(1):9–19, 1999.
[Nor95]	D. E. Norton. The fundamental theorem of dynamical systems. <i>Commenta-</i> <i>tiones Mathematicae Universitatis Carolinae</i> , 36(3):585–598, 1995.
[Och99]	G. Ochs. Weak random attractors. <i>Report No. 449, Institut fur Dynamische Systeme, Universitat Bremen.</i> , 1999.
[Ose68]	V. I. Oseledets. A multiplicative ergodic theorem. Lyapunov characteristic numbers for dynamical systems. <i>Transactions of the Moscow Mathematical Society</i> , 19:197–231, 1968.
[Pal79]	K. J. Palmer. A characterization of exponential dichotomy in terms of topological equivalence. <i>Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications</i> , 69(1):8–16, 1979.
[Pol10]	M. Pollicott. Maximal Lyapunov exponents for random matrix products. <i>Inventiones mathematicae</i> , 181(1):209–226, 2010.
[Ras06]	M. Rasmussen. <i>Attractivity and bifurcation for nonautonomous dynamical systems</i> . PhD thesis, University of Augsburg, 2006.
[Ras07]	M. Rasmussen. Morse decompositions of nonautonomous dynamical systems. <i>Transactions of the American Mathematical Society</i> , 359(10):5091–5115, 2007.

[Ras08]	M. Rasmussen. All-time Morse decompositions of linear nonautonomous dynamical systems. <i>Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society</i> , 136(3):1045–1055, 2008.
[Ras09]	M. Rasmussen. Dichotomy spectra and Morse decompositions of linear nonautonomous differential equations. <i>Journal of Differential Equations</i> , 246(6):2242–2263, 2009.
[Ras10]	M. Rasmussen. An alternative approach to Sacker-Sell spectral theory. <i>Journal of Difference Equations and Applications</i> , 16(2-3):227–242, 2010.
[Ryb87]	K. P. Rybakowski. <i>The Homotopy Index and Partial Differential Equations</i> . Universitext. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York, 1987.
[Sch92]	B. Schmalfuss. Backward cocycles and attractors of stochastic differential equations. In <i>International Seminar on Applied Mathematics-Nonlinear Dynamics: Attractor Approximation and Global Behaviour</i> , pages 185–192, 1992.
[Sch02]	M. Scheutzow. Comparison of various concepts of a random attractor: A case study. <i>Archiv der Mathematik</i> , 78(3):233–240, 2002.
[Sel75]	J. F. Selgrade. Isolated invariant sets for flows on vector bundles. <i>Transac-</i> <i>tions of the American Mathematical Society</i> , 203:359–390, 1975.
[SH96]	K. R. Schenk-Hoppé. Stochastic Hopf bifurcation: An example. <i>Interna-</i> <i>tional Journal of Non-Linear Mechanics</i> , 31(5):685–692, 1996.
[Sie02]	S. Siegmund. Dichotomy spectrum for nonautonomous differential equa- tions. <i>Journal of Dynamics and Differential Equations</i> , 14(1):243–258, 2002.
[SN90]	N. Sri Namachchivaya. Stochastic bifurcation. <i>Applied Mathematics and Computation</i> , 38(2):101–159, 1990.

REFERENCES

[SS78]	R. J. Sacker and G. R. Sell. A spectral theory for linear differential systems. <i>Journal of Differential Equations</i> , 27(3):320–358, 1978.
[Ton52]	H. Tong. Some characterizations of normal and perfectly normal spaces. <i>Duke Mathematical Journal</i> , 19(2):289–292, 1952.
[Via14]	M. Viana. <i>Lectures on Lyapunov Exponents</i> . Number 145 in Cambridge studies in advanced mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, New York, 2014.
[Wan14]	B. Wang. Stochastic bifurcation of pathwise random almost peri- odic and almost automorphic solutions for random dynamical systems. <i>arXiv:1405.6332 [math]</i> , 2014.
[WC14]	G. Wang and Y. Cao. Dynamical spectrum in random dynamical systems. <i>Journal of Dynamics and Differential Equations</i> , 26(1):1–20, 2014.